
 

 
 

 

CABINET 
 

4.00 pm WEDNESDAY, 22ND MAY, 2019 
 

COUNCIL CHAMBER 
 
 This Agenda has been prepared by the  

Democratic Services Department. Any member of the public requiring information should 
contact the department on (01685 725284) or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk. 

 
Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be found 

on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers. 

 

AGENDA 
 

1. Apologies for absence   

2. Declarations of Interest   

 Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct 
 
Note: 
 

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and 

 
(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 

as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave 

 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


 

OPEN SESSION 

3. Draft Scrutiny Report – Pitch Fees And the 
Decreasing Rates Of Participation In Team Sports 
In Merthyr Tydfil  

 

 To consider the attached report 
 

5 - 18 

Strategic 

4. Award of funding in relation to Targeted 
Regeneration Investment Programme for South 
East Wales (Cardiff City Region) Urban Centre 
Property Enhancement Fund and Urban Centre 
Living Grant  

 

 To consider report of the Chief Officer Community 
Regeneration 
 

19 - 24 

5. Formal Approval Of A New Atlantic Area 
Transnational Project Entitled Trail Gazers  

 

 To consider report of the Chief Officer Community 
Regeneration 
 

25 - 30 

Portfolio 

6. Payment of Care Home Fees 2019-2020   

 To consider report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services 
 

31 - 38 

7. Play Sufficiency Assessment 2019   

 To consider report of the Chief Officer Education 
 

39 - 156 

8. 21st Century Schools - Community Learning 
Centres  

 

 To consider report of the Chief Officer Education 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

157 - 162 



CLOSED SESSION 

Exempt 

In order for the following to be considered in private, it is suggested that the 
public be excluded from the meeting on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph/s (14 & 16) under 
Part 4 of Schedule 12A Section 100 (A) (4) of the Local Government Act 
1972. 
 
 

9. Proposed Sale of Land at Goatmill Road   

 To consider report of the Chief Officer 
Neighbourhood Services 
 

163 - 170 

RE-OPENED SESSION 

10. Any Other Business Deemed Urgent by the Chair   

 

  
COMPOSITION: Councillors     K O'Neill (Chair) 

                       L Mytton (Vice-Chair)  
  
 Councillors     A Barry, C Davies, D Hughes and 

G Thomas 
 

 together with appropriate officers 
  
 

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284 

 
 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
CABINET REPORT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

 

Draft Scrutiny Report – Pitch Fees And The 
Decreasing Rates Of Participation In Team Sports 
In Merthyr Tydfil 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The Neighbourhood Services, Planning and Countryside Task & Finish Group was 

established on 03/12/2018 following a referral from Cllr Geraint Thomas and 
concerns raised by members of the Public in regards to high pitch fees and the effect 
they were having on local Football Teams. 

 
1.2 The broad purpose of the group is to review the issues surrounding pitch fees 

charged to sports clubs at a local level and to establish its impact across Merthyr 
Tydfil County Borough. Also, to obtain and review the Council‟s response to the 
dramatic fall in the number of adults taking part in Football as a team sport. 

 
1.3 Whilst this report was for all outdoor team sports, we concentrated on football teams 

as there was more evidence readily available. Meetings have taken place with 
members of the Merthyr Tydfil Football League to discuss the issues raised by them 
where they raised their concerns that the Adult Football League may cease to exist 
in Merthyr Tydfil.   

 
1.4 Following these meetings, questions have been submitted to the Chief Officer 

responsible for sports pitches and the responses are shown at 6.2. 
 

Date Written 30th April 2019 

Report Author Neighbourhood Services, 
Planning & Countryside 
Committee 

Service Area Scrutiny 

Committee Division Task and Finish Group 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 22nd May 2019 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



1.5 Enquiries have been made to the Estates Department with regards to land available 
for “Super Sites” and the response can be seen at 6.3. 

 
1.6 Enquiries have also been made to the Regeneration Team with regards to available 

funding to subsidise sports teams; responses can be viewed in 6.4. 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that  

1.2 Cabinet and officers explore options of employing an Outside Contractor to perform 
the maintenance of the Playing Fields which may help to realise savings, which 
could in turn be passed onto the sports teams. 

 
2.2 As Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC) collaborates with other Local 

Authorities on a wide range of matters, Cabinet and officers could explore the option 
of having a Service Level Agreement (SLA) with one or more of our nearest 
neighbouring Local Authorities to undertake the maintenance of the playing fields. 
This may help to realise savings, which could in turn be passed onto the sports 
teams. 

 
2.3 Cabinet to explore the validity of creating a number of “Super Sites” such as those at 

“Hackney Marshes in London” or “Pontcanna in Cardiff” style sports fields centres 
where several pitches could be located close together with better facilities for sports 
such as rugby, football, cricket and athletics. To fund this, some of the 11 currently 
mothballed sites could be sold if they are deemed to be surplus to community 
requirements. 

 
2.4 Cabinet to investigate funding options from various sources to subsidise costs 

incurred by sports teams.   
 
2.5  Cabinet along with the Estates Department to investigate if Lease Agreement(s) can 

be drawn up with the Merthyr Tydfil Football League or individual clubs to undertake 
the maintenance of pitches. In addition to this, explore the possibility of funding being 
used to purchase equipment to enable the Lease Holders to effectively maintain the 
pitches.   

 
2.6 Cabinet to explore the option with the Merthyr Tydfil Football League of the 

possibility of teams sharing facilities more to reduce costs. There are a number of 
current sites where there are two or more sports pitches which, if teams were willing 
to share the facilities, could lower the costs for the Merthyr Tydfil Football League. 

 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

3.1 The Neighbourhood Services, Planning and Countryside Task & Finish Group was 
established on 03/12/2018 following a referral from Cllr Geraint Thomas and 
concerns raised by members of the Public in regards to high pitch fees and the effect 
they were having on local Football Teams. 

3.2 Concerns have been raised by Merthyr Tydfil Football League board members that 
the Adult Football League may cease to exist in Merthyr Tydfil if things continue as 
they are. 

 Page 6



3.3 The broad purpose of the group is to review the issue of pitch fees charged to sports 
clubs at a local level; to establish its impact across Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
and to review the Council‟s current response to the dramatic fall in the number of 
adults taking part in Football as a team sport. 

 
3.4 Whilst this report was for all outdoor team sports, we concentrated on football teams 

as there was more evidence readily available.  
 

4.0 NUMBER OF TEAMS REGISTERED SINCE 2008 

 
4.1 In 2007/08 there were 24 football teams registered in MTCBC to play in the adult 

leagues. However, there has been a significant decrease in the number of adult 
football teams registered, and there are currently only 9 football teams registered in 
MTCBC (2018/19); this equates to a 62.5% decrease of adult football teams in 
Merthyr Tydfil from 2007/08 to 2018/19. (See Table 1 for information.) 

 
4.2 In 2007/08 there were 20 underage teams registered to play in Merthyr Tydfil. 

Despite a dramatic drop in the 2010/11 Season, numbers have stabilised since and 
they have not declined as dramatically as the adult teams (as shown in Table 2). In 
recent years, the underage teams have joined with leagues outside of the Borough. 

 
4.3 Residents and members of the Merthyr Tydfil Football League have expressed their 

concerns at the prices charged for the use of sports pitches within the County 
Borough and have said that the Adult Football League in particular, is close to 
collapse. 

 
4.4 Whilst the number of teams taking part in underage football has remained consistent 

in numbers, it must be noted that the 17 underage teams through 4 leagues are all 
sponsored by just 4 local clubs; therefore, cannot be guaranteed long term.   

 
 
Table 1.  Number of Adult teams playing in the Merthyr Tydfil Football League. 

Number of Adult teams playing in the Merthyr Tydfil Football League 

2007/08 Season 24 

2008/09 Season 19 

2009/10 Season 23 

2010/11 Season 24 

2011/12 Season 25 

2012/13 Season 22 

2013/14 Season 22 

2014/15 Season 21 

2015/16 Season 19 

2016/17 Season 14 

2017/18 Season 12 

2018/19 Season 9 

 

Page 7



 

 

Table 2.  Underage teams playing from Merthyr Tydfil (2007-2019) 

Underage teams playing from Merthyr Tydfil (2007-2019) 

2007/08 Season 20 

2008/09 Season 19 

2009/10 Season 16 

2010/11 Season 11 

2011/12 Season 17 

2012/13 Season 16 

2013/14 Season 16 

2014/15 Season 16 

2015/16 Season 14 

2016/17 Season 14 

2017/18 Season 15 

2018/19 Season 17 

 

5.0 WHERE WE WERE  

 

5.1 Sports Pitches/Facilities In The County Borough 

 
Prior to 2015, the Council maintained all 34 sports field regardless for of whether 
they were used by formal organised sports games or not.  All 34 fields were being 
maintained and these facilities were used by around 60 teams. 
 

5.2 During the 2014-15 playing season, the Council provided 34 active playing fields (as 
broken down in Table 3 below). 

 

Table 3.  2014/15 Season 

2014/15 Season 

Football 20 

Rugby 5 

Leased Fields 9 

Fields Mothballed (Football) 5 

 

5.3 In 2014/15 the fees and charges were based on an annual charge of £430 for senior 
teams and £203 for junior teams. This system was difficult to for the Parks 
department to administer and did not take into account the maintenance costs for the 
playing fields. Income received was in the region of £12,000 per annum, but costs to 
maintain the 34 active fields was approximately £68,000. 

 
5.4 Fees and charges were benchmarked against our neighbouring authorities during 

this time and Merthyr Tydfil‟s charges were seen to be the cheapest at the time.   
 Page 8



5.5 Table 4 below, shows how the fees and charges ranked across ten local authorities 
in 2014/15.  The costs were based on 15 games per season (senior teams) as most 
council‟s charged per game and not per season, as was the case in Merthyr Tydfil.  

 
Table 4.  Fees and charges in 2014/15 (based on 15 games and senior costs per team) 

 

5.6 Changes Made To The Method Of Charging For 2015-16  

 

 In 2015, Cabinet approved a recommendation that only sports fields used for formal 
sports would be maintained to sports field standards and the others would be 
„mothballed‟, this formed part of the 2015/16 efficiency programme. 
 

5.7 In order to generate an income that better reflected the actual costs of providing the 
service, it was proposed that a flat maintenance fee of £2,000 was charged for each 
pitch. The aim was to encourage teams to share facilities in order to split the costs 
resulting in fewer fields being required. Therefore, the council could concentrate its 
resources on fewer fields to improve maintenance and pitch quality. The benefits of 
this system were:   
 a simplified charging regime which meant easier collection of fees; 
 additional income generated that could be used to improve pitch quality; and 

 the reduction of illegal use as the clubs would „police‟ the use of the field they 
regularly play on.   

 
It was hoped that it would also encourage youth development within clubs due to the 
need to spread the costs over more users. The 2015-16 season pitch provision is 
broken down in Table 5 below: 

 

Table 5.  2015-16 Season Pitch Provision 

2015/16 Season Pitch Provision 

Football 14 

Rugby 5 

Leased Fields 9 

Fields Mothballed 11 

 

Fees and charges in 2014/15 (based on 15 games and senior costs per team) 

Blaenau Gwent £907.50 

Swansea £825.00 

Cardiff £825.00 

Rhonda Cynon Taf £771.20 

Bridgend £757.50 

Neath Port Talbot £747.00 

Vale of Glamorgan £735.00 

Caerphilly £663.00 

Carmarthenshire £585.00 

Merthyr Tydfil £430.50 

Page 9



5.8 ‘Mothballed Fields’ 
 

Fields which were no longer required for sports use were mothballed.  This meant 
that minimal maintenance operations would be carried out to prevent pitches from 
deteriorating to such a state that it would be difficult to bring them back into use if so 
required in the future.  They could be kept for community use and informal play with 
the grass being cut a few times per season and the pitch left unmarked.  Goal posts 
would remain on site whilst they were safe but would be removed when they reached 
the end of their life. 

 
5.9 Community Use Subsidy 
 

Representations made by the Merthyr Football League at the time pointed out that 
most of the sports pitches are open to the public and could be used for informal 
sports and general amenity use. Therefore, it was their opinion that it would be unfair 
for the Merthyr Football League to fund the entire cost of maintenance and that the 
community use element should be factored into the costs. It was agreed to subsidise 
the Merthyr Football League‟s shortfall of £3,700 (13.2%), which resulted in a charge 
of £1734 per pitch per season. It was anticipated that teams would share some 
facilities to split the cost of hiring the field. Table 6 below, is an example of how two 
senior teams and two junior teams could split the cost of the pitch fees.   

 

Table 6.  Example where two senior teams and two junior teams split the cost of the pitch 

fees 

 

5.10 These costs were still well below the average costs of our neighbouring authorities, 
providing they shared the facilities. 

 
5.11 Tables 7, 8 and 9 below indicates the position for playing field provision in the 

2017/18 season. Please note the information is correct at the time of writing the 
report however minor changes may occur due to late booking forms etc. 

 

Table 7.  2017/18 Playing Field Provision – Football Teams 

Community Use In Use? Field Name 

Yes Yes Trelewis Welfare 

Yes Yes Taf Bargoed 

Yes Yes Gellideg 

Yes Yes Pentrebach 1 

Yes Yes Abercanaid 

Yes Yes Oval North A 

Yes Yes Mountain Hare 

Yes Yes Legion 

Yes Yes Moodies 

Team Type Number Cost per Team Total 

Senior Teams 2 £578.00 £1156.00 

Junior Teams 2 £289.00 £578.00 

   £1734.00 

Page 10



Yes No Oval South B 

Yes No Blaen Dowlais 

Yes No Greenie Top 

 No Greenie Bottom 

 No Caeracca 

Yes No Teddingtons 

Yes No Coed Y Hendre 

Yes No Treharris Park 

Yes No Black Lion 

Yes No Grove South 

Yes No Pentrebach 2 

Yes No PCH 

Yes No Cyfarthfa 

Yes No Gellifaelog 

Yes No Grove North 

Yes No Waun 

 25 TOTAL (Football) 

 9 In Use 

 16 Not in Use 

 

Table 8.  2017/18 Playing Field Provision – Rugby Teams 

Community Use In Use? Field Name 

Yes No Mountain Hare 

Yes Yes Treharris Park 

Yes Yes Coed Y Hendre 

Yes No Grove North 

Yes Yes Grove South 

 5 TOTAL (Rugby) 

 3 In Use 

 2 Not in Use 

 

Table 9.   2017/18 Playing Field Provision – Leased  

Community Use In Use? Field Name 

Yes Yes Black Patch 

No Yes Blaen Dowlais 1 

No Yes Blaen Dowlais 2 

No Yes Taff Bargoed Park upper 1 

No Yes Taff Bargoed Park lower 2 

No Yes ICI 1 

No Yes ICI 2 

Page 11



Yes Yes Oaklands Bedlinog 

No NO Treharris Welfare 

 8 TOTAL (Leased) 

 8 In Use 

 1 Not in Use 

5.12  Out of 38 Playing Fields in Merthyr Tydfil, 19 were not being used by sports teams in 

2017/18. 

 

6.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  

 
6.1  At the Neighbourhood Services, Planning and Countryside Scrutiny Committee 

meeting on 15th April 2019, extra information was asked for by members in regards 
to the makeup of other Football Leagues nearest to Merthyr Tydfil.   Information has 
been provided below for the Rhondda District Football League, the Taff Ely & 
Rhymney Valley Football League, the Gwent County Football League, the Cardiff 
and District Football League and some information for the Newport and District 
Football League. 

 
6.2 Rhondda District Football League 
 

Online records for this League go back to the 2007/08 Season and a list of the 
number of Adult teams registered is below. 

 

Season Number of teams 

2007/08 23 

2008/09 18 

2009/10 13 

2010/11 13 

2011/12 11 

2012/13 13 

2013/14 14 

2014/15 17 

2015/16 20 

2016/17 18 

2017/18 17 

2018/19 19 

 
6.3 Taff Ely & Rhymney Valley Football League 

 

The league was formed in 2001 when the old Taff Ely Leagues and Rhymney Valley 
Leagues were amalgamated.  Online records for the league begin in the 2012/13 
season. 

 

Season Number of teams 

2012/13 23 

2013/14 21 

2014/15 20 

Page 12



2015/16 19 

2016/17 22 

2017/18 22 

2018/19 18 

 
6.4 Gwent County FA League 
 

The Gwent County League is a football league in South Wales, consisting of 3 
divisions, named Divisions One, Two and Three. The league was formed in 1980 
from a merger of the Monmouthshire Senior League and the Gwent Premier League. 

 

Season Number of teams 

2014/15 48 

2015/16 47 

2016/17 45 

2017/18 42 

2018/19 37 

 
6.5 Newport & District Football League 
 

The League's area consists of the city of Newport and the surrounding part of the 
historic county of Monmouthshire as far west as the county boundary at Bedwas, as 
far north-west as Abercarn and Wattsville, as far north-east as Sebastopol Bridge, 
and as far east as Llanwern, and Nash. The league is composed of five divisions 
plus a Sunday division. The top-level consists of a premier division split into "Premier 
X" and "Premier Y" (for reserve teams), and three feeder divisions numbered 1, 2 
and 3. There are currently 48 teams registered to play. 

 
6.6 Cardiff and District AFL 
 

Season Number of teams 

2011/12 46 

2012/13 45 

2013/14 40 

2015/16 36 

2016/17 40 

2017/18 37 

2018/19 40 

 
 

6.7 Sports pitches/facilities in Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
 

The current charges for sports pitches / facilities in the County Borough remain at 
£1734 per pitch for fields which also have access for community use. Whereas, 
charges for pitches / fields that are closed to the public is £2000. 

 
6.8 The following services are provided as a part of the pitch fees, as confrimed by the 

Chief Officer: 

 The grass is cut every week during the Summer, approximately 26 times;  

 The Pitches are marked at least once before every game (between 9 and 15 
times per season); 

Page 13

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Football_(soccer)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/South_Wales
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Monmouthshire_(historic)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bedwas
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Abercarn
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Wattsville
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Sebastopol,_Torfaen
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Llanwern
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Nash,_Newport
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Sunday_league_football
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Reserve_team


 The goalposts are inspected annually and replaced as and when necessary; 

 End of season renovation – The end of season maintenance will pick up whether 
goal mouth renovation is needed such as rotovation of the ground, and re-
seeding. 

 Cleaning of the changing rooms is not included, this is the responsibility of the 
teams. 

 
6.9 Enquiries were made to the Estates Department at MTCBC as to whether there is 

enough space to create “Super Sites”, which could accommodate multiple playing 
fields for sports such as Football, Cricket, Rugby and Athletics like Hackney Marshes 
in London or Pontcanna in Cardiff.  There are a number of current sites where there 
are two or more sports pitches which, if teams were willing to share the facilities, 
could lower the costs for the Merthy Tydfil Football League 

 
6.10 Enquiries were made by the Task and Finish Group to officers within the 

Regeneration Team with regards to funding towards subsidising team sports. These 
enquiries have identified that there may be funding available through the Ffos Y Fran 
scheme, but it remains to be seen if this would be effective in the long term. 

 

7.0 CONCLUSION OF FINDINGS 
 
7.1 Cabinet and officers explore options of employing an Outside Contractor to perform 

the maintenance of the Playing Fields which may help to realise savings, which 
could in turn be passed onto the sports teams. 

 
7.2 As Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC) collaborates with other Local 

Authorities on a wide range of matters, Cabinet and officers could explore the option 
of having a Service Level Agreement (SLA) with one or more of our nearest 
neighbouring Local Authorities to undertake the maintenance of the playing fields. 
This may help to realise savings, which could in turn be passed onto the sports 
teams. 

 
7.3 Cabinet to explore the validity of creating a number of “Super Sites” such as those at 

“Hackney Marshes in London” or “Pontcanna in Cardiff” style sports fields centres 
where several pitches could be located close together with better facilities for sports 
such as rugby, football, cricket and athletics. To fund this, some of the 11 currently 
mothballed sites could be sold if they are deemed to be surplus to community 
requirements. 

 
7.4 Cabinet to investigate funding options from various sources to subsidise costs 

incurred by sports teams.   
 
7.5  Cabinet along with the Estates Department to investigate if Lease Agreement(s) can 

be drawn up with the Merthyr Tydfil Football League or individual clubs to undertake 
the maintenance of pitches. In addition to this, explore the possibility of funding being 
used to purchase equipment to enable the Lease Holders to effectively maintain the 
pitches.   

 
7.6 Cabinet to explore the option with the Merthyr Tydfil Football League of the 

possibility of teams sharing facilities more to reduce costs. There are a number of 
current sites where there are two or more sports pitches which, if teams were willing 
to share the facilities, could lower the costs for the Merthyr Tydfil Football League. 

Page 14



 

8.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
8.1  It is the intention of the Neighbourhood Services, Planning and Countryside Task & 

Finish Group that this report be considered by Cabinet so that they can deliberate 
whether any of the recommendation are viable for the Local Authority. 

 

9.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 

9.1  By working towards increasing the number of sports teams within the County 
Borough and improving and maintaining open spaces in the environment can directly 
contribute to the following wellbeing objectives: 

 

 Best Start to Life - Children and young people get the best start to life and are 
equipped with the skills they need to be successful learners and confident 
individuals.  

Component:  
 Children and young people have good health and wellbeing. 

 

 Living Well - People are empowered to live independently within their 
communities, where they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health. 

Components: 
 Promoting healthy behaviours and increased levels of physical activity; and 
 Promote good emotional wellbeing and improved mental health. 
 

 Environmental Wellbeing - Communities protect, enhance and promote our 
environment and countryside. 

Component:  
 Developing good quality, biodiverse and connected green infrastructure and 

open spaces 
 

The link between physical health and mental health is incontrovertible. Poor physical 
health can lead to poor mental health and vice versa. Conversely, good physical 
health can improve a person‟s state of mind; a strong and healthy mind can greatly 
improve our ability to cope with physical ailments. There is a growing body of 
evidence that indicates nature provides added value to the known benefits of 
physical activity. In addition to this, research evidence shows that there is as positive 
link between the health and wellbeing among children and young people and how 
they perform in school.  Pupils with better health and wellbeing are more likely to be 
ready to learn and achieve better academically. 

10.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 

 
10.1 With some of the recommendations given above there may by financial implications 

for Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council.   The Cabinet would need to look at all of 
the recommendations given at 2.0 and determine which, if any, may be able to be 
implemented. 

 
Not all of the above recommendations above have financial implications for Merthyr 
Tydfil County Borough Council. Page 15



 
 

11.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

 
 Positive 

Impacts 
Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
4 of 4 0 of 4 0 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

4 of 5 0 of 5 1 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
1 of 10 0 of 10 9 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

1 of 1 0 of 1 0 of 1 

Summary: 
 
The link between physical health and mental health is incontrovertible. Poor physical 
health can lead to poor mental health and vice versa. Conversely, good physical health 
can improve a person‟s state of mind; a strong and healthy mind can greatly improve our 
ability to cope with physical ailments. There is a growing body of evidence that indicates 
nature provides added value to the known benefits of physical activity. In addition to this, 
research evidence shows that there is as positive link between the health and wellbeing 
among children and young people and how they perform in school.  Pupils with better 
health and wellbeing are more likely to be ready to learn and achieve better 
academically. 
 
Good emotional wellbeing and improved mental health can be achieved by promoting 
healthy behaviours and increased levels of physical activity.  People, adopting healthy 
behaviours earlier in their life, are healthier, feel good and function well. 
 

 

 
 

Page 16



Neighbourhood Services, Planning and Countryside Scrutiny Committee (Task and 
Finish Group) 

Councillor Declan Sammon (Chair),  

Councillor Lee Davies,  

Councillor Jeremy Davies. 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of 

Document(s) 
Document(s) 

Date 
Document Location 

Sport and 
Active 

Lifestyles.  
 

State of the 
Nation.  

A statistical 
release from 
the National 
Survey for 

Wales 
2017-18  

 

 Sport and Active Lifestyles.  
 
State of the Nation - A statistical release from the National 
Survey for Wales 2017-18  
 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the 
Council’s Constitution?  
 

 

 

 

Page 17

http://sport.wales/media/1972924/state_of_the_nation_report_2017_18_english.pdf
http://sport.wales/media/1972924/state_of_the_nation_report_2017_18_english.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Award of Funding In Relation To Targeted Regeneration 
Investment Programme For South East Wales (Cardiff 
City Region) Urban Centre Property Enhancement Fund 
And Urban Centre Living Grant 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The Welsh Government’s Targeted Regeneration Investment (TRI) Programme for 
 South  East Wales (Cardiff City Region) Urban Centre Property Enhancement Fund 
 and Urban Living Grant will support the development of vacant and  underutilised 
 commercial and residential properties within the borough. 
 
1.2 The programme consists of 10 Local Authorities with Rhondda Cynon Taf County 
 Borough Council acting as the Lead Body. 
 
1.3 This report seeks to gain Cabinet's agreement to formally approve and accept a 
 grant of £970,000 from the Welsh Government Programme 
 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
2.1 The acceptance of the Targeted Regeneration Investment programme grant offer be 

approved. 
 
 
 

Date Written 2nd April 2019 

Report Author Alison Reddy 

Service Area Place and Transformation 

Committee Division Strategic 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 22nd May 2019 

Page 19

Agenda Item 4



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The purpose of the funding is to enable the South East Wales (Cardiff City Region) 

to deliver its Urban Centre Property Enhancement Fund and Urban Centre Living 
Grant across the following authorities; Rhondda Cynon Taff, Blaenau Gwent, 
Bridgend, Caerphilly, Cardiff, Merthyr Tydfil, Monmouthshire, Newport, Torfaen and 
Vale of Glamorgan. 

 
3.2 The Urban Centre Property Enhancement Fund will focus on addressing the lack of 

good commercial and retail space in town and city centres.  Applicants will have the 
opportunity to apply for grant funding for retails and commercial property frontages 
and associated external and internal works with the objective of bringing vacant floor 
space back into use. 

 
3.3 The Urban Centre Living Grant will support the Property Enhancement fund and will 

enable applicants to request funding to undertake works enabling the conversion of 
vacant floor space above commercial properties into residential use. 

 
3.4 Rhondda Cynon Taf will act as the lead body delivering the funding and will report to 

Welsh Government and the South East Wales Regional Regeneration Board which 
will comprise the Cardiff Capital Region Regeneration Board. 

 
3.5 The administration of the Thematic Project will be led by Rhondda Cynon Taf County 

Borough Council and the terms & Conditions will be devolved to the other Local 
Authorities via a Service Level Agreement of which our legal department are content 
with.  

 
3.6 A South East Wales TRI Thematic Group has been established with representation 

from the 10 Local Authorities and the Welsh Government and this group will set out 
roles and responsibilities.   

 

4.0 Programme Information  
 

Urban Centre Property Enhancement Fund (UCPEF): 
 
4.1 The grant will be a maximum of 70% of reasonable eligible costs, up to a maximum 
 grant of £250,000 exclusive of VAT (if applicable).   
 
4.2 The scope of works that could be supported include Shopfronts, signage, windows & 
 doors, external lighting, roofs & chimneys, rainwater goods (guttering and down 
 pipes), rendering, stone cleaning and repairs, repointing and structural works in 
 addition to improved accessibility, walls, ceilings, lighting, utilities and services 
 including heating, welfare facilities  and structural works. 
 
4.3  The programme is open to Freeholder, Sole Traders, Partnerships, Limited 

 Companies, Community Businesses, Co-operatives, and Registered Social 
 Landlords.  Grants for works to properties will only be available to owners of the 
 freeholder interest in the property or to lessees holding a minimum 7-year lease 
 remaining on the property, at the time of receipt of a valid application.   
 

Page 20



 Urban Centre Living Grant Fund (UCLG): 
 

4.4  The grant will be a maximum of 70% of reasonable eligible costs, up to a maximum 
 grant of £250,000 exclusive of VAT (if applicable). 
 
4.5 The programme is open to Sole Traders, Partnerships, Limited Companies, 
 Community Businesses, cooperatives and Registered Social Landlords.   Grants for 
 works to properties will only be available to owners of the freehold  interest in the 
 property, at the time of receipt of a valid application.   

 
 

5.0 TARGETS 
 

Ref Output/Outcome Total to be 
achieved for the 
project (Regional) 

Outputs 
attributable to 
Merthyr Tydfil 

TRI01 Gross jobs created 107 35 

TRI02 Number of jobs accommodated 
(enabled through regeneration 
investment) 

148 10 

TRI03 Number of jobs in the construction 
sector as a result of Welsh 
Government regeneration 
investment 

21   

TRI04 Total Number of traineeships on 
the project 

0   

TRI05 Number of traineeship leavers 
progressing to further learning (at a 
higher level) or employment (incl. 
employment with a contractor) 

0   

TRI06 Enterprises accommodated 79 20 

TRI07 Hectares of land developed 0   

TRI08 Non-residential premises created or 
refurbished (sqm) 

10314 4800 

TRI09 Non-residential premises created or 
refurbished (number) 

92 8 

TRI10 Number of additional market 
housing units (built or ready for 
occupation- as a direct result of TRI 
support) 

42 10 

TRI11 Number of additional social housing 
units delivered (Built of ready for 
occupation – as a direct result of 
TRI support) 

16   

TRI12 Number of additional intermediate 
housing units delivered (built or 
ready for occupation – as s direct 
result of TRI support) 
 

0   

Page 21



TRI13 Number of households helped 
towards securing improvement in 
the energy performance of their 
homes 

0   

TRI14 Number of empty homes bought 
back into use 

3   

TRI15 Number of non-residential units 
brought back into use 

13   

TRI16 Estimated reduction in CO2 
equivalent emissions 

0   

TRI17 Number completing employment 
related courses or gaining 
employment related qualification 

30 30 

TR18 Number if SMEs based in Wales 
successful in securing 
contracts/sub contracts 

27 4 

TRI19 Value of contracts/sub contracts 
awarded to SMEs based in Wales 
(3) 

£2,824,651 £350,000 

 
 
 

6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
6.1 The total TRI Thematic Programme is worth £15,037,367 which is split between ten 
 Local Authorities. 
 
6.2 Of the total project costs £10,000,000 is TRI and £5,037,367 is match funding 
 
6.3  Every authority is entitled to £50,000 management fee to enable the successful 
 delivery of the programme. 
 
6.4 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council's £970,000 allocation is as follows: 
 
 

 Management Fee UCPEF UCLG 

2019/2020 £20,000 £368,000 £0 

2020/2021 £30,000 £368,000 £184,000 

 
 
6.5  There is no match funding requirement from MTCBC for this grant. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 22



7.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
1 of 4 0 of 4 3 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
0 of 10 0 of 10 10 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1 

Summary: 
 
The main positive impacts are: 
 
Working Life – developing the environment and infrastructure for businesses to flourish 
and supporting and accommodating those most disadvantaged in the housing market 
 

 
 
ALYN OWEN 
CHIEF OFFICER COMMUNITY 
REGENERATION 

COUNCILLOR GERAINT THOMAS 
CABINET MEMBER FOR COMMUNITY 

REGENERATION AND PUBLIC 
PROTECTION 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

- Application 
- Service Level 

Agreement 
- Offer Letter 

 Orbit Business Centre 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

 
FORMAL APPROVAL OF A NEW ATLANTIC AREA 
TRANSNATIONAL PROJECT ENTITLED TRAIL 
GAZERS 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 Trail Gazers is a European  funded transnational project consisting of 10 partners 
 from around the Atlantic area region. 
 
1.2 This report seeks to gain Cabinet's agreement to formally approve and accept a 
 grant of €225,000 from the Atlantic Area Programme. 
 
1.3 The ethos of the project is based around transnationally developing a number of 
 trails across the programme area; all of which have forms of socio-economic benefits 
 for the communities and businesses that reside adjacent to them. 
 
1.4 The report focusses on the full Trail Gazers Project partners and touches upon both 
 the project's overall outputs as well as those aligned to Merthyr Tydfil. 
 
1.5 From a financial perspective, the report covers the total project cost and outlines the 
 figures made-up of ERDF grant finance (75%) and where the 25% match funding 
 will be coming from. 
 
 
 

Date Written 29th April 2019 

Report Author Ryan Barry & Chris Long 

Service Area Community Regeneration 

Committee Division Cabinet 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 22nd May 2019 

Page 25

Agenda Item 5



2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
2.1  Merthyr Tydfil CBC becoming a formal partner on the Trail Gazers Project, be 

approved. 
 
2.2  The appointment of additional fixed term staff post to manage the local and 

transnational elements of the Programme, be approved. 
 
2.3  The matched funding profile, be approved. 
 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

3.1 In May 2018, Donegal County Council submitted a new €2,578,687 Atlantic Area 

 Project application entitled  Trail Gazers. 
 
3.2 Trail Gazers will measure socio-economic impacts from investing & promoting trails 
 in areas of rich natural heritage. Project objectives are to establish a common set of 
 economic, social & environmental KPIs; develop innovative technologies & systems 
 to capture trails activity and develop plans to sustainably manage trails. Results 
 include a trails dashboard, tools to digitally target visitors & boost Atlantic Area 
 tourist numbers. 
 
3.3 The Trail Gazers Project will also focus on the socio-economic impact that certain 
 trails  situated around the Atlantic area have on the wider communities and 
 businesses  that are located adjacent to them. New assessment technologies and 
 consultations will be piloted along with a range of marketing tools being used on the 
 identified trails. 
 
3.4 The project is made-up of the following cohort of partners, all of which bring a vast 
 amount of experience, knowledge and innovative models that have the potential to 
 develop and enhance the tourism economy sector in Merthyr Tydfil and across the 
 Atlantic Area.  The partners are as follows: 
 

Partner Name: Country: 

Donegal County Council Ireland 

Municipio de Viana do Castelo Portugal  

Dirección General de Protección de la Naturaleza  Spain 

Glasgow Caledonian University UK 

Ulster University Northern Ireland 

Ville de Louvigné du Désert France 

Navarra de Suelo y Vivienda, S.A.U Spain  

Sligo County Council Ireland 

Universidade do Algarve Portugal 

 
3.5 The Trail Gazers partners will design, implement and evaluate impact on specific 
 'Work  Packages' as part of the programme which will be reported back to the 
 European Commission bi-annually. These 'Work Packages' are as follows: 

Page 26



 
 Coordination 
 Communication 
 Capitalization 
 Knowledge Exchange & Dissemination 
 Data Capture 
 Trail Technology Deployment 
 Calculating Trail Multipliers /Destination Management Planning 

 
3.6 More specific to Merthyr Tydfil the Train Gazers Project will focus specifically on the 
 Taff Trail with associated staff focussing on how to improve the cultural asset and 
 drive tourism figures. 
 
3.7 Beyond the end of the project, the network will continue to function as a voluntary 
 collaboration. New members will join the network, which will be self-supporting, 
 continuing to deliver trail associated benefits & approaches, influencing mainstream 
 policy & encouraging other regions to adopt the Trail Gazers approach. 
 
3.8 The new project supersedes our previous EU transnational projects that the Council 
 has participated and led on previously with the success of the Interreg funded 
 COLLABOR8 (2008-13), SHARE (2012-15) and current SuNSE (2018-2021) 
 Projects which have both brought in significant levels of finance in the County 
 Borough; enhancing both the tourism sector and heritage agenda's respectively. 
 
 

4.0 TRAIL GAZERS PROJECT - MERTHYR TYDFIL SPECIFIC 
 
4.1 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council brings a vast amount of transnational project 
 experience to the partnership along with significant knowledge of trail development 
 and management. In addition, the Council will also lead on the Knowledge Exchange 
 & Dissemination Work Package. 
 
4.2 The Council will look to employ a dedicated Project Officer who will manage the Trail 
 Gazers Project and work with the wider community and businesses that reside close 
 to the Taff Trail.  
 
 

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
5.1 The total Trail Gazers Project is worth €2,578,687 which is split between ten 
 partners with the amounts varying based on the workload and planned outputs of 
 each partner.  
 
5.2 From the €2,578,687 total project costs 75% is actual grant funding  (€1,934,015) 

with the remaining 25% forming partners match funding toward the  project. 
 
5.3 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council's €300,000 allocation is made up of €225,000 
 of ERDF grant funding with the remaining €75,000 of match funding being aligned 
 to staff within the Community Regeneration Department - namely the Programme 
 Manager. 

Page 27



 
5.4 The full breakdown of the Merthyr Tydfil three year €300,000 budget is as follows: 
 

Budget Heading: Value in Euro's: 

Staff (including 40% match) €145,500 

Office & Administration €21,825 

Travel & Accommodation €20,175 

External Experts €85,000 

Equipment  €27,500 

 
 

6.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
4 of 4 0 of 4 0 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
3 of 10 0 of 10 7 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

1 of 1 0 of 1 0 of 1 

Summary: 
 
The main positive impacts are the enhancement and future development of the Taff Trail 
in Merthyr Tydfil. The Trail Gazers Project will involve additional consultations and 
diagnostic reviews exercises with community members and businesses that run adjacent 
to the trail as well as additional promotion and marketing of the actual trail and Merthyr 
Tydfil in general. 
 
 

 
 
ALYN OWEN 
CHIEF OFFICER COMMUNITY 
REGENERATION 

COUNCILLOR GERAINT THOMAS 
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

REGENERATION & PUBLIC 
PROTECTION 

Page 28



 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

 

 
 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 
 
To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

PAYMENT OF CARE HOME FEES 2019 -2020 

 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 Members will recall that Pembrokeshire County Council was taken to Judicial Review 

by Forest Care Home Limited in December 2010 over the care fees set by Pembroke 
for the 2010/2011 financial year.  

 
1.2 As a result of this Local Authorities had to ensure that they had a methodology for 

setting care home fees that complied with “Fulfilled Lives, Supportive Communities 
Commissioning Framework Guidance and Good Practice”.  

 

1.3 The payment of care fees for contracted placements in independent sector 
residential and nursing homes is an issue that is highly significant for all authorities in 
Wales.  The Judicial Review gave and has continued to give a sharp focus to and 
identified a challenge for all local authorities to have a robust methodology in place 
to calculate fees paid to independent sector care home providers.  

 
1.4 Rockhaven Healthcare who had significant experience in the area of developing fee 

toolkits, were commissioned to develop a bespoke care fee toolkit for the setting of 
care fees for 2016/2017 for independent sector residential and nursing care homes 
for use by Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council. 

 
1.5 Rockhaven Healthcare’s report “Costs of Care Analysis in Merthyr Tydfil 2016/2017” 

recommended the appropriate level of fees for independent sector residential and 
nursing care homes in Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council for 2016/2017 and 
was accepted by Council and used to form the basis of the fees paid for placements 
in independent sector residential and nursing care homes. 

 

Date Written 1st May 2019 

Report Author Lesley Gallent 

Service Area Financial Assessment & Charging 

Committee Division Portfolio 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 22nd May 2019 

Page 31

Agenda Item 6



1.6 It was agreed with the Independent Providers that instead of going through the 
process of collecting detailed financial and other statistical information every year 
that this exercise would only be carried out every three years and that in the interim 
years the care fees would be uplifted by an agreed inflationary increase to recognise 
the increasing costs of providing care. 

 

1.7 The cost of paying the revised fee levels uplifted by an agreed inflationary increase, 
for the current number of individuals in residential and nursing care, has been 
estimated as being £145,000 for 2019/2020. 

 
1.8 Funding for this was identified in the Medium Term Financial Plan for the Authority 

and has been included in the People and Performance Directorate’s budget for 
2019/2020. 

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
2.1 The level of payments to independent sector residential and nursing care service 

providers are paid at the rates shown in Appendix 1 be approved. 
 
2.2 The increase in fees for 2019/2020 be backdated and be effective from 8th April 2019 

be approved. 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The payment of care fees for contracted placements in independent sector 

residential and nursing homes is an issue that is highly significant for all local 
authorities in Wales.  The Judicial Review in Pembrokeshire in 2010 gave a sharp 
focus to and identified a challenge for all local authorities to have a robust 
methodology in place to calculate fees paid to independent sector care home 
providers.  

 
3.2 All toolkits developed had to be in accordance with the “Fulfilled Lives, Supportive 

Communities Commissioning Framework Guidance and Good Practice” that was 
issued in August 2010 by the Welsh Assembly Government under Section 7 of the 
Local Authority Social Services Act 1970. 

 
3.3 Section 7 Guidance means that Councils must “act under” the general guidance of 

the relevant minister or in respect of a devolved function the Welsh Ministers.  While 
following guidance is not mandatory an authority can only depart from it for good 
reason.  If a Council deviates from guidance without a considered and cogently 
reasoned decision it acts unlawfully and in a manner which is amenable to challenge 
and judicial review, as was the case with Pembrokeshire County Council and Forest 
Care Homes. 

 
3.4 Fee setting toolkits therefore need to comply with “Fulfilled Lives, Supportive 

Communities Commissioning Framework Guidance and Good Practice” in particular 
they must take account of the providers costs and the factors that may affect them 
on the basis of good local evidence.  Fee setting must take into account the 
legitimate current and future costs faced by providers as well as factors that affect 

Page 32



these costs, and the potential for improved performance and more cost effective 
ways of working.  The fees set need to be adequate to enable providers to meet the 
specifications set by the commissioners together with regulatory requirements. 

 

4.0 METHODOLOGY 
 
4.1 The approach that was taken was that the bespoke toolkit previously developed for 

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council that complied with “Fulfilled Lives, Supportive 
Communities Commissioning Framework Guidance and Good Practice” was re-
populated and updated with current up-to-date financial information and costs. 

 
4.2 Rockhaven Healthcare was re-commissioned to undertake this task again for the 

setting of care fees for residential and nursing care homes for 2016/2017. 
Rockhaven Healthcare was re-commissioned as they have detailed and specialised 
knowledge of the methodology used to develop the care fee toolkit in Merthyr Tydfil 
as well as significant experience in the area of developing fee toolkits for 
independent sector residential and nursing care homes. 

 
4.3 Data was provided by the Independent Sector Care Home providers in Merthyr Tydfil 

for the 12-month period ending March 2016.  This information was used as the base 
data for the calculation of the legitimate costs of providing care and from this data 
the rates of care fees was calculated for the 2016/2017 financial year. 

 
4.4 When Rockhaven Healthcare presented their Cost of Care Analysis Report there 

was no challenge from the Independent Providers that it was not a true and accurate 
reflection of the actual costs of providing residential and nursing care in Merthyr 
Tydfil.   

 
4.5 It was agreed with the Independent Providers that instead of going through the 

process of collecting detailed financial and other statistical information every year 
that this exercise would only be carried out every three years and that in the interim 
years the care fees would be uplifted by an agreed inflationary increase to recognise 
the increasing costs of providing care. 

 
4.6 2019/2020 is the third year of the three year cycle and as such an inflationary 

increase has been added to the care fees rather than undertaking a detailed financial 
and statistical exercise. 

 
4.7 Two potential options were identified as being available to calculate the increase for 

2019/2020.  
 

i. To uplift the total fee levels by a recognised inflationary indices such as the 
Consumer Price Index. 

 
ii. To apply recognised inflationary indices such as the Consumer Price Index to the 

fee levels but to apply differing inflationary increases to the different elements 
that make up the constituent costs eg. 

 Staffing costs - increase in minimum wage 

 Power - specific element of CPI relating to utilities 

 Water - specific element of CPI relating to utilities 

Page 33



 Food - specific element of CPI relating to food and non-alcoholic beverages. 
 
4.8 The Independent Care Home Providers were consulted on what their preferred 

option would be and the preferred option expressed by the majority of providers who 
responded to use when calculating the fee increase for 2019/2020 was Option 2 
which is to apply a recognised inflationary indices such as the Consumer Price Index 
to the fee levels but to apply differing inflationary increases to the different elements 
that make up the constituent costs. 

 
4.9 As this is the third year of the three year cycle a further report will be submitted later 

in the year outlining options / recommendations for the care fee setting for 
2020/2021 onwards. 

 

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 Using the methodology that has been agreed with the Independent Providers the 

care fees for 2019/2020 would be as follows. 
 

2019/2020 Fee Rate 
 

PERSONAL CARE   
2018/2019 
weekly rate 

£ 

2019/2020 
weekly rate 

£ 

Older Person  539 559 

Dementia  603 623 

Physical Disability, under 65 1,359 1,414 

Learning Disability  891 924 

 
 

NURSING CARE  
(excludes the health board FNC) 

2018/2019 
weekly rate 

£ 

2019/2020 
weekly rate 

£ 

Older Person  607.33 636 

Dementia  649.33 680 

 
5.2 The cost of paying the revised fee levels uplifted by an agreed inflationary increase, 

for the current number of individuals in residential and nursing care, has been 
estimated as being £145,000 for 2019/2020. 

 
5.3 Funding for this was identified in the Medium Term Financial Plan for the Authority 

and has been included in the People and Performance Directorate’s budget for 
2019/2020. 

 
5.4 The work that has been undertaken by Rockhaven Healthcare in producing the 

Costs of Care Analysis in Merthyr Tydfil Report relates exclusively to the financial 
position of the care homes that sit within the geographical boundaries of Merthyr 
Tydfil. 

 

Page 34



5.5 It is therefore difficult to compare fee rates across different local authorities as the 
financial circumstances for the care homes in other local authorities will be different 
and will not bear comparison.  This is because to comply with “Fulfilled Lives, 
Supportive Communities Commissioning Framework Guidance and Good Practice” 
fee setting toolkits must take account of the providers’ costs and the factors that may 
affect them on the basis of good local evidence   

 

6.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
6.1 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
2 of 4 0 of 4 2 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

3 of 5 0 of 5 2 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
2 of 10 0 of 10 8 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1 

Summary: 
 
The main positive impact is setting fee levels to Independent Sector Care Homes will 
help ensure that the care provision is maintained and is available within Merthyr Tydfil 
for those individuals assessed as requiring the service. 
 
There are no negative impacts. 
 

 
 
 
LISA CURTIS-JONES 
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES) 

COUNCILLOR CHRIS DAVIES 
                  CABINET MEMBER FOR 

SOCIAL SERVICES 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 35



BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
Fulfilled Lives, 
Supportive Communities 
Commissioning 
Framework Guidance 
and Good Practice 
 
England and Wales 
High Court 
(Administrative Court) 
Decision 
Forest Care Home 
Limited v 
Pembrokeshire County 
Council 
 
Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council 
Cost of Care Analysis 
2016/2017 
 

 
August 2010 

 
 
 
 
 

December 2010 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
September 2016 
 
 
 
 

 
Unit 5 
 
 
 
 
 
Unit 5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Unit 5 
 
 
 
 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 

of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 36



APPENDIX 1 

 
MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

Independent Sector 
 

  

 
Proposed Payments for Residential 

and Nursing Care Services 
2019/2020 

 

  

 Rates                  
9 April 2018 

Rates                 
8 April 2019 

Residential Care Homes £  

   

Old Age 539 559 

Elderly Mentally Infirm 603 623 

   

Physical Disability   

a (under pensionable age) 1,359 1414 

b (over pensionable age) 539 559 

Mental Handicap (Learning Difficulty) 891 924 

Others 539 559 

   

   

Nursing Homes   

(Excludes the Local Health Board 
contribution) 

  

Old Age 607.33 636 

Elderly Mentally Infirm 649.43 680 

   

Drug Alcohol Dependency 607.33 636 

Mental Illness 607.33 636 

Others 607.33 636 
 

Local Health Board Free Nursing Care Contribution is £174.67 effective from the 1st April 
2018. The Free Nursing Care Contribution rate from April 2019 is yet to be agreed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

 

Play Sufficiency Assessment 2019  
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The report outlines the findings of the 2019 Play Sufficiency Assessment conducted 

by Ludicology on behalf of the Local Authority.  The assessment has enabled the 
authority to identify and assess the progress made since 2016 and the key areas to 
prioritise and progress.  

 
1.2 The Authority and its partners have made good progress in many areas during 

challenging times for play within the locality and the use of additional play resources 
secured is identified.  

  
1.3 The Play Steering Group has developed and agreed a draft action plan for 

2019/2020 as required by Welsh Government to continue to progress the Play 
agenda within Merthyr Tydfil.  The approach taken since 2013 has been replicated 
and therefore the 2019/20 Action Plan is based upon progressing only those actions 
that are deemed low cost or no cost.  

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
2.1 To meet our statutory duty, the Play Sufficiency Report and Action Plan are 

approved and submitted to Welsh Government as required. 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

3.1 In 2010 the Welsh Government (WG) set out their commitment for play in the 
Children and Families (Wales) Measure.  It outlined the responsibility of local 
authorities to assess the sufficiency of play opportunities and publish the results.  

Date Written 11th April 2019 * 

Report Author Chris Hole 

Service Area Learning 

Committee Division Portfolio 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non-exempt 

Committee Date 22nd May 2019 

Page 39

Agenda Item 7



3.2 In July 2014 WG enacted the second part of the Measure (sections 11(3) and 11(4)) 
which increases the responsibility of local authorities who now have to secure “as far 
as reasonably practicable” play opportunities having due regard to their Play 
Sufficiency Assessment (PSA).  

 
3.3 In September 2018, an external contractor was appointed to produce the 2019 Play    

Sufficiency Assessment (PSA) and Action Plan on behalf of Merthyr Tydfil.  This 
work was overseen by the Play Sufficiency Steering Group, whose membership 
(departments and organisations) was previously agreed by Council in 2013 
(Appendix A).  
 

4.0 PROGRESS SINCE THE INTRODUCTION OF THE STATUTORY 
DUTY AND KEY ASSESSMENT MESSAGES FOR 2019 

 
4.1 The Play Sufficiency Assessment (Appendix B) consists of a prescribed set of 

indicators by Welsh Government as detailed within the toolkit that is required to be 
completed by all Local Authorities across Wales.  The toolkit utilises a traffic light 
system to categorise the extent to which the Local Authority is achieving each 
indicator.  Through this approach Merthyr Tydfil CBC previously measured its 
progress against the indicators as outlined below.   
 

 2013  2016 
Overall 

Assessment  
Indicators 112 

23 58 31  14 44 26 28 

 
4.2 However slight changes to the framework indicators (some have been removed and 

new ones added) and to the traffic light system were confirmed for 2019 which 
means a direct comparison is not fully applicable against the 2016 assessment but 
still provides an overall picture in terms of the progress being made.  
 

 2019 
Overall 

Assessment  
Indicators 103 

8 60 35 

 
4.3 The Play Sufficiency Assessment is undertaken through a collaborative approach 

and aims to ensure the involvement of the voices of children and parents throughout 
the process as well as partner organisations. Within the 2018/19 assessment 211 
children in Year 5 in schools across the County Borough have contributed towards 
the assessment and an additional 59 members of the public (children/young people 
and parents) have taken part in focus groups to explore in depth some of the themes 
of the assessment.  
 

4.4 The following priorities for 2019 onward have been identified through the 
assessment, with greater detail being provided in the recommendations within the 
main Sufficiency Assessment report, which is available as a Background Paper. 
 

 Continue to champion the inclusion of Play and its role across the policy context 
within MTCBC and Cwm Taf 

 Secure access to a wider range of spaces for play including use of local streets 
for play 

Page 40



 Develop  a specific approach to identifying play needs on an ongoing basis  to 
prioritise future funding from Welsh Government learning from current pilot 
underway 

 Developing the workforce to support the play agenda  across a range of 
providers and those providing family interventions  
 

4.5 A proposed Action Plan, contained within the Sufficiency Assessment report, has 
been developed on a no cost/low cost basis replicating the approach the Council 
approved previously.  This approach will require all partners to continue to work more 
collaboratively especially as the authority is not a direct provider of play provision 
and has no current core resources allocated for play or play development.  
 

4.6 The securing of ongoing grant resources from the Children and Play grant which now 
forms a part of the wider Children and Communities grant (funding flexibility) is 
essential to take forward the play agenda.  This is reinforced by the inclusion of three 
new indicators within the Sufficiency Framework indicating how Families First 
resources should be supporting the play agenda.  
 

4.7 The Play Steering Group will be maintaining oversight of the action plan and play 
development, meeting on a quarterly basis to review progress against the action plan 
and ensure the collaborative approach across departments and organisations 
continues. The benefits of this approach were once again seen through the authority 
and partners accessing £76,250 of additional resources from Welsh Government to 
implement the following programmes/projects: 

 Play Sufficiency Assessment 

 Workforce Conference 

 Inclusive Play Training 

 Transition to Play work Qualification  

 Accessibility Audit of play Provision 

 Development of Sandy Park 

 Street closures for Play 

 Resource Lending Scheme (based at ICC) 

 Woodland Play area  refurbishment (ICC)  

 Lego Therapy Training and resources 

 Replace Outdoor Play equipment (ICC) 

 Upgrade child play space (Cylch Meithrin) 
 
4.8 For the last couple of years Welsh Government has announced money for play 

within months of the end of the financial year.  The Play Steering group in 
anticipation of this within the 2018/2019 financial year had a range of projects ready 
to implement „off the shelf‟ and were therefore able to access significantly more 
resource than the original allocation for Merthyr Tydfil.  This approach is critical to 
developing aspects of the Action Plan due to the limited capacity and resources 
available across the play agenda.  

  

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 

5.1 There are no financial implications as a result of this report however future progress 
of the Play Action Plan and the development of play across the Council will continue 
to be dependent upon individual departments and any external resources secured. 

 

Page 41



5.2 There are no core resources to develop play within the LA and therefore delivery 
against the updated Action Plan will be progressed on a low or no cost basis. 

 

6.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
4 of 4 0 of 4 0 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
7 of 10 0 of 10 3 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

0 of 1 0 of 1  1 of 1 

Summary: 
The main positive impacts are potentially providing a greater focus on play for children to 
be able to expand their experiences within their communities and within family life, 
through a supportive play friendly community.  This will provide a range of learning 
opportunities self-directed by children and allow them to discover more about 
themselves during the process laying the foundations for who they become later on in 
life.  

 
 
 
 
SUE WALKER 
CHIEF OFFICER LEARNING 

LISA MYTTON 
CABINET MEMBER FOR LEARNING 

 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Play Sufficiency Report  
Play Sufficiency Assessment 
Toolkit and Action Plan   

2016 
 
2019  

Intranet 
 
Learning Department  

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  

No 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect of each 
proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

Page 42



Appendix A 
 

Play Sufficiency Revised Steering Group Membership List 
 

Role/Department Department/Organisation 

 
Early Years & Youth Manager 

 
Learning 

Early Years and Flying Start Co-ordinator  Learning / MTCBC 

Children with Disabilities  /MTCBC 

Planning Department /MTCBC 

Family Information Service  /MTCBC 

Parks Department  /MTCBC 

Sports and Leisure (inc Disability Sport)  /MTCBC 

Leisure Trust   

Road Safety  
Highways/ Traffic Management  

/MTCBC 

Estates Management  /MTCBC 

Inclusion Manager (inc Gypsy Traveller communities)  Learning/ MTCBC 

Performance Management  /MTCBC 

Senior Youth & Community Officer  Youth Service / MTCBC 

Development Officer  Clybiau Plant Cymru Kids Clubs 

Equalities Lead MTCBC 

Voluntary Sector  VAMT 

Welsh Language Menter iaith 

 
 
 
 

Appendix B 
 

Play Sufficiency Assessment by Outcome Area 
 

 2019 

  Red Amber Green 

A. Population – Indicators (1)  No longer assessed by each indicator – overall 
Amber 

B. Providing for Diverse needs – Indicators (10)  1 7 2 

C. Space available for children to play – Indicators 
(18) 

 2 10 6 

D. Supervised Provision  - Indicators (13)  0 4 9 

E. Charges for Play provision  - Indicators (8)  1 4 3 

F. Access to Space /provision – indicators(20)  2 10 8 

G. Securing and developing the Workforce – 
Indicators(12) 

 0 11 1 

H. Community engagement and participation – 
Indicators (2) 

 0 1 1 

I. Play within All relevant policy agendas – 
Indicators (19) 

 2 12 5 

Overall Assessment  Indicators 103  8 60 35 

 
 

Appendix B 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



 Assessment Toolkit 

  1 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Name of Local Authority: Merthyr Tydfil  
 
Name of responsible officer:  
Diane Jones 
Job title: Community Zone and Learning Manager 
Date of completion: 
27/03/2019 
Please note that the Play Sufficiency Assessment must be received by the Welsh Government  
 
 
 

 

 
 
Play Sufficiency Assessment Form 
 

P
age 45



 Assessment Toolkit 

  2 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

 

Conducting the Assessment – Play Sufficiency Assessment  

As well as establishing a baseline of provision, the Play Sufficiency Assessment will enable the following: 
 

 Identification of gaps in information, provision, service delivery and policy implementation 

 Support the establishment of evidence to give an indication of distance travelled in relation to play sufficiency 

 Highlight potential ways of addressing issues relating to partnership working 

 The input and involvement of all partners increasing levels of knowledge and understanding 

 A monitoring system which will involve and improve communication between professionals  

 The identification of good practice examples  

 Increased levels of partnerships in assessing sufficient play opportunities  

 The identification of actions for the Securing Play Sufficiency Action Plan which accompanies the Play Sufficiency Assessment  
 
A template has been produced to support a corporate appraisal of the matters that need to be taken into account as set out in the 
Statutory Guidance. The indicators listed within each matter are provided as sample indicators which should be amended to meet local 
issues as appropriate. 
 
The Play Sufficiency Assessment must demonstrate that the Local Authority has taken into account and assessed the matters set out in 
The Play Sufficiency Assessment (Wales) Regulations 2012 and Statutory Guidance. 

 
As well as providing baseline information, the assessment can include examples of current practice that the Local Authority wishes to 
highlight. 

 
Local Authorities might consider structuring the Play Sufficiency Assessment in the following way and as a minimum address all the 
identified sections. 
 

P
age 46



 Assessment Toolkit 

  3 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

 

Understanding the Play Sufficiency Duty 

In 2012, Wales became the first country in the world to legislate specifically in support of children’s right to play when the Welsh Government 
introduced the Welsh Play Sufficiency Duty. This duty requires Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council to carry out an assessment of children’s 
opportunities for play every three years and, in between times, take action to secure sufficient opportunities for play so far as is reasonably 
practicable (Welsh Government, 2014).  

Children’s right to play is enshrined in Article 31 on the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (1989). Shortly after the Welsh Play 
Sufficiency Duty was introduced, the United Nations Committee of the Rights of the Child published General Comment 17 (2013) on Article 31 with the 
aim of clarifying and emphasising the role of governments in upholding children’s right to play: 

“The Committee, in its reviews of implementation of the rights of the child under the Convention, is concerned by the poor recognition 
given by States to Article 31 rights. Poor recognition of their significance in the lives of children results in lack of investment in appropriate 
provision, weak or non-existent protective legislation and invisibility of children in national and local level planning. In general, where 
investment is made, it is in the provision of structured and organised activities. Equally important is the need to create time and space for 
spontaneous play, recreation and creativity, and the promotion of societal attitudes that support and encourage such activity.” 

For clarity of understanding, Merthyr Tydfil CBC endorses the definition of play included in General Comment 17, which states: 

“Children’s play is any behaviour, activity or process initiated, controlled and structured by children themselves; it takes place whenever 
and wherever opportunities arise. Caregivers may contribute to the creation of environments in which play takes place, but play itself is 
non-compulsory, driven by intrinsic motivation and undertaken for its own sake, rather than as a means to an end”. 

The General Comment differentiates play from other recreational activities, which it recognises may be organised and managed by adults, but also 
suggests that children’s engagement in any form of recreation should be voluntary.  
 

Principle Statement 

This section should be used to articulate the Local Authority‟s acknowledgement of the value and importance of play in the lives of 
children. 

P
age 47



 Assessment Toolkit 

  4 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

The primary aim of the Play Sufficiency Duty is “creating an environment where children can freely play” (Welsh Government, 2014). The Welsh 
Government also recognises the value of other recreational activities, which it requires Local Authority’s to take into account when producing their 
play sufficiency assessments. However, whilst they can make a significant contribution, it should not be assumed that adult organised activities are 
supportive of children’s play. In respect of the Play Sufficiency Duty, our focus as a Local Authority is on how the organised activities available impact 
on children’s ability to find time and space for play. 

It is also important to recognise that both the Play Sufficiency Duty and the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child apply to all persons 
under the age of 18 and are therefore concerned with the play needs of a wide range of different aged children, including those in their teenage years. 
As a consequence Merthyr Tydfil CBC recognises the value of children playing with and without adults and that, as they grow older, children will 
require an increasing degree of freedom and independence from their parents and other caregivers. 

Play and Well-being 

Playing is central to children’s experience and enjoyment of living, and their opportunities for doing so will directly affect how they feel about 
themselves and other aspects of their lives. Furthermore, play has unique behavioural characteristics (including personal control, intrinsic motivation, 
it’s variable nature, pretence and uncertainty) that lend themselves to the creation of experiences that are essential to children’s immediate and 
longer-term well-being and development. 

“Playing may contribute to developing resilience, used here as an expression of children’s resourcefulness in being able to find or reclaim 
time and space for playing to produce moments when life is more vibrant and pleasurable, with associated benefits in terms of being-well” 

Lester and Russell, 2014 

Given the benefits of play, it follows that not playing could lead to some fairly dire consequences, including an inability to control emotions, cope with 
stress, form attachments, adapt to change, feel good and so on (Grey, 2011). Being deprived of opportunities for play should itself be recognised as an 
adverse childhood experience. However, by enabling children to play we can support them to cope with the stresses and strains of their everyday 
lives. This will be particularly important for children who experience other adverse childhood experiences and those living with the damaging effects of 
poverty; recognising that with access to good opportunities for play children can enjoy their childhoods despite experiencing financial or social 
disadvantage (Long, 2017). 

The Play Sufficiency Duty is closely aligned with the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act (2015) and the Social Services Wellbeing Act (2014). In 
particular, the work associated with securing sufficient opportunities for play reflects the five ways to working described within the Welsh 
Government’s ‘sustainable development principle’ and represents an asset-based approach focussed on safeguarding and improving opportunities 
that enable children to support their own health and well-being by playing. 

P
age 48



 Assessment Toolkit 

  5 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

 
Cultivating the Conditions for Play 
 

Children value designated times and spaces for playing but play cannot be confined to these places alone. In reality children will create moments of 
play wherever and whenever conditions allow and are likely to prefer environments and people that they perceive to be supportive of their play. 
 

Whilst children are often much better at finding time and space for play than adults give them credit for, they will struggle to play where conditions 
are not supportive. Children need freedom to play but the freedom they are granted is more often than not dependant on adults; who themselves are 
influenced by a wide range of issues that affect the way they think about children and their play. 
 

The Play Sufficiency Duty is concerned with cultivating sufficient time, space and permission for play within local communities, adult run services and 
facilities, and designated play provision. This ongoing process requires adults to pay close attention to the multitude of factors that affect children’s 
opportunities for play and is as much about protecting and maintaining existing opportunities as it is about improving them where possible.  
 

In particular we, as a Local Authority, want to maintain a culture of ‘playing out’ in Merthyr Tydfil and recognise that children’s ability to play out and 
about in their local communities is a good indicator of community well-being and people’s perceptions of safety. However, we also recognise that 
children should be enabled to play in many different contexts including schools, childcare settings and within other recreational activities and facilities. 
The Local Authority aspires for Merthyr Tydfil to be a place where all children report high levels of satisfaction with their opportunities for play, where 
they say their time, space and permission for play isn’t just good but great! 

The Play Sufficiency Duty cuts across many aspects of the Local Authority’s work and we are committed to working together to better understand and 
respond to children’s right to play. In doing so Merthyr Tydfil CBC’s work in respect of the Play Sufficiency Duty is guided by the Welsh Government’s 
statutory guidance, General Comment 17 by the United Nations Committee and the findings from our own play sufficiency assessments. 

References: 

 Grey, P. (2011) The decline of play and the rise of psychopathology in children and adolescents. American Journal of Play 3: 443-463 

 Lester, S. & Russell, W. (2014) Towards Securing Sufficient Play Opportunities: A short study into the preparation undertaken for the 
commencement of the second part of the Welsh Government’s Play Sufficiency Duty to secure sufficient play opportunities. University of 
Gloucestershire 

 Long, A.M. (2017) It’s not just about ‘more’. A research project exploring satisfaction with opportunities to play for children in two Welsh 
neighbouring communities. International Journal of Play, 6(1): 24-39 

 UNCRC, (2013) General Comment No. 17 on the Right of the Child to Rest, Leisure, Play, Recreational Activities, Cultural Life and the Arts (art. 
31). Geneva: UN Committee on the Rights of the Child (CRC). 

 Welsh Government (2014) Wales – a Play Friendly Country: Statutory Guidance. Cardiff: Welsh Government. 

P
age 49



 Assessment Toolkit 

  6 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

Context 
 

This section should describe the methodology used to undertake and approve the Play Sufficiency Assessment and Action Plan and any 
consultation with partners on the Assessment/Action Plan. It should also list the key partners that engaged with the process and identify 
any challenges in undertaking the Assessment. It should describe the mechanism that the Local Authority proposes to use to take 
forward the identified actions for the action plan. 
 

 

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council commissioned Ludicology to complete this, the Local Authority’s third, play sufficiency assessment (PSA). 
Ludicology as an organisation exists to promote a better understanding of children’s play and the ways in which adults can support it. For the 2019 
PSA, a robust mixed methods methodology was developed and applied to generate valid data upon which strategic plans can be produced and against 
which the effectiveness of actions taken can be evaluated. 
 
One of the principles of this process was to support children’s informed participation and ensure that their opinions were given at least equal weight 
to that of adults. As a consequence during the analysis of data an emphasis was be placed on the information provided by children, starting with the 
results of children’s online questionnaires and exploring this further through the focus groups in schools. The themes drawn from this process were 
then compared with the data produced by parents and then practitioners and policy makers involved in the Local Authority’s play steering group. 
 
From the outset a focus was also placed on exception reporting, recognising that Merthyr Tydfil’s third play sufficiency assessment should build on 
what had come before, in particular the knowledge and data generated through the previous two assessments. As a consequence where the situation 
remains unchanged or if no further information has been made available, responses from the 2016 PSA have been included in this assessment and are 
highlighted in grey. 
 
Phase 1: Desktop Audit – The play sufficiency assessment (PSA) began with a detailed review of the two previous PSAs together with any action plan 
progress reports submitted to Welsh Government since the first assessment in 2013. A semi-structured interview was also facilitated with the lead 
officers for the Play Sufficiency Duty to further explore how the Local Authority had (to date) responded to the duty and their perceptions of any 
progress made. 
 
Sections from the 2016 PSA were then sent out to relevant members of the Local Authority’s play steering group asking them to update the data 
where necessary. Relevant existing data sets (including population levels, public open space, designated play areas and staffed provision) were also 
reviewed, updated and collated providing insights into the make up of local communities. 
 

P
age 50



 Assessment Toolkit 

  7 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

Phase 2: Satisfaction Survey – All primary schools in the county borough were asked to support all children in year 5 to complete an online survey 
regarding their satisfaction with their opportunities for play. Targeting a single age group of children helped to limit the size of the survey but also 
enabled data to be compared across communities. By the age of 9 or 10 children should be playing out and about in their local communities and the 
experiences of this age group can therefore be seen as an indicator of local conditions for playing. Older children (teenagers) and parents of younger 
children were then involved in the case study research in the next phase. 
 
The aim of this research was to generate a large response rate, providing a measure of general satisfaction levels and identifying broad factors that 
influence differences in satisfaction as well as an indication of areas rating different degrees of satisfaction, where further investigative work could be 
carried out. However a lack of engagement from some schools in the survey meant data relating to particular geographic areas was absent from the 
study. As a consequence it was not possible to make comparisons between all communities. 
 
Phase 3: Case Study Communities – Based on the findings of the survey process above, two case study communities were identified in partnership 
with the lead officers for play sufficiency within the local authority. This included an electoral ward where children rated high satisfaction with play and 
another where they report lower levels of satisfaction. The aim of these case studies was to provide greater depth of research to further investigate 
how levels of satisfaction in these localities are affected by localized social and physical conditions, with the qualitative data generated providing 
insights into children’s and families’ lived experiences (i.e. what’s actually happening ‘on the ground’). 
 
The two case study communities selected were the Cyfarthfa ward, where children who completed the survey rated particularly high satisfaction with 
their opportunities for play, and the Gurnos ward, where more children reported lower levels of satisfaction. The intention was to facilitate three 
focus groups with people living in each ward to compare and contrast the responses of different aged residents. This would include one with children 
in a primary school who had completed the survey, another with teenagers in a secondary school and one more with parents. In practice it was not 
possible to get into secondary schools and arranging focus groups with parents also proved difficult so opportunities had to be taken where they were 
available, which then affected who was involved in the research.  
 
In the Cafarthfa ward the Gellideg Foundation were extremely helpful in providing access to children through their youth club sessions and parents 
through their parent and toddler sessions. However this meant that, apart from the children spoken to in St Mary’s primary school who lived in the 
ward and reported high satisfaction with their play, the majority of those involved in the Cafarthfa ward lived in Gellideg, a particular estate within the 
ward. Furthermore in Gellideg the youth club is primarily accessed by children aged 8 to 12 so whilst a lot of children were involved there was little 
engagement with teenagers. Unfortunately these children had also not had the opportunity to complete the online survey but when involved in the 
focus groups indicated lower levels of satisfaction than children living in other areas of the ward. 
 
In the Gurnos the Local Authority’s youth service provided access to teenagers involved in the girls under 14s football team. These teenage girls shared 
many valuable insights but lived in various locations across the county borough and so were not necessarily representative of teenagers in the Gurnos 

P
age 51



 Assessment Toolkit 

  8 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

ward. The 3Gs Development Trust and the Parent Network Merthyr Tydfil helped to arrange the focus group for parents in the Gurnos and facilitated 
conversations with other older residents.  
 
Despite these challenges a significant number of children of various ages and parents were involved in detailed discussions that provided rich data for 
this assessment.  

Phase 4: Involving Partners - The next phase of the assessment involved a workshop being facilitated with members of the Local Authority’s play 
steering group to explore findings from the satisfaction survey and case study research and discuss their implications for those involved in specific 
areas of work. Data generated through these discussions was added to existing information from the play steering group members to produce a 
detailed account of the ways in which current practices support or constrain play and identify areas for improvement. Following this workshop the 
presentation of findings from the online survey and case study communities was also sent out to all play steering group members to provide a further 
opportunity for comments, especially for those that were unable to attend the workshop.  

Phase 5: Completing the PSA Template – Using the Welsh Government toolkit for Play Sufficiency Assessments, the findings from the community 
based research and feedback from those involved in the play steering group was written into the PSA template. This included completing a strengths 
and weakness analysis for each of the ‘matters’, drawing conclusions from this analysis, identifying strategic priorities and recommending possible 
actions to address these issues.  

Phase 6: Action Planning – Following completion of the PSA template and the identification of strategic priorities and recommendations for action, 
another workshop was facilitated with members of the play steering group to prioritise and cost (so far as is reasonable practicable) the preferred 
actions. The action plan was then finalised in partnership with the Local Authority’s lead officers for play sufficiency.  

Phase 7: Presentation of Findings – The final part of the assessment involved a presentation of findings to the play steering group. This included a 
discussion of how the PSA can informs the local needs assessment and can be built into the planning, implementation and review of the regional and 
local well-being plans. 

P
age 52



 Assessment Toolkit 

  9 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

 

Partnership working 
 

This section should demonstrate to what extent the following (and others) were involved in the undertaking of the Assessment and the 
development of the action plan: 

 Town and Community Councils 

 Third sector organisations, particularly play associations and play providers 

 The private sector if appropriate 

 Community groups 
 

 

In addition to the 211 children in year 5 who completed the online satisfaction survey, a total of 59 people were involved in the focus group sessions, 
this included: 
 

 7 children aged 9 or 10 in St Mary’s Primary School who had rated high satisfaction with their opportunities for play. All of these children live in 
the Cyfarthfa ward, specifically in Hoelgerrig and Twyn Carmel. 

 

 10 children in Goetre Parimary School aged 9 or 10, the majority of which had previously reported lower levels of satisfaction. All these 
children live on the Gurnos estate. 

 

 24 children who attend the youth club run by the Gellideg foundation, all aged 8 to 10 and including 18 girls and 6 boys, were involved across 
three focus groups. All but two lived locally.  

 

 10 girls aged 13 or 14 who are part of the Pen-y-dre under 14s girl’s football team and who live in various wards across the county. 
  

 5 parents/carers who attend the parent and toddler group run by the Gellideg Foundation Group, including 2 grandparents (who’s own 
children had grown up on the estate), 2 mothers of young children (who had themselves been children on the estate) and a nanny who had 
worked on the estate for many years.  

 

 3 mothers (parents to a total of 9 children who’s ages range from 2 to 13) who live in the Gurnos. 
 
 

P
age 53



 Assessment Toolkit 

  10 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

Special thanks goes to St Mary’s Primary School, Goetre Primary School, the Gellideg Foundation, the 3Gs Trust in the Gurnos and the Parent Network 
Merthyr Tydfil for helping to arrange focus groups. Conversations with staff from the three third sector organisations also helped to frame and provide 
context to the feedback from children and parents. 
 
The following members of the Local Authority’s play steering group then contributed to this assessment: 
 

 Chris Hole - Head of Service, Community Wellbeing 

 Diane Jones - Manager for Community Zones & Learning 

 Mary Eaton - Former Youth Support Services and Play Officer 

 Mathew Jenkins - Current Play Officer 

 Sarah Ostler - Early Years and Flying Start coordinator  

 Stacey Chamberlain - Early Years & Childcare Development Officer 

 Lillie Bramley - Gypsy Traveler Coordinator 

 Kerry O’Donovan - Equalities Lead 

 Tom Bramley - Planning Department/Open Spaces 

 Robert Barnett - Parks Department  

 Tina Powell - Family Information Service  

 Emma Christopher - Sports and Leisure (inc disability sport)  

 Dan Bufton - Sports and Leisure (inc disability sport) 

 Sarah Bowen - Schools and Inclusion  

 Nigel Shepherd - Senior Youth & Community Officer  

 Natalie Rees – Natural Resources Wales 

 Michelle Jones – Parent Network Merthyr Tydfil 

 Lisa Clement Williams  -Road safety Highways traffic management 

 Lisa Emerson – Estates Management 

 Richard Marsh – Merthyr Leisure Trust 

 FFion Haf Wilkes – Clybiau Plant Cymru Kids’ Clubs 

 Helen Lang – Manager, Children with Disabilities Team 

P
age 54



 Assessment Toolkit 

  11 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

 

Consultation and participation 
 

This section should describe how the Local Authority has: 

 Obtained the views of children with regards to the play opportunities they currently access, how they would like the community to 
better support them to play and what barriers stop them from playing 

 Obtained the views on play provision from parents, families and other stakeholders  

 Analysed the information and how it has been used to inform future plans 
 

 

The research carried out to inform the 2019 PSA, illustrates that children are capable of providing detailed insights into how their communities work 
and have realistic recommendations for how their opportunities for play could be protected and improved. Children are also enthusiastic to talk about 
their play experiences and so talking about play is a good way of engaging with children. 
 

Satisfaction Survey 
 
The online satisfaction survey was sent to all primary schools but in practice only 8 responded with a total of 211 children completing the survey. 
Based on a total population of 1230 children age 9 or 10 this means that the Local Authority can be 95% certain that the answers given to any question 
in the survey are representative of all people in this age group to within approximately plus or minus 6% (the margin or error). Increasing the number 
of responses to the survey would reduce this margin or error. 
 
The survey asked children a series of questions about their time, space and permission for play before asking them to rate their overall satisfaction 
with their opportunities for play. Responses to this final question are illustrated in the graph below.  
 

P
age 55



 Assessment Toolkit 

  12 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

 
The survey results suggest 56% of 9 and 10 year olds rate their overall satisfaction as great (with little room for improvement) with a further 26% 
rating it as good (but with potential for improvements). This is clearly a positive for Merthyr Tydfil and suggests there are many children who are 
enjoying the opportunities available to them. However the survey also suggests that 1 in 5 children or 20% are less satisfied with their opportunities 
for play and given that playing is central to children’s well-being and healthy development this should be of significant concern. Furthermore the 
survey results also emphasize the securing element of the duty and the need to take action to ensure that those children who report higher levels of 
satisfaction continue to do so. 
 
Whilst the number of responses to the survey was not sufficient to make comparisons between all communities, the survey results provide a useful 
measure in terms of satisfaction levels, which could be revisited in future assessments. A further analysis of the data also helped to identify the broad 
factors that have greatest influence on children’s satisfaction with their opportunities for play. Some of the key findings are highlighted below.  
 
In the graphs that follow, overall responses to the title question are shown in the pie chart. The bar charts then show these responses broken down 
based on how children rated their overall satisfaction with their opportunities for play. For example, in terms of how often children go out to play, the 
survey suggests that the majority of children who rate their satisfaction as great overall are playing out most days or a few days each week. However 
when it comes to those that rate their overall satisfaction as not good or rubbish, the majority report that they hardly ever or don’t play out. 

P
age 56



 Assessment Toolkit 

  13 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

 
How often do you go out to play or hang out with friends? 

 
The range of places children can access for their play also appears to have a significant influence on their overall satisfaction ratings. More than half of 
children who rated only ‘ok’ overall satisfaction report that they can only play in a few of the places they would like to or hardly any of them. The 
range of places children can access is likely to depend on what’s available in their local environment and how far they are allowed to roam. 
 

Can you play in all the places you would like to? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 57



 Assessment Toolkit 

  14 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

 
In contrast, children’s perception of the quality of the places where they play does not appear to be a deciding factor in terms of whether children 
report great, good or ok overall satisfaction. As one participant in the research suggested, children are very good at making do if they have something 
to make do with.  

 
How good are the places you play in? 

 

 
 
The survey results also suggest that outside of children’s own homes, the next most popular places to play are designated play areas closely followed 
by residential streets. 
 
Being allowed to play out clearly affects how children rate their overall satisfaction with their play. Children who rate ok, not good or rubbish overall 
satisfaction are much more likely to be taken to the places where they play by an adult and, as suggested in the focus groups, having adults around 
might not always be what’s best for children’s play 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 58



 Assessment Toolkit 

  15 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

 
How do you usually get to the places where you play? 

 
Similar research carried out in other Welsh Local Authorities has also demonstrated that parents tend to report much lower satisfaction with their 
children’s opportunities for play than their children actually do and this was reflected in the responses given by those involved in the focus groups. 
 

Case Study Communities 
 
Responses from the focus groups have been themed to identify the key issues affecting the sufficiency of children’s opportunities for play. A 
description of feedback under each theme/issue with some example comments has been included below. 
 
Perceptions of play - a key issue in terms of psychological factors is how people think about play, what it is and therefore how it can be provided for. 
There was general consensus amongst primary school aged children that play is: having fun, enjoying yourself, spending time with friends, messing 
about, hanging out, making up games, going to the park, playing things like hide and seek, tag and football. They also placed a strong emphasis on 
playing outdoors and talked about this more readily than playing at home. 
 
Some of the younger children also talked about what age people stopped playing, suggesting that older children (teenagers) didn’t play and wanted to 
go elsewhere and just ‘hang out’. The teenagers spoken to were of a similar opinion suggesting that ‘play’ was something they did when at primary 

P
age 59



 Assessment Toolkit 

  16 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

school and associated it with toys, play centres or playing out. Whilst most were enthusiastic about having played out from the age of 7 or 8, the only 
‘play’ the teenagers said they did now was playing physical sports and otherwise they preferred to talk about ‘hanging out with friends’.  
 
Parental permission for playing out - the vast majority of children spoken to played out in their local neighbourhood. There were only two or three 
individuals across the research cohort that said they didn’t play out at all. Most children have clearly defined boundaries about where they are allowed 
to go although these vary from only being allowed to play in their street to roaming across their local neighbourhood.  
 

“I’m only allowed to go in two streets which is my street and the street next to mine” 
 
Children who rated high satisfaction reported playing out “most of the time” and that they always have people to play with. They also talked about 
playing out in the dark and even in the rain! 
 
People’s sense of community - in both communities parents and carers were positive about where they lived and said that they wouldn’t want to live 
anywhere else. This was primarily because they have grown up in these communities or at least lived there a long time and have friends and family 
living close by. It is likely that these attachments and sense of community impact positively on children’s opportunities for play. 
 

“Yeah cause everyone knows everyone around here so it is like, like if one of our kids went wondering or something you’d probably have 
someone on the phone like (name of child) is over here’” 

 
Parental anxieties associated with other people - despite this sense of community, parents and carers still had anxieties about allowing their children 
out to play. Increases in parental concerns about the safety of their children are a common and well-documented phenomenon across the UK. 
However, whilst the speed of traffic and reckless drivers was a significant concern, parents and carers involved in the research seemed to place a 
greater emphasis on the anti-social behaviour of others as the main reason why they were reluctant to allow their children freedom to play. Although 
some also suggested there might have been a shift in what they think children are capable of: 
 

“My kids done it but when you see the grandkids do it you’re like ‘get down from there now!’” 
 
Whilst both groups of parents shared concerns about anti-social behaviour, who they attributed this too was quite different. In the Gurnos there 
appeared to be generalized fears associated with the attitudes, actions and language of older children, thought to be aged 13 or 14 and there was a lot 
of talk about anti-social behaviour including drinking, drug taking, throwing stones and damaging play equipment or street furniture. Here the 
perception appeared to be that it was children who have changed but also that boredom can lead to anti-social behaviour. In Gellideg concerns 
seemed focused on the actions of a smaller number of individuals and they talked about cycles of anti-social behaviour caused by groups of boys/men 
in their late teens or early twenties. 

P
age 60



 Assessment Toolkit 

  17 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

 
Either way the impact appears to be that children are not being allowed to roam as far as their parents would have been when they were children. 
However it is important to note that even where parents said they didn’t allow their children to play out, those children are still allowed to play in the 
street where they live, although sometimes only under adult supervision (which itself illustrates the parents willingness to support their children’s 
play). This does, however, mean that for some children they are usually playing in the presence of adults (whether that be their parents or school 
staff) and, particularly for the parents from the Gurnos, this has had a significant impact on the age at which their children are allowed to go out 
independently. 
 

“I hate the thought of my son being out anywhere, I don’t like it at all and he’s 13 
 
Children’s fears about other people - in contrast to parents, younger children seemed less concerned about the potentially negative actions of other 
people. Fear of other people was not an issue for the children rating higher satisfaction and they talked about feeling safe in their communities 
because: “We probably know everyone”. 
 
However, the children rating lower satisfaction did identify the behaviour of other children as a potential barrier to their play. Teenagers also talked 
about fears associated with other people, for example, they said they were reluctant to go to the skate park by the leisure centre because it was 
mostly older people rather than their age. 
 
Playing in the presence of adults - generally children were quite positive about adults although there were comments made which suggest they have 
experienced some constraining attitudes: 
 

“Usually I like playing by myself cause then I can do more things with my friends… because with the adults they tell you what to do more and 
they tell you not to climb stuff and then when you’re alone you can do more things” 

 
Some children were also able to identify the constraints on adults that might cause them to be more protective: 
 

“them kind of adults (non-parents/professionals) are bit more protective but not in a bad way… they don’t want anything to happen to us 
because it would be their fault and they don’t want the blame from the parents” 

 
Ease of access to friends - easy access to friends to play with is of the utmost importance to children. Where children can easily meet up with friends 
(without the need for parents to arrange it before hand) they play out and make up their own games. Being with friends also increases the distance 
children are allowed to travel from home and it follows that children who don’t have people to play with are less likely to play out. 
 

P
age 61



 Assessment Toolkit 

  18 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

“like round my street me and all my friends play hide and seek, if we don’t know what to play we just make up our own games” 
 
Teenagers talked about having easier access to friends when at primary school and that access to friends outside of school is now more difficult 
because they live further apart. They also suggested that they stopped ‘playing out’ when they moved to secondary schools: 
 

“where the primary school is mostly that’s where the kids live, like for (younger sister) the schools down there, bottom of the hill, so the kids 
that go to the school is around there so she can knock on their door and they’re there, whereas with other people you gotta message them 

and they might not answer, they might be doing stuff” 
 
Boredom and the role of technology - children who rated higher satisfaction with play rarely talked about being bored. Where as the opposite was 
true for children reporting lower levels of satisfaction: 
 

“It’s boring mostly… cause you just play and then half an hour later you’re just bored, and you don’t want to do anything and you’re just 
sitting in there” 

 
Children who rated high satisfaction didn’t not talk about playing on or with phones or computers until asked specifically about this. In contrast 
children who reported lower satisfaction quickly identified computer games as being a key factor in their play. However children also suggested that 
computers and phones may be relied on more for entertainment where there are fewer alternatives for play. They also talked about using their 
phones to keep in contact with parents whilst out playing.  
 

“Usually technology gets played with most because there’s nothing to do otherwise with anything else” 
 
Teenagers talked about spending much more time at home, on their phones and watching YouTube, although again this wasn’t necessarily out of 
choice. Parents also don’t want their children ‘stuck behind a screen’ but sometimes it’s just easier for children and parents alike: 
 

“And that’s why kids want to stay in on their games, because my boy’s the same, my boy would rather be in on his games but sometimes, I 
don’t like it, but sometimes I prefer him to be in on it” 

 
It is possible that an over-reliance on TV, computers and phones for entertainment is a symptom of children not being enabled to play out, rather than 
a cause of it, which is often assumed to be the case.  
 

P
age 62



 Assessment Toolkit 

  19 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

Time for play in school - the vast majority of children were positive about school providing a secure environment in which they could play with their 
friends. For children who can’t easily meet up with friends outside of school, school is likely to become increasingly important for this reason. However 
for those who can meet up with friends outside of school, playing in school is: “Not better than playing outside after school”. 
 
The children who rated high satisfaction with play reported having half an hour for morning break in school and another half an hour for play at 
lunchtime and thought this was enough. They also said they were allowed to use most of the school grounds, including the field. In contrast the 
children who reported lower satisfaction only had 15 minutes in the morning and didn’t think they had enough time, primarily because it takes time 
for their games to develop: 
 

“When it’s boring like… and when its getting funner and then you got to go in then” 
 
For some, playtime was the only redeeming feature of the school day. Other children identified a lack of resources or suggested resources had been 
removed or types of play banned due to health and safety concerns. There were also concerns about lack of space and how this made playing more 
difficult: 
 

“Better in some ways but then worst some ways, because first of all the good expectation is you have loads more people to play with but 
then you don’t have that much space, cause everyone else is… and you have to find a spot where no one else is” 

 
Parents didn’t talk much about their children’s opportunities for play in school, although one (who had worked in the local school) acknowledged: “If 
school is a happy place, then the learning will come”. 
 
Time for play outside of school - primary school aged children didn’t identify homework as a significant constraint on their time for play, in fact, those 
that rated high satisfaction with play enjoyed their homework because: “most of it is art and creating things”. However the situation was very 
different for those in secondary school where homework was identified as a major constraint on their time outside of school, to the point where they 
didn’t feel like they had any free time during the school week, only at weekends. 
 

“I feel like we have too much time in school, we spend six hours a day in school and then we come home and have to do even more school” 
 
Time in other recreational activities - with the exception of ‘youth’ (youth club) children didn’t mention other out of school activities when asked 
about the places where they usually play. They only started to talk about clubs they attend when asked what else they do with their time outside of 
school. Children then talked about attending football clubs, rugby, gymnastics, trampolining, ICT sessions after school, a pony club on weekends, 
scouts and swimming. These other activities didn’t appear to infringe greatly on children’s time for play, although some children identified a potential 
impact: 

P
age 63



 Assessment Toolkit 

  20 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

 
“Sometimes clubs do because you’re playing with your friends and then your friends go to clubs” 

 
The impact of community work - parents in both communities talked positively about the impact of different types of community work they had 
experience of in the past: 
 

“They were like community wardens and they were funded and they would do things with the kids and they were good and then they were removed” 
 
These parents also talked about the community wardens checking in on other residents. Other adults had ideas for park wardens to keep play areas 
clean and provide security to children: 
 

“we need to go back to that so that when the kids go there you know that person would know the parents, would know sort of the area and 
they’d have somebody there” 

 
Access to staffed play and youth provision - primary school aged children living in the Cyfarthfa ward were quick to identify “youth” (youth club) as a 
time and place where they play. In this ward the ‘youth’ provision is available to 8 to 10 years olds and the children were very positive about the 
service on offer: 

“Youth clubs the best because you can play all the games.” 
 
Interestingly this age of children also talked about making use of youth shelters (which they called “pumpkins”) and kick about areas, provision that is 
often intended for older children but is being readily used by younger ones. 
 
In Gellideg parents talked about positive relationships between youth workers and older children which were perceived to have had a positive impact 
on community relations with teenagers due to attachments formed throughout their childhoods. They also explained that as part of Communities 
First, playscheme sessions used to run down on the Gellideg fields with mud kitchens, cardboard boxes and dens all popular with younger children.  
 

“Fortunately the kids that are coming through don’t seem as bad, so perhaps really if you think about, perhaps Flying Start and Communities 
First and youth club it has made a difference now cause the kids that are, the naughty ones or the disruptive ones have started to have 
children of their own and grown out of it or grown up a bit and now the kids that are coming up don’t seem so bad so perhaps its taken that 
long to make a difference” 

 
Primary school aged children from the Gurnos didn’t talk about accessing a youth club. There is one youth club located centrally at the 3Gs Trust, 
which is very well attended but only open to those aged 11+. However parents from the Gurnos talked about how they had played out from around 

P
age 64



 Assessment Toolkit 

  21 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

the age of seven and had access to weekly youth club sessions from the age of 8 or 9. They also talked about going to the community centre to play 
football, attending jazz band and visiting the local playscheme in the school holidays. These parents were of the opinion that there was now much less 
free provision available to children. 
 
Cost - cost wasn’t really an issue for younger children, probably because they spend so much of their time playing in places that don’t cost money (and 
perhaps because they’re not directly responsible for paying). In contrast, whilst parental permission didn’t seem to be a problem for the teenagers 
spoken to (who were pretty much allowed to go anywhere in Merthyr as long as they let their parents know), cost was a significant factor as well as a 
perceived lack of appropriate provision: 
 

“More stuff for our age where you don’t have to spend that much money” 
 
Parents also had concerns about costs, including those associated with accessing provision which is actually free on the point of entry: 
 

“but then there’s costs to get her there and then there’s getting up there and fetching her back home” 
 
Amount and speed of traffic - the speed of cars and motorbikes and instances of reckless driving are a significant concern for children, particularly 
those living in Gellideg where they shared stories of near misses and actual accidents. In contrast, children who rated high satisfaction and lived in 
other parts of the Cyfarthfa ward suggested that although there were a lot of cars, these are easier to avoid where there are traffic free routes 
through the community: 
 

“Cause there’s very little cars. There’s lots of them but there’s like little gaps so you can like miss the cars” 
 
Parents also thought that the amount and speed of traffic on residential roads had a direct influence on whether children were allowed out to play: 
 

“I live like on the main road so like obviously if my little girl’s there she’ll play in the garden but obviously she’s on her own then” 
 
In Gellideg parents requested more traffic calming measures, despite speed bumps already being in place and suggested that the number of car users 
working at the local housing office had led to an increase in parking on residential streets. 
 
‘Quality’ of the physical environment - children who rated high satisfaction were positive about their local environments and really had to be 
encouraged to identify potential improvements (despite some of the local play provision being of poor quality). In contrast the quality of their 
environments was much more of an issue for children living in both Gellideg and the Gurnos. Here children talked about having ‘nothing to do’ and 
complained about litter, broken glass, dog poo and even rats. 

P
age 65



 Assessment Toolkit 

  22 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

 
“In the streets there’s a lot of things that are just plain, like add stuff in to them so like we can play” 

 

Local designated play areas - where local play areas exist these appear to be well used and valued by both children and parents. These designated 
spaces can provide a landmark and a safe haven for play: 
 

“Before I was only allowed in the park but now I’m used to it my mother lets me go further” 
 

From speaking to parents it is also clear that play provision matters to communities. Parents also emphasized the value of having access to local 
provision. For example in the Gurnos, whilst they talked about taking their children on trips to Cyfarthfa Park in summer, it’s the local play areas they 
use for playing after school. 
 

Where designated play areas exist the majority of children talked about simple improvements mostly involving adding additional pieces of equipment 
or improving the appearance of what was already there. However, where there is no local play area, both children and adults identified this as one of 
the major improvements that could be made: 

 

“May be like more of a secure space, like somewhere that is not so far away, where are parents can see us, it could be a place where our 
parents could come and watch us” 

 

Children who reported high satisfaction were positive about the places where they played despite some of the play provision being of very poor 
quality. They liked ‘kick about’ areas to and identified the value of other natural features. They could even put a positive spin on a very run down play 
area: 

“cause we can still play there even though its not in good condition, we can still go around it, it won’t collapse or anything” 
 

However others said they didn’t play in their local play area since equipment had been removed. In the words of one girl, whose local play area is at 
the top of a very long steep hill and only consists of one set of swings: “it kind of sucks”. However the apparent poor quality of these designated play 
areas did not reduce these children’s level of satisfaction or prevent them from playing out.  
 

Destination Parks - children didn’t really talk about destination play spaces like Cyfarthfa Park, however some of the adults did. For example, there is 
no play area in Gellideg so apart from the parent and toddler group, parents felt there was nowhere in the community to take younger children and so 
they travel to destination playgrounds instead. However they also suggested it could become extremely busy in summer: 
 

“you want to see Cyfartha park in the summer, honestly its like a bee hive up there, its dangerous actually, because the outdoor play spaces 
are that limited people go from everywhere in Merthyr and you can’t spot your child, it does put you off, it can be off putting”  

P
age 66



 Assessment Toolkit 

  23 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

 

Maximising Resources 

This section should provide an overview as to how partners currently use their existing budgets to support children‟s access to play 
opportunities. It should identify how budgets have been reprioritised as part of the 2019 Play Sufficiency Assessments and subsequent 
plans. Please use this section to highlight what has changed since the 2016 Play Sufficiency Action Plan in terms of how resources are 
allocated. Please also highlight how Welsh Government programmes have been used locally for the provision of play and how they have 
addressed priorities from your 2016 play sufficiency assessment. 

 
Strengths 
 
Funding is allocated for the production of sufficiency assessments within the Local Authority’s budget for Community Well-being. However this 
includes the childcare sufficiency assessment as well as the PSA and may in the future include a youth sufficiency assessment if required by Welsh 
Government. As long as these assessments are not required in the same year, the current situation means there are dedicated resources available for 
completing these types of assessment.  
 
Partners involved in the play steering group have pre-empted the Welsh Government making additional funding available to support the Play 
Sufficiency Duty at the end of each financial year by identifying opportunities for one off investments and developing a range of time limited projects. 
This has enabled the delivery of training and qualifications, conferences, physical improvements to designated play spaces and research/evaluation 
projects. 
 
The Local Authority’s play sufficiency action plan is also supported through the Childcare and Play Grant, this has included funding the principle play 
officer, publicising the benefits of play, commissioning training and purchasing play equipment. 
 
Youth services funded by the Communities First Legacy Fund are making a significant contribution to the sufficiency of children’s opportunities for 
play, particularly where targeted at children aged 8 upwards. 
 
There are examples of partnership working having improved since the last PSA in 2016. In some cases this has led to significant improvements in the 
quality of public open space and play provision. Furthermore the Community Zone is an example of a multi-disciplinary partnership approach, where 
the combining of complimentary agendas and the pooling of financial and human resources has the potential to address play sufficiency as a key 
element of its remit.  
 

P
age 67



 Assessment Toolkit 

  24 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

Shortfalls 
 
Investment and interventions in respect of children’s play provision have not always been based on evidence gained from direct work with children. 
This is significant because as suggested by the research carried out to inform the 2019 PSA, adult assumptions are often misaligned with the views of 
children and may not accurately represent what children need or want. 
 
Recommendation 1: Facilitate a rolling program of small-scale research projects, targeting particular groups of children and specific geographic 
areas to ensure that resources contribute to securing and improving children’s experiences of play sufficiency, as well as adding to the local 
authority’s broader understanding of the Play Sufficiency Duty.  
 
Shortfalls 
 
In the absence of alternative and more sustained funding to support play, much of the Local Authority’s work in respect of the Play Sufficiency Duty is 
reliant on the funding made available by WG at the end of each financial year. However it is not possible to use this short-term funding to support the 
provision of longer-term community development type work need to change and maintain perceptions within communities. Capacity to spend 
relatively large and sudden allocations of funding is also an issue. 
 
Recommendation 2: Carry out a mapping exercise to establish organisations and individuals working in local communities who may be able to 
influence community perceptions around play and act as play champions and/or facilitators of play opportunities.  
 
Shortfalls 
 
The closure of the Communities First programme and the subsequent reduction in funding for community support services in economically deprived 
areas has resulted in fewer community development type workers who would have previously supported community cohesion, facilitating 
relationships within a community and helping to maintain community assets. Furthermore the Communities First Legacy Fund is due to end in the next 
12 to 18 months and the future of services funded through this programme is therefore uncertain. 
 
The reduction in available resources as a result of austerity measures has meant the renovation of local areas for play has been made all but 
impossible (this issue will be addressed further under Matter C). However there has been some investment in designated play spaces by housing 
associations and other public services like the hospital in the Gurnos.  

P
age 68



 Assessment Toolkit 

  25 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

 

The Play Sufficiency Assessment and Local Well-being Plans 

This section should identify how the Play Sufficiency Assessments form part of the local needs assessment and to what extent the Play 
Sufficiency Assessment and Action Plan are integrated into the Well-being Plan and Public Service Board. 

 

Strengths 
 
The regional Cwm Taf Well-Being Plan 2018 to 2023, states that: “Children are spending less time outdoors but access to safe, natural play space 
outdoors has been shown to improve children’s physical and emotional wellbeing”. It goes to identify a range of issues across the themes of cultural, 
environmental, social and mental well-being that could be addressed in part by protecting and improving people’s opportunities for play. It also 
describes an asset based approach that is aligned with aims of the Play Sufficiency Duty in terms of protecting and improving community assets for 
play, with a long term vision of developing: “a better understanding of our natural assets and how our actions impact on them” 

 
The introduction to Focus on the Future, Merthyr Tydfil’s own well-being plan, describes an approach aligned with the findings of this play sufficiency 
assessment. In particular it talks about empowering community action as a way to improve wellbeing, focussing on what people value most, adopting 
a community development approach and using experience to achieve positive and lasting change. The plan goes on to reference the five ways to 
working identified in the Well-Being of Future Generations Act and sets out a range of objectives that work associated with the Play Sufficiency Duty 
will inevitably address.  
 
Shortfalls 
 
The regional Well-Being Plan makes no reference to the Play Sufficiency Duty and fails to acknowledge how improving conditions for play could help to 
address many of the plan’s priorities. Furthermore Focus on the Future, Merthyr Tydfil’s well-being plan makes no reference to children’s play or the 
Play Sufficiency Duty.  
 
There is no named person on the Local Public Service Board who champions children’s play and ensures that the Play Sufficiency Assessment and 
Action Plan contribute to and are incorporated within the Well-being Plan. 
 
Recommendation 3: Identify a play champion within the Public Service Board and ensure this person has a comprehensive understanding of the 
Play Sufficiency Duty and findings from the LA’s play sufficiency assessments.  
 

P
age 69



 Assessment Toolkit 

  26 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

 

Monitoring Play Sufficiency 

This section should identify the lead director and lead member for children and young people‟s services.  It should also describe the Play 
Monitoring Group or equivalent.  Along with a list of members, please describe how the group has been facilitated and the benefits and 
challenges of the group. 

 

Sue Walker – Chief Officer for Education.  
 Councillor Chris Davies – Children’s Champion 
 
Full list of the membership of the Local Authority’s play steering group: 
 

Named Contact  Role/ Department  Accountability under Matters in PSA 

Chris Hole (Lead Officer) Head of Service, Community Wellbeing  

Diane Jones Manager for Community Zones & Learning  

Matthew Jenkins Play Officer  

Sarah Ostler  Early Years and Flying Start Co-ordinator  Matter D: Supervised provision 

Matter F: Access to space/provision 

Matter G: Securing and developing the workforce 

Matter I: Play within all relevant policy and implementation 
agendas 

Stacy Chamberlain Early Years & Childcare Development Officer Matter D: Supervised provision 

Matter F: Access to space/provision 

Matter G: Securing and developing the workforce 

Matter I: Play within all relevant policy and implementation 

P
age 70



 Assessment Toolkit 

  27 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

agendas workforce 

Helen Lang Manager Children With Disabilities 
Team/Inclusion 

Matter B: Providing for diverse needs 

Lillie Bramley 

 

Housing/Gypsy Travellers Matter B: Providing for diverse needs 

Kerry O’Donovan Equalities Lead Matter B: Providing for diverse needs 

Tom Bramley  Planning Department/Open Spaces Matter C: Space available for children to play 

Robert Barnett Parks Department  Matter C: Space available for children to play 

Tina Powell  Family Information Service  Matter C: Space available for children to play 

Matter F: Access to space/provision 

Emma Christopher/ Dan 
Bufton 

Sports and Leisure (inc disability sport)  Matter D: Supervised provision 

Richard Marsh  Leisure Trust   

Lisa Clement- Williams  Road Safety  

Highways/ Traffic Management  

Matter F: Access to space/provision 

Lisa Emerson  Estates Management  Matter C: Space available for children to play 

Matter I: Play within all relevant policy and implementation 
agendas 

Sarah Bowen  Schools and Inclusion (inc Gypsy Traveller 
communities)  

Matter B: Providing for diverse needs 

Matter I: Play within all relevant policy and implementation 
agendas 

P
age 71



 Assessment Toolkit 

  28 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

Nigel Shepherd  Senior Youth & Community Officer  Matter D: Supervised provision 

Matter H: Community engagement and participation 

Ffion Haf-Wilkes Clubiau Plant Cymru Kids’ Clubs  Matter B: Providing for diverse needs 

Matter D: Supervised provision 

Matter G: Securing and developing the workforce 

Natalie Rees Natural Resource Wales Matter B: Providing for diverse needs 

Matter H: Community engagement and participation 

Matter I: Play within all relevant policy and implementation 
agendas 

Michelle Jones Parent Network Matter C: Space available for children to play  

Matter H: Community engagement and participation 

 
Strengths 
 
The Local Authority has recruited a dedicated part-time play lead with 15 hours a week allocated to supporting the Play Sufficiency Duty, funded from 
the Childcare and Play Grant. Establishing this post has helped the play steering group to maintain momentum and ensured that someone has (albeit 
limited) capacity to drive the play sufficiency agenda forward. 
 
The Local Authority has a formally recognised play steering group with clearly defined terms of reference, cross directorate representation and clear 
reporting mechanisms. Members of the steering group have allocated areas of responsibility associated with the matters addressed in the Play 
Sufficiency Duty and work collaboratively to progress and report on actions associated with their area of responsibility. 
 
Play sufficiency action plans are developed and progress is reviewed regularly. Annual information reports to cabinet aim to maintain interest in the 
Play Sufficiency Duty, ensure the play steering group has some accountability and provides an opportunity to report on positive developments. 
 
Responsibility for the Play Sufficiency Duty is well located in Community Well-Being alongside youth support services, Families First, Flying Start and 
Community Zones.  

P
age 72



 Assessment Toolkit 

  29 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

 
Shortfall 
 
Membership on the play steering group is mostly made up of Local Authority officers with limited representation from partner agencies. Most notably 
there is a lack of representation from influential and strategic bodies like Public Health Wales and third sector organisations with experience of 
supporting children’s play. 
 
Recommendation 4: Expand the membership of the play steering group to include representation from strategic bodies such as Public Health 
Wales, as well as third sector organisations that work in local communities and have an interest in the strategic support of children’s play.  
 
Shortfall 
 
Since the introduction of the Play Sufficiency Duty there has been a need to repeatedly reinvigorate the play steering group as a proactive working 
group. Engagement of LA departments in the assessment process has also been limited. As a consequence there is a need to find ways of maintaining 
engagement throughout the process of assessing and securing play sufficiency.   
 
Recommendation 5: In addition to reviewing progress against the Local Authority’s action plan, play steering group meetings should be used as an 
opportunity to discuss and plan partnership responses to the findings from localised play sufficiency assessments, other relevant research projects 
and instances where local areas for play are due to be decommissioned.  
 
 
 

 
 

P
age 73



 Assessment Toolkit 

  30 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

Criteria  

This section contains the “matters that need to be taken into account” as set out under section 10 of the Statutory Guidance. 
 
The Criteria column: sets out the data that needs to be available and the extent to which Local Authorities meet the stated criteria. 
 
The RAG status column: provides a drop down box, whereby the Local Authority can show its assessment of whether that criterion is 
fully met; partially met; or not met.   These have been given Red, Amber Green markers, which appear as words in the drop down boxes. 
 
Red, Amber Green (RAG) status is a tool to communicate status quickly and effectively. 
 

RAG status 
 

Criteria fully met. Fully met 

Criteria partially met. Partially met  

Criteria not met. Not met  

 

The 2019 column enables the local authority to indicate the direction of travel with the insertion of arrows.  
 
The Evidence to support strengths column: should be used to provide the reason for the chosen criteria status and how the evidence is 
held. 
 
The Shortfall column: should be used to explain the areas in which the Local Authority does not fully meet the criteria. 
 
The Identified Action for Action Plan column: should be used to show the Local Authority action planning priorities for that Matter.  
  
The Comments section:  asks some specific questions for each matter that should enable you to give a clear overview of how the Local 
Authority complies with the intention and implementation of this matter as set out fully in the Statutory Guidance. It also provides the 
opportunity to identify challenges and how they might be overcome. 
 

P
age 74



 Assessment Toolkit 

  31 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

 
Matter A: Population 
 

The Play Sufficiency Assessment should provide an overview of population and demographic data used locally to plan for play provision.  
Information should also be included regarding: 

 Ages of children 

 First language Welsh speaking children 

 Cultural factors (such as other language) 

 Gypsy Traveller children  

 Disabled children 
 
What has changed in terms of population and demographic trends since Play Sufficiency Assessment 2016? 
 

Based on mid-year 2017 population estimates from StatsWales, there are 12,376 children aged 0 to 17 living in Merthyr Tydfil, which represents just 
over 21% of the entire population. Of these children 3719 or 29% are aged 0 to 4 (and could be referred to as being in their ‘early years’), 5765 or 
45% are aged between 5 to 12 (which could be referred to as ‘middle childhood) and 3252 or 26% are aged between 13 and 17 (the teenage or 
adolescent years). 
 
The data on mid-year population estimates is available broken down into LSOA areas. This includes the number of children by age and the percentage 
of the population they make up in each area. As illustrated in the table below, the communities where the highest percentage of the population is 
under the age of 17 tend to be those that are also ranked most deprived in the Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation.  
 
Table 1: LSOAs where the highest percentage of the population is under 17: 

LSOA WIMD Rank # 0 to 4s % 0 to 4s # 5 to 12s % 5 to 12s # 13 to 17 % 13 to 17 # 0 to 17 % 0 to 17 

Cyfarthfa 2 30 178 9.9 233 13.0 87 4.8 498 27.7 

Gurnos 1 32 126 7.7 196 12.0 99 6.1 421 25.8 

Gurnos 2 61 157 8.3 222 11.7 128 6.7 507 26.7 

Gurnos 3 121 135 7.0 255 13.3 135 7.0 525 27.4 

Merthyr Vale 2 8 81 7.3 118 10.6 69 6.2 268 24.0 

Penydarren 1 14 97 7.4 202 15.4 98 7.5 397 30.3 

Penydarren 2 203 108 7.9 164 12.1 105 7.7 377 27.7 

 
 

P
age 75



 Assessment Toolkit 

  32 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

 
In Mertyr Tydfil population density within LSOAs ranges from 60 people per square kilometre in Vaynor 2 to 7865 in Penydarren 4. LSOAs in the 
Gurnos, Park and Pendarren wards have significantly higher population densities than other areas. At a ward level, the Cyfarthfa, Town and Gurnos 
Wards consistently have the highest numbers of 0 to 4s, 5 to 12s and 13 to 17 year olds. However it is the Cyfarthfa, Gurnos and Penydarren wards 
where these ages of children make up the highest percentages of the population, with the Gurnos consistently topping these categories. 
 
Table 2: Ward population by population density and age of children with top three highlighted in each category: 

Ward Population 
Density 

# 0 to 4s % 0 to 4s # 5 to 12s % 5 to 12s # 13 to 17 % 13 to 17 # 0 to 17 % 0 to 17 

Bedlinog 238 231 6.4 349 9.6 190 5.2 770 21.2 

Cyfarthfa 1,054 538 7.2 806 10.8 392 5.3 1,736 23.4 

Dowlais 627 416 6.1 565 8.3 353 5.2 1,334 19.7 

Gurnos 3,557 418 7.7 673 12.4 362 6.6 1,453 26.7 

Merthyr Vale 450 241 6.5 349 9.4 235 6.3 825 22.1 

Park 2,087 227 5.3 344 8.0 217 5.0 788 18.3 

Penydarren 4,860 379 6.9 662 12.1 344 6.3 1,385 25.2 

Plymouth 252 281 5.3 500 9.4 252 4.7 1,033 19.4 

Town 1,039 435 5.5 716 9.0 396 5.0 1,547 19.5 

Treharris 783 381 6.0 525 8.3 324 5.1 1,230 19.5 

Vaynor 125 172 4.8 276 7.8 187 5.3 635 17.9 

 
In terms of ethnicity, data from the 2011 census suggests 94.6% of the population define themselves as ‘White British’ and a further 2.7% as ‘Other 
White’. For 96.9% of the population aged 3 or over their main language is English or Welsh, with the next most commonly spoken language being 
Polish (940), then Portuguese (311) and Filipino (97). The Gurnos has the highest percentage of Non White British residents at 9.6%, followed by Park 
(7.2%), Dowlais (7%), Town (6.6%) and Penydarren (6.2%). The 2011 Census also shows that there are 62 individuals who identify their ethnicity as 
White Gypsy or Irish Traveller. Two thirds of these individuals (41) were residents of Plymouth (the location of the Glynmill site), Town and Gurnos 
wards. 
 
Data for children with limiting life-long illnesses is also available from the 2011 Census, which asked the question “Are your day-to-day activities 
limited because of a health problem or disability which has lasted, or is expected to last, at least 12 months?”. In Merthyr Tydfil 314 people between 
ages of 0 and 19 are identified as having a long-term health problem or disability that limits their day-to-day activities ‘a lot’ and a further 446 who 
have a condition that limits their activities ‘a little’. Mapping the data shows a strong relationship between deprivation and child disability / poor 

P
age 76



 Assessment Toolkit 

  33 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

health. All LSOAs within the highest 10% also have 7% or more children with poor health / disabilities (information taken from the 2016 PSA). 
 
Merthyr Tydfil’s 2017 Childcare Sufficiency Assessment provides further details concerning demographics associated with the demand for childcare, 
including population projections and the number of children with ‘special educational needs’ based on 2016 PLASC data. 
 
According to the census 2011, 1993 children aged 3 to 15 in Merthyr Tydfil can speak Welsh (although their main language may not be Welsh) and 
PLASC returns (Jan 2015) recorded 8% of all pupils in Welsh medium education (information taken from the 2016 PSA).  
 

Mid-year population estimates data source: https://tinyurl.com/yxcfqgr 

Census data source: http://www.ukcensusdata.com/merthyr-tydfil-w06000024#sthash.dpbs 

How has/will the Local Authority use its population data to plan for sufficient play opportunities locally? 
 

To inform this assessment a spreadsheet was produced providing a breakdown of the number of different aged children in each LSOA and electoral 
ward and the percentage of the population they represent in each area. This was combined with data on population densities, rankings from the 
Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation and results from the play sufficiency satisfaction survey. Whilst the number of responses to the satisfaction 
survey was not sufficient to determine how children living in each different community rate their opportunities for play, the responses that have 
been provided suggest that children living in the more densely populated and economically deprived areas of the county are more likely to report 
lower levels of satisfaction. These also tend to be the areas where children make up higher percentages of the population.  
 
Have there been challenges? 
 

Data sources including (but not limited to) the census and subsequent mid-year population estimates, PLASC database, Welsh Index of Multiple 
Deprivation, Open Space Assessments and information on services held by FIS could be combined to create community profiles, which could then 
help to guide interventions in support of children’s play. However this is not currently the case. Furthermore none of these existing dataset provide 
an indication of the sufficiency of children’s opportunities for play beyond the accessibility of designated public open spaces and the availability of 
childcare services. 
 

Ward level analysis of the play sufficiency satisfaction data is not necessarily representative of smaller areas or particular estates within these wards. 
For example, whilst the satisfaction survey suggested that the majority of children aged 9 or 10 living in the Cyfarthfa ward rated high satisfaction, in 
reality these children attended two particular schools with other schools in the ward not partaking in the survey. As a consequence children living in 
particular parts of the ward were underrepresented in the survey, including those living on the Gellideg estate who, when involved in the focus 
groups, indicated lower levels of satisfaction with their opportunities for play.  

P
age 77

https://tinyurl.com/yxcfqgr
http://www.ukcensusdata.com/merthyr-tydfil-w06000024#sthash.dpbs


 Assessment Toolkit 

  34 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

 
How can these be overcome? 

Data produced from the satisfaction survey could be added to other existing demographic, public open space and service provision data to create 
community profiles that provide an indication of the sufficiency of children’s opportunities for play. However this would be dependent on ensuring 
the majority of children in the target age group complete the satisfaction survey. Using children’s postcodes and mapping this data could then help to 
identify particular geographic areas where children report lower levels of satisfaction with their opportunities for play. 

Recommendation 6: Revisit the satisfaction survey every three years to establish any change in reported levels of sufficiency and to identify areas 
for further research. To ensure high response rates, schools should be incentivised to participate. 
 
RAG Status for Matter A 
 

Criteria fully met.  

Criteria partially met. X 

Criteria not met.  
 

P
age 78



 Assessment Toolkit 

  35 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

 

Matter B: Providing for Diverse Needs 
 

The Play Sufficiency Assessment should present data about how the Local Authority and partners aim to offer play opportunities that are 
inclusive and encourage all children to play and meet together.  
 

RAG Status: 

Criteria fully met.  

Criteria partially met.  

Criteria not met.  
 

 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support strengths Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

B1 The play 
requirements of 
children living in 
isolated rural areas 
are understood 
and provided for 

  
 

The Open Space Strategy provides 
a summary overview of the 
amount and type of public open 
space within each ward and the 
percentage of the population in 
each area that have access to the 
available space within 
recommended walking distances. 
 
 
 
 
 

The Bedlinog, Plymouth and 
Vaynor wards have the lowest 
population densities in Merthyr 
Tydfil. Despite their relatively 
rural location these wards are 
identified has having an under 
supply and therefore poor access 
to a range of different types of 
space including amenity, natural, 
semi-natural or multifunctional 
green spaces. Vaynor and 
Plymouth also have poor access 
to designated areas for children’s 
play. 
 
Beyond the Open Space Strategy 
little is known about the play 
opportunities of children living in 
isolated rural areas. 

 P
age 79



 Assessment Toolkit 

  36 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support strengths Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

B2 The play 
requirements of 
Welsh language 
speaking children 
are understood 
and provided for 

  
 

Choice of language was not raised 
as an issue during the research 
carried out to inform this 
assessment. 
 
The Youth Strategy recognises that 
Welsh language continues to be an 
area for development and aims to 
ensure 100% of services promote 
the use of the Welsh language to 
young 
people, developing ownership and 
raising cultural awareness. 
 

Since the last PSA in 2016 the 
open access play sessions that 
Groundwork Wales were 
providing have ended. These 
sessions were previously offered 
bilingually. 
 
 

B3 The play 
requirements of 
children from 
different cultural 
background are 
understood and 
provided for 

  
 

 MAGNET the Big Lottery funded 
project aimed at increasing the 
voice of citizens, especially those 
who are most marginalised, in 
policy, planning and delivery 
processes, ended in March 2017. 
 
No specific research has been 
carried out with children from 
minority ethnic backgrounds to 
establish the sufficiency of their 
opportunities for play. 
 

B4 The play 
requirements and 
support needs of 

  
 

A question included in the 
satisfaction survey asked children 
whether they considered 

The relationship between poor 
health, disability and deprivation 
in Merthyr is pronounced. This 

P
age 80



 Assessment Toolkit 

  37 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support strengths Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

disabled children 
are understood 
and provided for. 

themselves to be disabled. Of the 
five children who said yes, all 
reported high satisfaction with 
their opportunities for play. 
However this response rate is too 
low to draw conclusions from and 
provides no detail about the 
support requirements of these 
children. 
 
 

has required a greater focus in 
specific areas and hindered a 
universal service offer. 
 
No specific research has been 
carried out with disabled children 
or their parents/carers to 
establish the sufficiency of their 
opportunities for play. 
 

B5 Play projects and 
providers have 
access to a range 
of resources which 
support inclusion 

  
 

Using Families First funding, the 
Local Authority are working with 
SNAP Cymru to deliver the 
AmberGreen Inclusion Scheme. 
The scheme is based on the social 
model of disability and emphasises 
the importance of a warm 
welcome over the provision 
physical features to support 
inclusion. It offers settings a 
structure approach to preparing, 
developing and reviewing inclusive 
practices and recognises that the 
process of working through the 
scheme contributes to the 
“inclusive development of 
settings”.  
Green Status was achieved by: 
4 Childcare settings  

Restructuring of Families First has 
however removed separate 
funding for this service. It is 
however hoped the organisation 
will continue to offer the 
inclusion scheme award.  

P
age 81



 Assessment Toolkit 

  38 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support strengths Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

6 Organisations / Services 
2 Youth Services Providers  
 
Amber Status was achieved by: 
2 Youth services Providers  
 
 
 
The AWPOG is also being used to 
commission inclusive play training 
for childcare practitioners. 
 

B6 There is a well 
known and agreed 
mechanism which 
is used to identify 
the need for 
separate provision 
for disabled 
children 

  
 

Within the Local Authority’s 
Children with Disabilities service, 
children are assessed for need and 
service upon intake and referral. 
There are currently approximately 
90 children with functionality 
needs who require a specific 
service of support to access leisure 
opportunities. This support is 
provided by either direct payments 
to access provision or through 
Leisure Link workers for those 
children who require significant 
support. 
When families access they are 
assessed in Line with Social 
Services and Wellbeing Act (2014) 
Some disabled children up to the 

There is a lack of specialist 
holiday play and leisure provision 
in the area. 

P
age 82



 Assessment Toolkit 

  39 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support strengths Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

age of 12 access Trinity day care 
and a charity provider, Bridging the 
gap, for 12 years and older 
 
 

B7 Access audits for 
all play provision 
as described in the 
guidance are 
undertaken 

  
 

Access audits to public open spaces 
are undertaken through the Open 
Space Strategy. 
 
Using funding from the AWPOG 
18/19, the Local Authority has 
commissioned an audit of staffed 
provision that supports children’s 
opportunities to play outside of 
school to determine what services 
are accessible to disabled children. 
 

 

B8 Designated play 
space is provided 
and well 
maintained on 
Gypsy Traveller 
sites 

  
 

The appointment of a Gypsy 
Traveller Coordinator, who is also a 
member of the play steering group, 
has rejuvenated efforts to improve 
opportunities for play on the Glyn 
Mill Site. This work demonstrates 
the value of a community 
development approach, which has 
resulted in good working 
relationships on site between the 
Local Authority and site owner. The 
officer is now reaching out to local 
services to provide on site and in 

 

P
age 83



 Assessment Toolkit 

  40 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support strengths Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

the Glyn Mill centre. Furthermore 
funding allocated to supporting the 
Gypsy Traveller community can 
potentially be spent on play 
provision. 

The Inclusions team MTCBC have 
since March 2018 taken lead on 
the Cobs Youth Forum as part of 
the Bridges Project exit strategy. 
 
Childcare and play Grant has 
funded a six week series of play 
sessions in the GRT community 
centre, and 4x play sessions during 
school half term. 
  
 Art is Community – a charity –ran 
a project in the GRT community 
with young people, which resulted 
in active engagement in 
recreational activity, and a display 
of the sculpture in a local college. 
 

B9 The requirements 
of young carers 
are understood 
and provided for 

  
 

Barnardo’s Young Carers Service 
supports young carers aged 5 – 18 
years old who have caring 
responsibilities. The service 
provides after-school groups, 
activity days, residential breaks, in-

No specific research has been 
carried out with young carers to 
establish the sufficiency of their 
opportunities for play 

P
age 84



 Assessment Toolkit 

  41 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support strengths Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

school support, one-to-one 
support and any other support the 
young carer and/or their family 
may need, meeting the statutory 
requirement. 
 

B10 The requirements 
of lesbian, gay or 
bisexual (LGB) 
children are 
understood and 
provided for 

  
 

MTCBC Trans Gender Policy 
/Guidance in place and been 
endorsed by LGBT group, training 
delivered in schools. 
 
Youth service staff have 
undertaken LGBT+ Awareness 
Level 3 as part of staff training. 
 
 

No specific research has been 
carried out with LGB children to 
establish the sufficiency of their 
opportunities for play 
 
 

 

 
Providing for Diverse Needs 
 
How has data been used (or how will the data be used) to address the barriers that children with diverse needs face in 
accessing inclusive and accessible opportunities for playing? 
 

If the response rate to the satisfaction survey was higher and if all children were supported to include their correct postcodes then the satisfaction 
data could potentially be mapped, allowing rurally isolated children and their reported levels of satisfaction to be identified. Future play satisfaction 
surveys could also incorporate questions about preferred language and protected characteristics to help identify any differences in the levels of 
satisfaction reported by particular groups of children. 
 
Have there been challenges? 
 

P
age 85



 Assessment Toolkit 

  42 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

Several services that were providing support to minority groups and/or children with protected characteristics have ended including the MAGNET 
project and Groundwork Wales’s open access play provision and inclusion training. 
 
The main limitation of this assessment has been the lack of targeted engagement with children who have protected characteristics. This is due to the 
time and resources available to complete the assessment but as a result there are limited insights regarding the play experiences of these children. 
This shortcoming can be addressed by conducting further research with particular groups of children, the findings from which could be discussed in 
play steering group meetings (recommendation 1).  
 
How can these be overcome? 

Recommendation 7: Pilot a localised play sufficiency assessment (similar to the case study research undertaken to inform this broader assessment) on 
the Glyn Mill site, to establish children’s current experiences of playing on the site, existing assets that support play and ways in which children’s 
opportunities for play could be improved. Discuss findings from this research with the play steering group prior to making any investments. 

 

 

P
age 86



 Assessment Toolkit 

  43 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

 

Matter C: Space available for children to play: Open Spaces and Outdoor unstaffed designated play spaces 
 
The Local Authority should recognise that all open spaces within their area are potentially important areas where children can play or pass 
through to reach other play areas or places where they go. 
 
RAG Status 

Criteria fully met.  

Criteria partially met.  

Criteria not met.  
 

 

Open Spaces 

 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support strengths Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

C1 The Local 
Authority has 
undertaken an 
Open Space 
Assessment (OSA) 
that maps areas 
that are used, or 
might be used for 
playing as listed in 
the Statutory 
Guidance 

  Merthyr Tydfil’s Public Open Space 
Strategy (2016) aims to “provide a 
long term framework to protect 
and develop a network of high-
quality open spaces that deliver a 
range of social, economic and 
environmental benefits”. The 
strategy identifies the different 
types of open space and sets out 
locally derived quantity, quality 
and access standards. 
 
The Open Space Strategy takes into 
account 140 different sites and 

Whilst comprehensive, the Public 
Open Space Strategy is primarily 
concerned with larger public 
open spaces and/or those that 
can be classified as a certain type 
of provision. As a consequence it 
does not address all of the places 
where children play. This includes 
residential streets and other 
incidental patches of land. This 
emphasises the importance of 
conducting further 
complimentary research to 
establish children’s actual access 

See 
Recommendation 1. 
 

P
age 87



 Assessment Toolkit 

  44 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support strengths Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

data is available by both LSOA and 
ward level with a detailed analysis 
of accessibility also available.  
 
Accompanying the Open Space 
Strategy are a set of action plans 
that identify 20 priority open 
spaces. These priority spaces have 
been the focus of improvements 
since June 2016. Funding initiatives 
have come through Welsh 
Government LEQ Grant and the All 
Wales Play Opportunity Grant. 
 

to and use of space beyond 
formally recognised public open 
spaces. 
 

C2 The Local 
Authority has 
undertaken an 
Accessible 
Greenspace Study 
that maps areas 
that are used for 
playing 

  There are 9 types of public open 
space included in the Open Space 
Strategy, this includes amenity, 
natural/semi-natural and multi-
functional green space.  
 
By far the largest type of public 
open space in the county is natural 
or semi-natural green space, with 
Merthyr Tydfil having more than 
twice the quantity standard 
adopted from the ‘Green Space 
Toolkit’, which was launched by 
the Countryside Council for Wales 
in May 2006.  
 

While Merthyr Tydfil as a whole 
has more than twice the adopted 
standard for natural or semi-
natural green space,  
Bedlinog, Merthyr Vale and 
Penydarren have significant 
deficits.  
 
Access to amenity green space is 
also poor or non-existent in 
Bedlinog, Cyfartha, Merthyr Vale, 
Penydarren, Town and Plymouth 
wards. 
 
 

P
age 88



 Assessment Toolkit 

  45 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support strengths Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

The Open Space Strategy 
recognises the recreational value 
of these types of green space and 
that they can “offer informal 
opportunities for children’s play”.  
 

C3 The Local 
Authority 
undertakes access 
audits at all open 
spaces and 
implements 
proposals to 
improve access 
and safety 

  The Open Space Strategy 
recognizes that the distance or 
time it takes to walk to a space can 
have a major influence on people’s 
ability to access that space. It uses 
Fields in Trust standards to 
determine the percentage of the 
population that have access to 
different types of space within 
reasonable walking distance. 
Detailed maps showing areas that 
fall outside of these access 
standards are also available. 
 

 

C4 The Local 
Authority has 
developed its own 
Open Space 
Standards in 
accordance with 
the advice and 
requirements of 
Planning Policy 
Wales 

  The planning department has used 
Fields in Trust recommendations 
and Natural Resources Wales’ 
Green Space toolkit to develop and 
set it’s own local standards to 
inform Open Space Policy. 
 

 

P
age 89



 Assessment Toolkit 

  46 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support strengths Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

C5 The Local 
Authority 
undertakes and 
actions play value 
assessments in 
public open space 

  The Open Space Strategy places a 
strong emphasis on quality as well 
as quantity, with criteria for each 
type of public open space being 
developed based on the principles 
of the ‘Green Flag’ Award Scheme 
standards.  
 
An assessment of the quality of 
available public open spaces is 
included in the Open Space 
Strategy and “has been established 
through the gathering of evidence 
by extensive onsite surveys and 
audits”. 
 
Attempts are also being made to 
enhance children’s opportunities 
for play when redeveloping priority 
public open spaces, as is the case 
in Sandy Park (Haydn Terrace). 

The Open Space Strategy makes 
no reference to the quality 
criteria for play provision 
included in the Welsh 
Government’s statutory guidance 
for the Play Sufficiency Duty. 

C6 Brownfield sites 
owned by the 
Local Authority are 
assessed for the 
potential for the 
site to be 
reclaimed to 
provide for 
children‟s play 

  This is considered as part of the 
Planning process through Section 
106 Agreements for the provision 
of play areas 

Lack of funding makes this 
currently unachievable 

P
age 90



 Assessment Toolkit 

  47 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

 

Outdoor Unstaffed Designated Play Spaces 

 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support strengths Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

C7 The Local 
Authority has 
undertaken an 
Accessible 
Greenspace Study 
that maps areas 
that are used for 
playing 

  See same criteria above   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

C8 The Local Authority 
keeps an up to date 
record of all 
designated play 
space as described 
in the Statutory 
Guidance 

  The Open Space Strategy uses the 
Fields in Trust classification of 
spaces for children, and includes a 
useful description and discussion 
about each type of space: 

 Local Area for Play (LAPs) – “a 
small area of open space 
specifically designated and 
primarily laid out for very 
young children to play close to 
where they live i.e. within 1 
minute walking time. The LAP 
requires no play equipment as 
such, relying more on 
demonstrative features 
indicating that play is 
positively encouraged” 

 Local Equipped Area for Play 

 

P
age 91



 Assessment Toolkit 

  48 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

(LEAP) – “an area of open 
space specifically designated 
and laid out with features 
including equipment for 
children who are beginning to 
go out and play independently 
close to where they live, 
usually within 5 minutes 
walking time. Experience has 
indicated that to provide 
equipped LEAPs within a 5 
minute walk of all houses in a 
new development can on 
occasion be impractical and 
difficult to achieve. An 
alternative to the LEAP is 
therefore to provide a Local 
Landscaped Area for Play 
(LLAP). 

 Neighbourhood Equipped 
Area for Play (NEAP) – “an 
area of open space specifically 
designated, laid out and 
equipped mainly for older 
children but with play 
opportunities for younger 
children as well. Located 
within 15 minute walk from 
home, the NEAP is sufficiently 
large to enable provision for 
play opportunities that cannot 
be provided within a LAP or 
LEAP. The NEAP can provide a 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 92



 Assessment Toolkit 

  49 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

greater variety of opportunity 
for both active and passive 
play. It can provide play 
equipment, and a hard surface 
area for ball games, or 
wheeled activities such as 
roller skating or cycling.” 

 
The Open Space Strategy identifies 
45 designated spaces for children’s 
play, the majority of which are 
maintained by the Local Authority, 
although some are also maintained 
by partner organisations, for 
example Merthyr Valley Homes. 
 
The parks department monitors 
playgrounds and playing fields as 
part of the Open Space Strategy. 
There also is data available on 
inspections and maintenance work 
and age of equipment. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

C9 The Local 
Authority assesses 
play spaces for 
play value and 
potential to 
increase in play 
use as set out in 
the Statutory 
Guidance 

 

  See comments against criteria C5 
above.   
 
 

 

P
age 93



 Assessment Toolkit 

  50 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

C10 The Local 
Authority 
undertakes access 
audits at all 
designated play 
spaces and 
implements 
proposals to 
improve access 
and safety 

  Within the Open Space Strategy, 
and in line with Fields in Trust 
recommendations, the accessibility 
standard for children’s and young 
people’s playspace is set as 
follows: 

 LAP’s – walking distance of 

100m or straight-line distance 

of 60m. 

 LEAP’s - walking distance of 

400m or straight-line distance 

of 240m. 

 NEAP’s - walking distance of 

1000m or straight-line distance 

of 600m. 

 

The Open Space Strategy 
identifies that only “37% of 
households are within 600m 
walking distance of Children and 
Young 
People’s Play Space”. 
Furthermore the majority of 
wards are identified as having a 
deficit of this type of provision 
based on the Fields in Trust 
standards. 
 
Whilst important to children and 
parents, it is clear that these 
designated spaces alone are not 
sufficient to meet all children’s 
play needs, which emphasises the 
importance and function of other 
types of public open spaces for 
play.  
 

C11 The Local 
Authority has 
developed and 
agreed a new fixed 
play provision 
standard  

  The Local Authority has adopted 
the current European Standards, 
BSEN 1176:1998 Parts 1-7 for 
Equipment and BSEN 1177:1998 
for surfacing as minimum 
standards required for the 
installation of all new equipment. 
 

These European Standards are 
primarily concerned with safety 
and whilst important do not 
address issues associated with 
the quality, play value or variety 
of opportunities provided by a 
play space.  
 

C12 The Local Authority 
undertakes and 
actions play space 
assessments in 

  There are rigorous management 
systems and procedures in place to 
ensure that the provision of 
designated play areas is 

The majority of playgrounds 
within the county borough are 
older than their expected 15-year 
lifespan and as a consequence 

P
age 94



 Assessment Toolkit 

  51 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

designated play 
spaces  

maintained. A Playground Fitter, 
Fitter’s Mate and Playground 
Inspector currently maintain levels 
of inspections and maintenance set 
out within BSEN 1176:1998 Part 7. 
 
This process is administered 
through a regular inspection and 
assessment programme with 
frequent visual inspections, 
quarterly operational assessments 
and annual independent 
inspections. 
 
The spaces that are available tend 
to be well used and any repairs 
required are usually due to heavy 
use rather than vandalism. 
 

some look very worn. 
Furthermore, due to a lack of 
financial investment, play 
equipment has had to be 
removed and not replaced or in 
some cases the play spaces have 
been closed completely.  
 

C13 The Local 
Authority has 
introduced smoke-
free playgrounds 

  With the use of additional funding 
from Welsh Government (2014-
15), work was undertaken in 
partnership with the Local Health 
Board and Parks to produce smoke 
free signage. 
 

 

C14 The Local 
Authority has 
removed „no ball 
games‟ signs to 
encourage more 
children playing in 
the community 

  We are unaware of ‘No Ball Game’ 
signage in place and, consequently, 
do not have a programme of 
removal. If we became aware of 
such a sign still on Authority land 
we could action removing it. 

If signage was placed on land not 
owned by the Authority then 
removal could be more difficult 
depending on the landowner. 

P
age 95



 Assessment Toolkit 

  52 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

C15 The Local 
Authority has 
erected signs, 
such as Play 
Priority Signs to 
encourage more 
children playing in 
the community 

  New playground signage has been 
designed and commissioned for all 
fixed sites in Merthyr Tydfil.  

 

C16 The Local 
Authority includes 
a recognition of the 
importance of 
playing fields to 
children‟s play 
when any disposal 
decisions are 
made 

  The Local Development Plan (LDP) 
acknowledges the importance of 
‘community facilities’ and ‘leisure 
facilities’ within which ‘playing 
fields’ are counted.  
 
The Council comply with The 
Playing Fields (Community 
Involvement in Disposal Decisions) 
.(Wales) Regulations 2015, which 
came in to force on 1st October 
2015. 
 

The council has not dealt with any 
disposals of playing fields since 
the effective date. 
 

C17 The Local 
Authority includes 
children and their 
families in any 
consultations 
regarding 
decisions to 
dispose of playing 
fields 

  As above (C16). Where designated play areas 
have come to the end of their life, 
a mechanism needs to be in place 
to involve local residents, 
particularly children, to make 
them aware of what may happen 
and explore ways in which the 
space (if not the equipment) 
might be retained and made use 
of for play. 

C18 The Local 
Authority refers to 

NEW  Local Authority Parks and grounds 

Maintenance uses ‘Fields in Trust’ 

Due to budgetary constraints the 

Local Authority play area 

P
age 96



 Assessment Toolkit 

  53 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

guidance around 
creating accessible 
play space when 
refurbishing or 
developing new 
playgrounds 

and current industry standard 

guidance when considering design 

of Playgrounds. 

refurbishment programme is not 

active at present. 

 

Open Spaces  
 
How has the Local Authority ensured collaboration between Open Space Assessments / Green Infrastructure Strategies and 
Play Sufficiency Assessments to improve spaces for play? 

The Sandy Park (Haydn Terrace) redevelopment provides a good case study of how partnership working and a community development approach to 
public open space improvements can result in greater community involvement and ownership, increased levels of use and the securing of more 
resources for the benefit of children’s play. Furthermore partnership working between Local Authority departments and Natural Resources Wales on 
the Community Zone in the Gurnos has the potential to result in enhancements to green spaces close to where people live which are likely to be of 
benefit to children’s play. Both of these initiatives have come about through people’s involvement in the Local Authority’s play steering group.  

Have there been challenges? 
 

The Open Space Strategy annual monitoring report produced in March 2018 identifies two significant challenges in the maintenance and development 
of public open spaces: 
 
“There remains a constant threat to the availability of open space through our continuing policy of disposing of Council owned land. Once a piece of 
open space has been sold the control over immediate access is removed and the site is no longer publicly accessible. Over the past year two spaces 
have been affected in this way through sale incursions.” 
 
“One of the biggest threats to open space is the lack of management. Even some of the most prominent open spaces, have yet to see signs of 
improvement. The presence of waste is a significant deterrent to the enjoyment of open spaces and leads to further abuse and in most instances 
threatens public health.” 
 
How can these be overcome? 
 

P
age 97



 Assessment Toolkit 

  54 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

Efforts are also being made (by the likes of Natural Resources Wales and the Landscape Institute) to highlight the economic value of open space in 
terms of public service savings, lowering carbon emissions and species diversity. The value of space in supporting children’s play should be 
incorporated into this, recognizing that children are supporting their own health and wellbeing whilst playing and that therefore any reductions in the 
availability and accessibility of space for play could be detrimental to children’s immediate and longer term well-being. 
 
As was previously the case in Gellideg where staff employed through Communities First were helping to look after and facilitate local residents use of 
the Gellideg fields, people working in community development type roles have the potential to support the ongoing maintenance and development of 
public open spaces. This function could also be incorporated into the role of playworkers if funding was available to employ them. 
 

 

Outdoor unstaffed designated play spaces 
 
How has the local authority considered all issues of accessibility in play space development?   
 
Have there been challenges?        
 

The repair of play equipment comes out of the Local Authority’s general grounds maintenance budget and there is no separate budget for developing 
or renovating these spaces. The focus is therefore on maintaining existing provision but the majority of the Local Authority’s existing play areas are in 
need of refurbishment, having exceeded their 15-year lifespan. No significant investment has been made in terms of renovating existing spaces for 
play since the mid 1990s when over £1 million was spent on improving the Local Authority’s stock of designated play spaces, which at the time were 
in a similar state to how they are now. However due to austerity and the current state of public finances it is very unlikely that the Local Authority 
would be able to make a similar investment again. 
 
As a consequence Local Equipped Areas for Play (LEAPs) are being closed and the equipment removed because it has come to the end of its lifespan 
and there are insufficient financial resources to fully renovate these spaces. This lack of funding has led to a rationalisation of designated play spaces 
with a greater emphasis being placed on the development of fewer but larger strategic parks. Such an approach can result in some very impressive 
play spaces, Sandy Park being one such example, that are very well used as destination and neighbourhood places for play. However they do not 
necessarily compensate for the loss of smaller and more easily accessible play areas. Based on the research carried out to inform this assessment, 
children and parents emphasise the importance of spaces for play in close proximity to where they live.  
 
In addition, there is currently no mechanism in place to ensure children and parents are made aware when local areas for play are being closed or play 
equipment removed. In one example a group of children involved in this assessment who rated high satisfaction with their opportunities for play had 
spoken positively about making use of their local play area despite it being in a very poor state of repair. Following this, it became clear that the 

P
age 98



 Assessment Toolkit 

  55 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

equipment from this same play area was due to be removed in the near future. This was not surprising given its condition and neither was the 
response that there was insufficient funds to renovate the space. However it also became clear there was no process in place to inform local children 
of this decision. As a consequence children, who were making the best of what was available and being very positive about it, were potentially soon to 
discover that their play area was removed without their prior knowledge. 
 
Addressing this challenge is not the sole responsibility of the parks department, who do not have the financial or human resources to resolve it alone. 
However this example suggests that opportunities are being missed to involve community stakeholders in exploring ways in which these spaces (if not 
the equipment) might be retained and enhanced for children’s play. This work would require a community development type approach and 
somebody to have sufficient capacity to work with children and parents. One potential benefit of this work would be improved relations between the 
Local Authority and residents, reducing the negative impacts that result from a loss of community facilities. 
 
How can these be overcome? 
 

See Recommendation 5. 

Recommendation 8: Carry out a fact-finding exercise to identify example case studies of low cost and low maintenance spaces for play, more of which 
could be developed in close proximity to homes. Present findings from this work to members of the play steering group  

Recommendation 9: Increase the capacity of the play sufficiency lead and/or community based organisations to facilitate the involvement of children 
and other community stakeholders in exploring alternative uses for space when local areas for play are due to be decommissioned.  

Comments  
 

More people playing in fewer places where there has been more investment may make sense on a purely economic basis. However the potentially 
negative impacts of such an approach also need careful consideration. For example children may become more reliant on parents to take them to 
places where they can play, which may result in more car journeys. Also, if children play out less in their own neighbourhoods, they will be seen less 
often and people may become less tolerant of their playful presence. 
 

P
age 99



 Assessment Toolkit 

  56 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

 

Matter D: Supervised provision 
 
The Local Authority should aim to offer a range of supervised play provision. 
 
RAG Status 

Criteria fully met.  

Criteria partially met.  

Criteria not met.  
 

 

Playwork provision 
 

 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support strengths Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

D1 The Local 
Authority keeps an 
up to date record 
of all supervised 
play provision as 
described in the 
Statutory 
Guidance 

  The Family Information Service 
holds details of all staffed childcare 
and play provision. 
 
Based on Self-Assessment of 
Service Statement (SASS) data from 
the Care Inspectorate for Wales 
(CiW) and population estimates 
from 2015, Merthyr Tydfil’s 2017 
CSA (pages 44 & 45) provides a 
useful analysis of the proportion of 
children by age group accessing 
childcare during term time and in 
school holidays. This suggests that 
15.2% of children aged 0-11 are 
accessing childcare in term time 
but a significant proportion of 

Due to their Welsh Government 
funding coming to an end, 
Groundwork Wales no longer 
provide open access play 
provision in Merthyr Tydfil. As a 
consequence there is currently 
no staffed open access play 
provision available in the 
county. 
 
This data on the percentage of 
children accessing childcare is 
based on SASS returns from 43 
registered settings so does not 
account for all the available 
childcare in Merthyr Tydfil. 
 

 

P
age 100



 Assessment Toolkit 

  57 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support strengths Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

these are in the 0 to 4 age range 
(34% of 0 to 4s are in childcare 
during term time) with only 5.5% 
of 5 to 11 year olds apparently 
accessing provision. This 
percentage drops significantly in 
school holidays with 4.6% of 0 to 
11s in childcare but only 2.5% of 
those aged 5 to 11. 
 
One possible reason for this is 
identified within the CSA based on 
feedback from parent focus 
groups: “Consistently in focus 
groups both users and non-users 
spoke of a preference for family 
and friends, because of a range of 
factors including trust, flexibility 
and cost. 55% of non-users rely on 
family and friends to look after 
their children and 20% of users 
augment their childcare with family 
and friends. In focus groups 
parents would often speak of a 
balance between formal and 
informal childcare. It should also be 
noted that for many parents their 
preference would be to stay at 
home with their children if they 
could afford to”. 

Based on feedback from focus 
groups, the 2017 CSA states 
there is a: “Perceived limited / 
lack of provision for older 
children particularly during 
school holidays. Whilst some 
parents feel their child is “old 
enough to look after himself for 
an hour or two after school” 
they don’t feel “he is ready to be 
left for the whole day.” Parents 
of older children are conscious 
that their children “don’t want 
to be in with the babies” and are 
looking for provision that is 
more suitable and / or relying on 
extra curriculum activities 
during term time and family and 
friends all year round”. 
 
 

P
age 101



 Assessment Toolkit 

  58 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support strengths Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

 
Above calculations based on: 
Number of 0-11s in childcare minus 
number of 0-4s in childcare equals 
the number of 5-11s in childcare. 
Then number of 5-11s in childcare 
divided by the number of 5-11s in 
Merthyr Tydfil multiplied by 100 
equals the percentage of 5-11s in 
childcare. 
 

D2 The Local 
Authority offers 
play provision 
which offers a rich 
play environment 
as described in the 
Statutory 
Guidance 

  To ensure consistency where 
criteria has been judged as not 
applicable will be ragged as green  

The Local Authority does not 
directly deliver or commission 
any staffed provision where the 
primary purpose is to support 
children’s play. 

D3 The Local 
Authority ensures 
that partners are 
supported to offer 
rich play 
environments as 
described in the 
Statutory 
Guidance 

  The Local Authority requires 
commissioned services to 
complete a quality self-assessment. 
 
Playwork qualifications and other 
play-based professional 
development opportunities (as 
detailed under Matter G: securing 
and developing the play workforce) 
will support practitioners to 
enhance the quality of the play 

There is no clear evidence as to 
how this is supported or 
monitored. 
 
The 2017 CSA does not include 
any information about how 
childcare settings are assessed 
or supported in terms of 
providing rich play 
environments. 

P
age 102



 Assessment Toolkit 

  59 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support strengths Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

environments and opportunities 
they provide to children. 
 

D4 Staffed play 
provision that the 
Local Authority 
provides meets the 
regulatory 
requirements and 
National Minimum 
Standards 

  In line with D2 not applicable 
currently to MTCBC 

The Local Authority does not 
currently provide any staffed 
provision where the primary 
purpose is to support children’s 
play. 

D5 Staffed play 
provision that the 
Local Authority 
funds meets the 
regulatory 
requirements and 
National Minimum 
Standards 

  In line with D2 not applicable 
currently to MTCBC 

The Local Authority does not 
currently fund any staffed 
provision where the primary 
purpose is to support children’s 
play. 

D6 Staffed play 
provision that the 
Local Authority‟s 
partners provide 
meets the 
regulatory 
requirements and 
National Minimum 
Standards 

  The 2017 CSA suggests 50 out of 
the 68 childcare settings in 
Merthyr Tydfil were registered 
with CiW at the time the 
assessment was completed.  

There are currently no partner 
organisations in Merthyr Tydfil 
delivering staffed provision 
where the primary purpose is to 
support children’s play. 

D7 Staffed play 
provision across 
the Local Authority 

  In line with D2 not applicable 
currently to MTCBC 

There is currently no assurance 
programme in place for staffed 
provision in respect of the 

P
age 103



 Assessment Toolkit 

  60 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support strengths Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

works to a 
recognised quality 
assurance 
programme 

quality of play opportunities / 
environments provided. 

D8 The Local 
Authority prioritises 
quality issues 
when engaging 
with/ 
commissioning the 
private sector to 
deliver recreational 
activities for 
children. 

  Service Level Agreements include 
specific requirements in relation to 
the quality of the service and self 
assessments are undertaken. 

 

D9 The Local 
Authority provides 
council premises 
and space free of 
charge to 
organisations 
which provide free 
(at the point of 
access) play 
provision for 
children 

  A community organisation rental 
policy is in place, which requires 
organisations to pay a market rent. 
A rental grant application can be 
made to effectively reduce the 
level of rent payable in some 
circumstances 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 104



 Assessment Toolkit 

  61 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

Structured recreational activities for children 
 
 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support strengths Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

D10 Local authority 
sport, physical 
activity, and active 
recreation plans 
are contributing to 
increasing free 
play and 
recreational 
activities 
 

  The LA sports and physical 
development plan 2018/19 places a 
strong emphasis on play as a way of 
increasing younger children’s physical 
activity levels. It describes an outdoor 
space activity program aimed at 
promoting use of green spaces across 
the authority and sets out actions to 
provide holiday family engagement 
events. The aim of these events is to 
provide families with ‘cost effective 
play-based ideas’ but also create 
opportunities to consult with families 
and engage them in the work of the 
play steering group. This is further 
evidence of partnership working to 
support play. 
 

  

D11 The sports agenda 
contributes to the 
provision of 
sufficient 
recreational 
activities for 
children 

  The above plan sets out a range of 
sport based recreational activities. 
Children involved in the research for 
this assessment also reported 
accessing a range of sporting 
activities. 
 

 

D12 The cultural and 
arts agenda, is 

  Merthyr Tydfil Public Library Service is 
part of Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust, 

 

P
age 105



 Assessment Toolkit 

  62 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support strengths Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

contributing to the 
provision of 
sufficient 
recreational 
activities for 
children 
 

which delivers the statutory service 
on behalf of Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council.  The Arts Division is 
based at Merthyr Central Library 
 
There is a range of cultural events 
delivered for children and young 
people by the service. 
 
Events are advertised on FIS website 
and Leisure Trust Website. 

D13 The Local 
Authority Youth 
Service provides 
for children‟s 
opportunities for 
leisure and 
association 

  As identified in the research carried 
out to inform this assessment, 
children aged 8 to 10 who have access 
to youth work provision readily 
recognise this as being supportive of 
their play. Several of the youth 
workers spoken to in the case study 
communities (who actually worked 
for third sector organizations) had 
substantial playwork experience and 
felt that this influenced the way they 
delivered provision, particularly when 
engaging with children in the 8 to 12 
age range. 

 

Greater recognition should 
be given to the role of youth 
work in providing for older 
children’s time and space for 
play.  
 

  
 
 

P
age 106



 Assessment Toolkit 

  63 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

 

Supervised play provision 
 
Where the Local Authority has assessed settings as part of the Childcare Sufficiency Assessments (CSAs), how have these settings been assessed in 
respect of the quality of play opportunities they provide and offer? 
 
In terms of the quality of childcare provision, the Childcare Sufficiency Assessment tends to focus on parent’s and practitioners perceptions of quality 
with less attention paid to the perception’s of children, who are likely to be particularly concerned with the quality of play opportunities provided 
within these settings.  
 
How has provision that is not part of the CSA been assessed in respect of the quality of play opportunities they provide and offer? 
 
There is currently no system in place for assessing the quality of any form of staffed provision in respect of the play opportunities provided. However 
during the research carried out to inform this assessment, children were clearly capable of identifying which services they perceived as being 
supportive of their play. 
 
Have there been challenges?        

The LA does not commission any open access play provision and Groundwork Wales have ceased delivering playwork provision. As a consequence 
there is a lack of the type of provision that would be most suited to addressing many of the concerns raised by parents and children in the research 
carried out to inform this assessment. This also means there is very little free staffed provision for children in the middle period of their childhoods 
(between their early and teenage years). This may be of particular concern where there is a greater need to develop and maintain positive 
attachments between children and trusted adults in the community. 

How can these be overcome? 
 
Recommendation 10: Review existing funding streams to identify opportunities for funding the ongoing delivery of playwork provision in 
communities where children and parents report lower levels of satisfaction with opportunities for play. 
 
Recommendation 11: Develop a model that allows staffed provision to be considered along a continuum in terms of the degree to which it 
supports children’s access to free time and space for play. 
 
 

P
age 107



 Assessment Toolkit 

  64 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

Recommendation 12: Develop or adopt a quality assessment tool enabling those working in staffed provision to evaluate and illustrate the extent 
to which they support children’s right to play. 
 
Also see Recommendation 18 under Matter G: Securing and developing the play workforce. 
 
Comments:  

The Local Authority (and Welsh Government) should be careful that the well intentioned drive towards more children spending more time in formal 
childcare does not damage the apparent culture of “playing out” that still exists in Merthyr Tydfil. The relatively low percentage of 5 to 11 year olds 
accessing formal childcare may mean that more children are playing out in their local communities after school rather than being supervised by 
adults. Similarly care needs to be taken to ensure that interventions aimed at increasing children’s physical activity (whilst again positive) do not 
inadvertently restrict children’s opportunities and ability to direct the content and intent of their own play.  

The local authority should work to maintain a balance between adult structured activities and children’s access to time, space and permission for play. 
This should include promoting the value of children playing with and without adults. In general, the Welsh Government’s decision to extend their 
definition of play to include recreational activities within the statutory guidance for the Play Sufficiency Duty, has created a confused situation. It 
should not be assumed that adult structured recreational activities are compensation for children having free time and space for play (the latter being 
the primary concern of the Play Sufficiency Duty) and care should be taken not to conflate the two. However these and other types of adult run 
provision (where the primary concern may not be supporting children’s play) still have the potential to make a significant contribution to the 
sufficiency of children’s opportunities for play, if children are able to find time and space for play within them. As recognized by one play steering 
group member, there is potential for moments of freedom within all adult structured activities but this requires the adults facilitating them to be 
prepared to work with the uncertainty of children’s play. 
 
Adults facilitating activities for children would therefore benefit from understanding the nature and function of children’s play and ways in which they 
might practically support it. Several of the youth workers spoken to in the case study communities (who actually worked for third sector 
organizations) had substantial playwork experience and felt that this influenced the way they delivered provision, particularly when engaging with 
children in the 8 to 12 age range. 
 

 

P
age 108



 Assessment Toolkit 

  65 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

 

Matter E: Charges for play provision 

 

The Local Authority should consider which play opportunities involve a charge and the extent to which the Local Authority takes these 
charges into account in assessing for sufficient play opportunities for children living in low income families as set out in the Statutory 
Guidance.  
 
RAG status 

Criteria fully met.  

Criteria partially met.  

Criteria not met.  
 

 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support strengths Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

E1 The Local 
Authority keeps 
records of the 
number of children 
living in low 
income families 

  According to a report produced by the 
Cardiff Research Centre (part of 
Cardiff Council’s Policy, Partnerships 
and Community Engagement Service) 
and based on 2014 data from HMRC, 
27.8% of children in Merthyr Tydfil 
live in low income families, which is 
the second highest in Wales (behind 
Bleanau Gwent) and 5.3% above the 
Welsh average. 
 

Care should be taken in 
interpreting these rates as 
definitive measures of child 
poverty levels in any given 
area. 

 

E2 The Local 
Authority keeps 
records of the 
number of children 
living in areas of 
deprivation 

  WIMD 2014 data provides 
information on the numbers of 
children living in areas of higher 
deprivation. There are 8 LSOAs in 
Merthyr Tydfil that are within the 10% 
most deprived in Wales. 
 

 

P
age 109



 Assessment Toolkit 

  66 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support strengths Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

 
E3 The Local 

Authority keeps 
records of the 
number of children 
living in rural areas 

  Child population data by LSOA (see 
Matter A) provides the LA with the 
ability to identify children living in 
rural areas. 

 

E4 The Local 
Authority keeps 
records of the 
number of disabled 
children and those 
with particular 
needs. 

  Data on the numbers of disabled 
children and those with particular 
needs (e.g. those in need of additional 
support in school) is available from 
the Local Authority’s Children with 
Disabilities register, PLASC database 
and 2011 Census data. 

 

E5 The Local 
Authority records 
the availability of 
no cost provision 

  The Family Information Service holds 
details of all staffed childcare and play 
provision. 
 
Details of all unstaffed designated 
play areas is available from the parks 
department. 

There is currently no free 
staffed play provision 
available. 

E6 The Local 
Authority records 
the provision of no 
cost / low cost 
premises used for 
play provision 

  The Family Information Service 
records details of premises available 
for hire where details have been 
supplied to the service. 

Data is often incomplete and 
outdated as it is reliant on 
providers giving correct 
information. 

E7 The Local 
Authority records 
the provisions 
where grants or 

  FIS has records of providers in receipt 
of grant funding. 

 

P
age 110



 Assessment Toolkit 

  67 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support strengths Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

subsidies are 
available for play 
providers 

E8 The Local 
Authority provides 
subsided transport 
for children 
travelling to play 
opportunities 

   There is no subsidised 
transport provided. 

 

 
Charges for play provision 
 
How is the Local Authority ensuring that children have access to no or low-cost provision? 
 

Whilst there is no free staffed play provision currently available, the Local Authority does maintain a significant stock of designated play areas and 
Merthyr Tydfil is fortunate to have a substantial amount of natural or semi-natural green space which, if accessible to children, is likely to support 
their play. 
 
Have there been challenges?        
 

As identified in the research to inform this assessment, the costs associated with play provision is a significant concern for parents. Members of the 
play steering group also raised concerns about the pressure parents sometimes felt to provide their children with entertainment in order to look like a 
“good” parent. In response they felt there was a need to improve parental understandings of play and promote the value of children being enabled to 
play out in their local communities. 
 
How can these be overcome? 
 

In 2018, Play Wales delivered a Right to Play roadshow in Merthyr Tydfil as part of the launch of their Playful Childhoods campaign and website. This 
website aims to help parents and carers understand the importance of playing for children’s health and happiness. It also provides practical advice on 

P
age 111



 Assessment Toolkit 

  68 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

ensuring children have enough time, space and permission to play, at home and in their local community. A link to the Playful Childhoods website has 
been added to the play information section of the Family Information Service’s website and promotional posts shared via Facebook. 

Recommendation 13: Continue to promote the Playful Childhoods website to parents and carers and provide Playfest and Playday type events in 
local community spaces. 

 

P
age 112



 Assessment Toolkit 

  69 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

 

Matter F: Access to space/provision 

 

The Local Authority should consider all the factors that contribute to children‟s access to play or moving around their community. 
 

RAG Status 

Criteria fully met.  

Criteria partially met.  

Criteria not met.  
 

 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support 
strengths 

Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

F1 The Local Authority 
keeps an up to date 
record of the number of 
20 mph zones/school 
safety zones in 
residential areas 

  The Local Authority has a record 
of 20mph zones  
 

No further information 
provided since the 2016 PSA. 

 

F2 The Local Authority has 
an identified mechanism 
for assessing the impact 
of speed reduction and 
other road safety 
measures on the 
opportunity for children to 
play outside in their 
communities 

  The Local Authority uses 
Speed/Traffic survey data to 
assess speed reduction and any 
other road safety measures 
necessary. 
 

Limited resources to gather the 
information required. 
 
 

F3 The Local Authority has a 
plan(s) to reduce the 
negative effect of busy 
roads and junctions 
through the introduction 

  The Local Authority is continually 
aiming to create safer 
environments with lower traffic 
speeds in communities, close to 
schools and residential streets.  
This will enable the streets to be 

Limited resources and funding 
means that it is not possible to 
implement all needs. 

P
age 113



 Assessment Toolkit 

  70 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support 
strengths 

Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

of speed reduction 
measures and provision 
of safe crossing 
points/routes for 
pedestrians and cyclists 

increasingly used for activities 
such as walking, cycling and 
playing. These schemes also 
support the Welsh Governments 
Active Travel Bill. 
 

F4 The Local Authority has a 
plan(s) to improve 
walking and cycle access 
to parks, outdoor play 
facilities and local leisure 
centres from residential 
areas 

  New cycling and walking paths 
are being developed from Welsh 
Government Safe Routes in 
Communities funding and Active 
Travel to access parks, schools 
and other leisure facilities 
 

Limited resources and funding 
means that it is not possible to 
meet all needs. 
 
No specific examples of the 
work carried out have been 
identified for inclusion in the 
2019 PSA.  
 

F5 There is potential for the 
Local Authority to take 
further action to reduce 
traffic speed and improve 
road safety to promote 
play opportunities 

  Some improvements have been 
made for walking and cycling 
within the Borough and for 
children accessing local schools.  
This has been achieved via Welsh 
Government Safe Routes in 
Communities Funding 
 

All improvement schemes rely 
on external funding. 

F6 The Local Authority uses 
road safety grants and/or 
other funding to support 
delivery of cycling training 
for children to national 
standards 

  The Local Authority uses Road 
Safety grants to deliver National 
Standards Cycle Training Level 1 
off road and Level 2 on road.  This 
training is offered to all Year 6 
pupils within the Borough.  Level 
3 is also offered to 240 pupils in 
the Year 9/10 group.  
 

This training relies on 
continued funding from 
Welsh Government. 

P
age 114



 Assessment Toolkit 

  71 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support 
strengths 

Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

F7 The Local Authority uses 
road safety grants and/or 
other funding to provide 
pedestrian safety training 
for children 

  The Local Authority uses Road 
Safety grants to deliver Kerbcraft 
(Child Pedestrian Training) to 
Year 1 pupils.  The Road Safety 
Team promote the Junior Road 
Safety Officer Scheme in schools 
to support initiatives that are 
important to them.  Activities 
include, walk to school, traffic 
counts, seat belts, mobile 
phones, crossings. The Road 
Safety Team, will on request, visit 
local playgroups, nurseries and 
play schemes to deliver road 
safety activities. 
 

Limited resources mean that 
some events cannot be 
attended. 
 
LA relies on financial support via 
Welsh Government grants 
which are continually being 
reduced. 

F8 The Local Authority has 
an accessible and well-
known way of arranging 
temporary road closures, 
to support more children 
to play outside their 
homes 

  Funding has been allocated 
from the 2018/19 All Wales 
Play Opportunity Grant to 
covers costs associated with 
temporary street closures 
aimed at creating specific 
periods of time in the week 
when children’s play is given 
priority over the movement of 
vehicles, thus temporally 
changing the primary function 
of residential streets but also 
raising general awareness of 
residential streets as potential 
places for play. 

 

P
age 115



 Assessment Toolkit 

  72 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support 
strengths 

Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

 
F9 The Local Authority refers 

to Manual for Streets 
when considering new 
developments and 
changes to the highway 
network/urban realm 

  The Local Authority refers to 
Manual for Streets and the Active 
Travel Design Guidance when 
considering new development 
and changes to the highway 
network/urban realm.  
 

 

F10 The Local Authority 
works to nationally 
recognised good practice 
guidelines when 
developing walking and 
cycling facilities 

  The Local Authority works to 
nationally recognised guidelines 
when developing new cycling and 
walking facilities, and when 
improving existing facilities. 
These guidelines include ROSPA 
guidelines and Active Travel 
Design Guidance. 
 

 

F11 The Local Authority uses 
child pedestrian road 
accident casualty data to 
inform the location and 
design of interventions 
which help children get 
around independently in 
their communities 

  The Local Authority uses collision 
data as supplied by Welsh 
Government from the STATS 19 
information off South Wales 
Police, which is reviewed to 
assess any new interventions 

This data is not 100% up to 
date. Currently it has data up to 
June 2015. 

F12 The Local Authority 
considers children‟s needs 
to access play 
opportunities when making 
decisions about public 
transport planning and 

  No distinct consideration is given 
to this at present. 

 

P
age 116



 Assessment Toolkit 

  73 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support 
strengths 

Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 
expenditure 

F13 The requirements of 
disabled children are 
understood and provided 
for within traffic and 
transport initiatives 

Moved 
from 
Matter B 

 The Local Authority has facilitated 
a programme of providing raised 
kerbing at bus stops to make 
access to buses easier for people 
with mobility problems. 
 
The Local Authority is working 
closely with the RNIB and their 
new Street Charter to understand 
their needs when developing new 
schemes, installing new crossings 
facilities. This would apply to all 
users with additional needs. 

No further information has 
been provided regarding 
progress with this matter for 
the 2019 PSA. 

 

Information, publicity and events: 
For children and families to take part in play opportunities, recreational activities and events it is necessary for them to know 
what is available in their area. 
 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support 
strengths 

Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

F14 The Local Authority has a 
clearly identified section 
on its website which gives 
information about play 
opportunities as 
described in the Statutory 
Guidance (play areas, 
play provision, clubs and 
their accessibility)  

  The Family Information Service 
(FIS) website includes a 
distinct section on children’s 
play which includes links to the 
play sufficiency assessment 
and Play Wales’ Playful 
Childhoods website. The FIS 
website also provides access 
to information held on the 

There is currently very little 
information regarding 
children’s and young people’s 
activities on the Dewis 
database. It is the 
responsibility of 
services/organisation to 
upload their own 
information. However there 

 

P
age 117



 Assessment Toolkit 

  74 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support 
strengths 

Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

Dewis database and there is 
potential for this to include 
access to information about 
staffed and unstaffed play 
provision and playable public 
open space. A ‘generic play 
record’ has already been 
entered onto Dewis and the 
database includes a children’s 
and young people’s activity 
classification. An events 
section is also going to be 
developed on Dewis in the 
future.  

is currently no local lead for 
the Dewis project so the 
planned marketing to wider 
services/organisations has 
not happened.  
 

F15 The Local Authority 
provides information on 
access to play 
opportunities and contact 
for support if required 

  The FIS provides information 
about staffed provision but not 
public open spaces. 

The FIS is reliant on providers 
to keep this information up 
to date. 
 

F16 The Local Authority 
supports and publicises 
events which encourage 
play opportunities and 
events for children and 
families  

  Play opportunities including 
Playfest and Playday events 
have been promoted on the 
FIS website and via the Local 
Authority’s social media 
outlets.  

 

F17 The Local Authority 
publicises information 
which contributes to 
positive community 
attitudes to play 

  The play section of the FIS 
website provides access to 
information on the importance 
of play, what adults can do to 
help and available training 

 

P
age 118



 Assessment Toolkit 

  75 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support 
strengths 

Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

courses and qualifications. 
F18 The Local Authority 

publicises information 
and support for parents to 
help them encourage 
their children to play 

  A link to the Playful Childhoods 
website has been added to the 
FIS play information section 
and associated posts shared 
via Facebook. 

 

F19 The Local Authority 
widely uses on-site 
signposting to safeguard 
and promote play 

   Beyond signage at 
designated play areas no 
further attempts have been 
made to promote children’s 
play in this way. 

 

F20 The Local Authority 
engages with the media 
to encourage the positive 
portrayal of children 
playing in the local area 

  As part of the Local Authority’s 
Playfest event in 2018, there 
was a month long focus on 
promoting play via the Family 
Information Service’s 
Facebook page. 

 

 

Access to space/provision 
 
How has the Local Authority ensured collaboration to ensure children can move around their communities to increase access to 
opportunities for playing? 
 

The Local Authority’s play steering group includes representation from those involved in road safety, highways and traffic management and, as 
identified in the 2016 assessment, there remains “a real opportunity for stronger collaboration between the play sufficiency and active travel agendas”. In 
particular active travel maps could be combined with other public open space mapping. Further research could then be carried out with children to identify the 
spaces they are actually using and the routes they use to move around their communities. However this type of partnership approach is likely to depend on staff 
having sufficient capacity and a directive allowing them to be involved. 

Have there been challenges?        
 

P
age 119



 Assessment Toolkit 

  76 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

While the Road Safety Officer has been involved in process of PSA, and been active in contributions, there has been no engagement in the play 
sufficiency assessment from the LA road safety / highways / traffic management department in relation to informing on how they support access to 
space and so it is unclear whether any further work has been carried out that would impact on children’s ability to access space for play since the 
previous assessment in 2016. Furthermore little attention appears to be paid to the quality and safety of residential streets as places for play, despite 
these accounting for a significant amount of children’s everyday play experiences. Minor qualitative improvements to the appearance of residential 
streets and the installation of simple but playable physical features could significantly improve some of the spaces children use most often for their 
play.  
 
How can these be overcome? 
 

Recommendation 14: Active Travel maps should be combined with other existing datasets and evidence of play sufficiency research to create 
increasingly detailed community profiles on which to base decisions about resource allocation and interventions to support children’s play. 
 
Recommendation 15: Involve children and other residents in a pilot project to improve the appearance and affordances for play within a local 
residential streets where they currently play.  
 
Information, publicity, events 
 
How has the Local Authority positively used information to support access to play provision? 
 

The Family Information Service provides access to a comprehensive range of information for parents including details about available staffed play 
provision and childcare services as well as advice on supporting children’s play and sources of further information. 
 
Have there been challenges?        
 

Publicity in respect of promoting children’s play appears to rely heavily on the resources of the Family Information Service and does not form part of 
the Local Authority’s corporate marketing strategy. 
 
How can these be overcome? 
 

Recommendation 16: Identify a representative involved in the Local Authority’s corporate communications and marketing activities to be part of 
the play steering group. 
 

 

P
age 120



 Assessment Toolkit 

  77 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

P
age 121



 Assessment Toolkit 

  78 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

 

Matter G: Securing and developing the play workforce 
 
The Local Authority should provide information on the organisational structure of the policy area which manages the play agenda and the 
play workforce.  
 
RAG status 

Criteria fully met.  

Criteria partially met.  

Criteria not met.  
 

 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support strengths Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

Note – These criteria are specifically about Playwork: Playwork is a highly skilled profession that enriches and enhances play. It 
takes place where adults support children’s play but it is not driven by prescribed education or care outcomes. This includes 
both open access and out of school childcare settings 

G1 The Local 
Authority keeps up 
to date information 
regarding the 
playwork 
workforce across 
the Local Authority 
(this should 
include the number 
of playworkers, 
playwork 
management 
structure, 
qualification levels, 
training 
opportunities and 

  Merthyr Tydfil’s Early Years, Childcare 
and Play Workforce Plan (2015) 
recognises a range of playwork roles 
within play provision and out of 
school childcare.  
 
A playwork qualification needs 
assessment by Clybiau Plant Cymru 
Kids’ Clubs in 2018 received eight 
responses covering approximately 60 
staff. The most commonly held 
qualification is currently  CCLD with 
72% of staff qualified to level 3. Of 
the staff qualified in playwork, only 
two are at level 4 or 5 with a further 

The exact number of 
playworkers in Merthyr Tydfil 
is unclear but it is likely that 
the only employers of 
playworkers are out of school 
childcare settings, meaning 
that there are no 
playworkers currently 
working in a community 
development type role. 
However there may be 
people already working in 
local communities who, 
whilst not formally 
recognised as playworkers, 

Recommendation 17: 
Carry out a workforce 
evaluation to 
identifying all those 
already operating in a 
playwork role and 
people who could 
provide playwork as 
part of their existing 
roles. Then consider 
an augmentation of 
roles to create 
discreet 
responsibilities for 
playwork within 

P
age 122



 Assessment Toolkit 

  79 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

volunteers) 16 at level 3 and three at level 2. The 
greatest demand in terms of future 
qualification needs is for the level 3 
transition to playwork from CCLD, 
although there is also a significant 
demand for level 4 or 5 qualifications 
in playwork. 
 

are providing or could 
provide a playwork type 
service. 
 

existing contracted 
staff / partner 
organisations. 

 

G2 The Local 
Authority supports 
all of the workforce 
to achieve the 
qualification level 
required by the 
Welsh 
Government‟s 
National Minimum 
Standards  

  Adult Learning Wales are delivering 
L2APP (Level 2 Award in Playwork 
Practice) and MAHPS (Level 3 
Managing a Holiday Playscheme) 
both of which are promoted via the 
FIS website. 
 
CPCKC are providing Level 2 and 3 
qualifications in Playwork as part of 
the apprenticeship framework. This 
includes the transition qualification 
for those already qualified in CCLD. 
The intention is to also provide the 
Level 5 apprenticeship qualification in 
the near future. 
 

The workforce plan identifies 
gaps in training, this includes 
a significant need for 
increased uptake of level 2 
and 3 qualifications in 
playwork, particularly from 
the out of school childcare 
sector. The plan goes on to 
recognise that increased 
participation in these 
qualifications “could also 
benefit people working in the 
wider sector” and, as an 
example, makes reference to 
a number of youth workers, 
“who provide street 
provision”, having also gained 
a level 2 qualification in 
playwork. 
 

 

G3 The Local 
Authority supports 
the workforce to 
achieve the 
accepted 

  As above.  As above.   

P
age 123



 Assessment Toolkit 

  80 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

qualification levels 
set out by 
SkillsActive 

 The Local 
Authority has a 
staff development 
budget ring fenced 
for play, including 
playwork 

  In addition to formal qualifications 
the workforce development plan 
identifies an “additional demand for 
short courses and specialised 
training”.  It goes on to explain that 
“the Council’s training directory is 
designed to respond to this and works 
well to engage training providers and 
also seek ways to work with training 
providers to create and deliver 
specialised training”. Importantly the 
plan also emphasizes evidence that 
suggests “the Council’s training 
directory is the first point of training 
and shapes the training and 
participation across the sector”. 
Training included in the Council’s 
directory is provided free of charge to 
providers in the early years, childcare 
and ‘play’ sector. The LA’s plan 
suggests this is “seen by providers to 
be a valuable resources, and a key 
reason why cost is not considered a 
significant barrier to participation in 
training”.   
 

Although playwork and play 
based training courses are 
provided, the 2018/19 
training directory does not 
include any of these. This 
suggests a more ad-hoc 
approach to the delivery of 
playwork/play training and 
that it may be given less 
attention compared to other 
professional development 
concerns. However, the 
evaluation report on the 
playwork theory training 
states that “professionals 
have expressed an interest in 
further training highlighting 
the importance of play and 
‘how families can explore 
ways of play with their 
children’ and how ‘play 
crosses with youth work and 
should be embedded in youth 
work practice’.”  
 

Recommendation 18: 
Adopt a strategic 
approach to the 
provision of play and 
playwork based 
training, ensuring it is 
embedded into the 
annual training 
directory, and 
promote the 
availability of this 
training to a wide 
range of practitioners 
who work with 
children and therefore 
impact on their 
opportunities for play. 
 
 

G4 There is a 
comprehensive 
range of 
Continuing 

  A range of playwork and play based 
training courses have been provided 
by the Local Authority since the 
previous PSA in 2016. This has 

  

P
age 124



 Assessment Toolkit 

  81 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

Professional 
Development 
(CPD) 
opportunities 
available for 
playworkers in the 
area 

included playwork theory, inclusive 
play and risky play training. An 
evaluation report on the playwork 
theory training confirms that people 
from a variety of backgrounds 
attended, that the majority rated the 
training as excellent and that there is 
a demand for more like it.  
 

G5 Training is 
available for 
volunteers and 
parents to develop 
their knowledge on 
skills in playwork 

  Flying Start settings offers 15 family 
sessions during the holidays which 
focus on whole family engagement  
with an emphasis on play and 
disseminating some key messages 
such as healthy lifestyles etc. 
 

There is currently no training 
available to parents that 
incorporates playwork theory 
or practice. 

 

G6 The Local 
Authority includes 
playwork within its 
Workforce 
Development 
strategies 

  Playwork is included in the Local 
Authority’s Early Years, Childcare and 
Play Workforce Development Plan. 

No evidence of playwork 
being considered within 
wider Local Authority 
workforce development 
plans could be found. 

 

G7 The Local 
Authority supports 
partners to deliver 
appropriate 
training to 
community groups, 
parents and 
volunteers 
 

  Training has been commissioned 
through contracts with national 
organisations to provide transitional 
awards and other continuing 
professional development 
opportunities 

  

Note – these criteria are about the Play workforce: This encompasses anyone employed whose role has an impact on children 
playing – those who may either directly facilitate their play, design for playing, or those with the power to give permission for 
children to play, or not. 

P
age 125



 Assessment Toolkit 

  82 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

G8 The Local 
Authority has 
undertaken a 
comprehensive 
training needs 
analysis for the 
play workforce as 
defined in the 
toolkit glossary 
and above 

  The Early Years, Childcare and Play 
Workforce Plan (2015) provides a 
detailed analysis of existing 
qualification levels and the training 
needs within this workforce. The 
2017 CSA also “includes an 
assessment of existing childcare 
workforce qualifications and training 
needs across the childcare types, as a 
means of informing the local 
authority’s workforce development 
and training programme”.  
 

A needs assessment of the 
wider play workforce (e.g. 
school and social care staff) 
has not been undertaken. 
 

 

G9 The Local 
Authority takes 
action to expand 
the variety of 
learning and 
development 
opportunities that 
are offered to staff 

  Using funding from the AWPOG, 
conferences including Homelife and 
School Life have been facilitated in 
Merthyr Tydfil and provided a wider 
range of practitioners with access to 
play-based training and opportunities 
to explore ways in which they might 
help to improve conditions for 
children’s play. 
 

  

G10 There is a 
comprehensive 
range of CPD 
opportunities for a 
range of 
professionals who 
work with children 

  A range of professionals have 
attended playwork and play-based 
training opportunities, including 
youth workers and school staff.  

The provision of play-based 
training opportunities for the 
wider play workforce lacks 
strategic direction with no 
clear objectives in terms of 
what types of training people 
need, who this should be 
targeted at and how it will be 
delivered on a consistent 
basis. 

 

P
age 126



 Assessment Toolkit 

  83 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

G11 Training 
awareness 
sessions are 
available for 
professionals and 
decision makers 
whose work 
impacts on 
children‟s 
opportunities to 
play 

  The professional development 
program facilitated by Stuart Lester 
and Wendy Russell from the 
University of Gloucestershire had 
good engagement from play steering 
group members and led to 
conversations around innovative 
approaches to supporting play.  

 

Generating and developing 
collective knowledge, 
understanding and 
experience in respect of the 
play sufficiency duty needs to 
be seen as an ongoing 
process. This is particularly 
important where  there are 
personnel changes. 
Furthermore the Local 
Authority would be better 
positioned to respond to this 
statutory duty if its strategic 
decision makers, including 
elected members, had a 
more in-depth understanding 
of the duty and breadth of 
the work involved. 

Recommendation 19: 
Develop and deliver a 
workshop for strategic 
decision makers 
aimed at improving 
their awareness and 
understanding of the 
Play Sufficiency Duty 
based on the findings 
from this assessment.  

 

 
Securing and developing the play workforce 
 
How has the Local Authority met the requirement to undertake or secure the managerial and delivery functions necessary to 
achieve sufficient play opportunities? 
 

The recruitment of a part time play officer has ensure there is a strategic lead within the Local Authority with dedicated time to support the 
implementation of the Play Sufficiency Duty. This post is essential to facilitating partnerships, maintaining an approach in line with the principle 
statement, raising the profile of the Play Sufficiency Duty and ensuring consideration is given to children’s right to play across the authority. However at 
15 hours per week this post is not currently sufficient to address the full scale or complexity of the work involved.  
 
How has the Local Authority ensured it understands and provides for the workforce development needs of the play workforce (as 
defined in Wales: A Play Friendly Country and above)? 
 

P
age 127



 Assessment Toolkit 

  84 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

As identified above, the Local Authority, using funding from the AWPOG, has provided a range of innovative professional development opportunities to 
improve practitioner’s awareness of the importance of children’s play and ways in which they can support it. However a more strategic approach to the 
provision of play-based training is required to ensure that all sectors that could be considered to be part of the wider play workforce have access to 
training that addresses a range of concerns associated with children playing. As a minimum this should cover the play sufficiency duty and children’s 
right to play, the nature and function of play, basic playwork theories and adopting a risk-benefit approach to children’s play. 
 
How has the Local Authority ensured it understands and provides the playwork workforce (as defined in Wales: A Play Friendly 
Country and above)? 
 

The LA produced a 10 year workforce development plan for the early years, childcare and play workforce in July 2015, with the aim of putting in place a 

local level framework to deliver the recommendations from the Welsh Government’s own workforce development plan for these sectors.  
 
The workforce plan identifies a range of objectives across the three themes of leadership, attracting high quality new entrants, and raising skills and 
standards across the existing workforce. This includes a distinct objective to “find a place for play that supports delivery of quality play provision and 
enabled sustainable workforce development”. 
 
The workforce plan makes reference to recommendations from both its 2013 and 2016 play sufficiency assessments and the childcare sufficiency 
assessment. In doing so it recognizes the need to “up skill the existing children and young people workforce in playwork qualifications” and the need for 
“a structured approach to workforce development to ensure the delivery of quality provision”.  
 
The LA’s plan is accompanied by a detailed and specific five-year action plan that includes a number of distinct actions associated with improving 
children’s opportunities for play (which are also aligned with the findings of this assessment), this includes: 

 “Recruit a Play Development Officer and use this role to lead and define the provision of play across the County Borough and to lead workforce 

development.” 

 “Consider integrating the provision of play as part of youth services and in so doing make the most of the play skills and qualifications within the 

youth services team.  Thereby enabling for play to be used as pathway to meaningful engagement to children and young people, and for youth 

services to begin to work with children at a younger age providing support at key phases such as primary to senior school transition.” 

 “Encourage and enable existing practitioners across all settings to undertake the CACHE Award in Transition to Playwork from Early Years. Work 

with providers to ensure sufficient access to training is available.”  

 
 
Have there been challenges?        

P
age 128



 Assessment Toolkit 

  85 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

 

The Early Years, Childcare and Play Workforce Development Plan identifies a significant gap in relation to playwork and play-based training but suggests 
this is at least partly due to a limited amount of ‘defined play provision’: “there is limited Playwork training because the demand is not felt to be there 
and as a result it is more difficult to access which results in a barrier to participation“.  
 
In line with the Welsh Government’s own Early years, Childcare and Play Workforce Development Plan, the overarching vision of the Local Authority’s 
plan places an emphasis on practitioners supporting children’s learning and development and the provision of structured activities. As a consequence 
less importance is placed on play, its holistic benefits in terms of well-being and the role of practitioners in cultivating favourable conditions for play 
within their settings. Furthermore, and again in line with the Welsh Government’s own plan, the term ‘play workforce’ is used to refer to the playwork 
profession. Such an approach suggests that ‘play’ is a distinct workforce, career path or service, when in reality all elements of the children’s workforce 
should work, to a greater or lesser extent, in support of children’s play. 
 
How can these be overcome? 
 

When addressing workforce development issues, the Local Authority should adopt the definitions of the playwork workforce and wider play workforce 
included in the Welsh Government’s statutory guidance for the Play Sufficiency Duty. 
 

Comments 

 

Evidence generated through the case study research for this assessment suggests that, although the youth service may not be primarily concerned with 
supporting children’s play, enabling youth workers to access playwork qualifications has resulted in the delivery of provision that is identified by 
children as being supportive of their play. This illustrates the value of people working in the wider children’s workforce having access to professional 
development opportunities that can improve their understanding of children’s play and ways in which they may provide for and respond to it. 
 

 

P
age 129



 Assessment Toolkit 

  86 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

 

Matter H: Community engagement and participation. 
 
The Local Authority should consult widely with children, their families and other stakeholders on their views on play provision.  It should also 
promote wide community engagement in providing play friendly communities. 
 
RAG Status 

Criteria fully met.  

Criteria partially met.  

Criteria not met.  
 

 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support strengths Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

H1 The Local 
Authority promotes 
initiatives to 
engage relevant 
groups in 
enhancing play 
opportunities for 
children in its area. 

  The Playfest and Playday events have 
been very successful in terms of 
engaging large numbers of families, 
encouraging the use of public open 
spaces and creating opportunities to 
promote children’s right to play. The 
partnership approach taken to these 
events is also likely to contribute to 
people’s collective understanding of 
play. 

 

 See 
Recommendations 1 
and 2. 
 
Recommendation 20: 
Develop an 
‘advocating for play’ 
training resource that 
can support 
community 
champions / 
development 
workers in promoting 
consistent messages 
regarding children’s 
right to play, 
increasing parental 
confidence in 
allowing children out 

H2 The Local 
Authority promotes 
community 
engagement in: 
- making space 

available and 
suitable for play 

  Partnership approaches like that being 
taken in the Community Zone have 
the potential to engage community 
stakeholders in conversations around 
play and issues that affect children’s 
ability to move around their 

More ongoing engagement 
with children and parents in 
their local communities is 
required to help improve 
perceptions of safety and 
permission for play and 
involve community 

P
age 130



 Assessment Toolkit 

  87 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support strengths Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

- organising play 
events 

- positive attitudes 
towards children 
and play 

- training on the 
importance of 
play. 

 

communities independently.  

 

stakeholders in the 
development of play 
provision.  

 

to play and engaging 
community 
stakeholders in the 
development and 
delivery of play 
provision. 
 

 

 
Community engagement and participation. 
 
How has the Local Authority effectively used existing mechanisms for children’s participation and family consultation 
processes with regards to play? 
 

Local Authority initiatives like the Playfest and Playday events, work in the Community Zone and student conferences have all been used as 
opportunities to consult with children about their opportunities for play. 
 
Have there been challenges?        
 

The reduction and subsequent lack of community development type workers who are consistently present in local communities limits opportunities to 
build trusted relationships with community stakeholders and support their ongoing participation is issues that affect children’s opportunities for play.  
 
How can these be overcome? 
 

See Recommendation 2. 
 
Playwork should be recognising as a type of community development work focussed on improving conditions for play rather than just a form of play 
provision. The functions of playwork could include building and maintaining relationships with children and parents, facilitating inter-generational 
interactions, raising the profile of play within local communities, evidencing children’s actual experiences of play, enabling children’s involvement in 

P
age 131



 Assessment Toolkit 

  88 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

issues that affect their play and helping to maintain and develop public open spaces.  
 
Comments 
 

People’s perception of crime can have a significant impact on parental permission for play even if actual crime levels are not particularly high. In 
reality perceptions of community safety and cohesion matter as much, or may be even more, than the availability or quality of facilities (although 
access to quality play provision is likely to affect people’s perceptions of their communities).  
 
Improving and maintaining perceptions of community safety might best be achieved using a community development approach, encouraging informal 
interactions, enabling people to become more familiar and reducing fears associated with those that are unknown. Engaging community stakeholders 
in this way can also help to improve people’s awareness of any provision that is available, thus improving their perceptions of public services. People 
may know each other less well, and therefore have weaker social attachments, in places where the population is more transient and people living in 
these communities may therefore have the greatest need for ongoing support, enabling them to get along together.  
 
Younger children and adults are often fearful of groups of teenagers. Sometimes this may be justified due to the actions of particular individuals and 
targeted work should be carried out to improve the way in which these people interact with others in their community. However there are also 
generalized fears associated with the presence of teenagers (often fuelled by the negative portrayal of teenagers by the media), which may be 
unjustified but still have a significant impact on younger and older children’s opportunities for play.  
 
Teenagers also want safe places to meet up and play with friends and there is good engagement with youth services in many areas of the county. 
However more engagement with children outside of school is needed, particularly in areas where there are tensions between adult and teenage 
residents. Evidence from the case studies would suggest that where this engagement begins early in children’s lives and is consistent throughout their 
childhoods, there are improved relations between adults and children in their teenage years. Trusted and playful adults working in local communities 
can improve conditions for playing both now and in the future, with associated benefits for community well being. 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

P
age 132



 Assessment Toolkit 

  89 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

 

Matter I: Play within all relevant policy and implementation agendas 
 
The Local Authority should examine all its policy agendas for their potential impact on children‟s opportunities to play and embed targets 
and action to enhance children‟s play opportunities within all such policies and strategies.  
 
RAG Status 

Criteria fully met.  

Criteria partially met.  

Criteria not met.  
 

 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support strengths Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

I1 There is a named 
person on the Local 
Public Service 
Board who 
champions 
children‟s play and 
ensures that the 
Play Sufficiency 
Assessment and 
Action Plan 
contribute to and 
are incorporated 
within the Well-
being Plan 

   There is no named person on 
the Local Public Service 
Board who champions 
children’s play and ensures 
that the Play Sufficiency 
Assessment and Action Plan 
contribute to and are 
incorporated within the Well-
being Plan. 
 

See recommendations 
under the section on 
‘The Play Sufficiency 
Assessment and local 
Well-being Plans’. 

I2 The Well-Being Plan 
recognises the 
importance of play 
and contributes to 
the provision of rich 
play opportunities 

NEW  See comments under the section on 
‘The Play Sufficiency Assessment and 
local Well-being Plans’. 

 

 

P
age 133



 Assessment Toolkit 

  90 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

 

Education and schools 
 
 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support strengths Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

I3 Schools ensure that 
children are 
provided with a rich 
play environment for 
breaks during the 
school day 

  It is also likely that schools adopting 
a ‘rights respecting’ approach will 
pay more attention to potential 
impacts on children’s right to play. 
The children involved in the research 
to inform this assessment who 
attended a ‘rights respecting’ school 
were positive about their 
opportunities for play in school. 

There were no examples 
identified for this assessment 
of schools providing a rich 
play environment as 
described in the Welsh 
Government’s statutory 
guidance. 

Recommendation 21: 
Continue to promote 
Unicef’s Rights 
Respecting School 
Award, with a 
particular emphasis 
on children’s right to 
play and General 
Comment 17 from 
the UNCRC. 

Recommendation 22: 
Facilitate further 
research to explore 
the impact of 
homework at 
secondary school on 
children’s time and 
space for play outside 
of school. 

Recommendation 23: 
Facilitate further 
research to establish 
whether children 
going to a school 

I4 Schools provide 
play opportunities 
during out of 
teaching hours 

   As identified from the 
research with teenagers, 
levels of homework and 
travelling to schools outside 
of their immediate 
neighbourhoods influence 
children’s time for play and 
the ease by which they can 
meet up with friends outside 
of school. 
 
Similarly play steering group 
members raised concerns 
about Welsh speaking 
children going outside of the 
county to attend school and 
the impact this may have on 

P
age 134



 Assessment Toolkit 

  91 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support strengths Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

their ability to meet up with 
friends outside of school.  
 

outside of their local 
community has a 
detrimental impact 
on their ability to 
meet up with friends 
and play outside of 
school. 

 

 

 

 

I5 Schools provide 
access to school 
grounds for playing 
out of school times 

  Members of the play steering group 
recognized the value of having 
spaces for play next to schools so 
that children could have short 
periods of play immediately before 
of after school. There are isolated 
incidents regarding the use of school 
premises however this is not 
systematic across the area. The use 
is also based upon securing 
additional funding for the premises.  
 

Members of the play steering 
group also raised concerns 
about the lack of access to 
school grounds outside of 
school hours. 

I6 Schools encourage 
children to walk and 
cycle to school 

  Walking and cycling to school is a 
cross curricular theme that is 
promoted in schools and is re-
affirmed through the Schools Eco 
awards scheme. 
 

 

I7 The Local Authority 
offers guidance to 
ensure schools 
understand and 
ensure that regular 
outdoor play is not 
curtailed 

  Wellbeing Handbook provides 
guidance to schools in developing 
wellbeing policy and practice. The 
handbook promotes children’s right 
to play and the benefits of play 
associated with emotional 
wellbeing, learning, reducing stress 
and tension in the school day, 
improving children’s concentration, 

Safeguarding and improving 
children’s time and space for 
play in schools requires a 
shift in culture in the way 
people think about play, 
education and risk 
management. As is the case 
in other areas of Wales, 
schools are likely to require 

P
age 135



 Assessment Toolkit 

  92 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support strengths Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

communication and reducing 
aggression. It goes on to recognise: 
“The reduction in the child/young 
person’s available time and space to 
play outside school means the 
importance of school playtimes has 
increased considerably. As such it is 
important that teaching and non-
teaching staff have an 
understanding of play-work 
philosophy and practice. 
Furthermore, it is paramount 
importance that spaces for play 
should be safeguarded.“ 
 
The Schoolife conferences funded 
through the AWPOG support school 
staff to develop their understanding 
of play and identify ways in which 
they could improve children’s time 
and space for play in schools. 
 
Right to Play workshops have also 
been facilitated in 10 schools, with 
additional funding being identified 
for a further 10. 
 
A pilot ‘Pop Up Play’ programme 
was delivered to 22 out of 23 
primary schools. A resource bag of 

intensive support to enable 
them to change the way in 
which they support play and 
remove barriers to playing. 
 

P
age 136



 Assessment Toolkit 

  93 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support strengths Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

sports and play equipment was 
given to each school for children to 
use on the yard at lunchtime, 
supporting physical activities.   

 

Town and Country Planning 
 

 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support strengths Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

I8 The Local 
Development Plan 
recognises and 
addresses the 
outdoor play needs 
of children of 
various age groups 
and abilities  

  The LDP includes a range of policies 
aimed at protecting and enhancing 
the provision of outdoor play space 
and makes reference to the Welsh 
Government’s definition of play: 
“For the purposes of the LDP, ‘play’ is 
taken to mean those activities defined 
in the Welsh Assembly Government’s 
National Play Policy (2002) which 
recognises the need for varied play 
facilities to meet community needs.” 

 

In terms of children’s play, 
the current LDP is primarily 
concerned with designated 
play provision and pays little 
attention to children’s use of 
the public realm outside of 
these formally recognised 
spaces. The LDP was also 
adopted in 2011 prior to the 
commencement of the Play 
Sufficiency Duty and 
therefore makes no 
reference to it. However the 
current LDP is due to end in 
2021 with the replacement 
plan currently under 
development. This presents a 
rare opportunity to better 
align planning policy with 

Recommendation 24: 
Ensure the 
forthcoming LDP 
makes reference to 
the Play Sufficiency 
Duty and is informed 
by the findings from 
the LA’s play 
sufficiency 
assessments and 
General Comment 17 
by the UNCRC, with 
the aim of developing 
policies that help to 
protect and improve 
assets that support 
play beyond 
designated play areas.  

 

P
age 137



 Assessment Toolkit 

  94 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support strengths Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

children’s actual experiences 
of playing, looking beyond 
the public open space 
assessment to consider other 
places where children play 
and how they move around 
their local communities. 

 

Traffic and Transport 
 
 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support strengths Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

I9 The local Transport 
Plan recognises the 
importance of local 
streets, roads and 
walking and cycling 
route in offering play 
opportunities for 
children of different 
ages and abilities  

  Although there is no specific mention of 
play within the local Transport Plan the 
vision is for a modern, accessible, 
integrated and sustainable transport 
system for the SE Wales Valleys and 
beyond which increases opportunity, 
promotes prosperity for all and protects 
the environment; where walking, 
cycling, public transport and sustainable 
freight provide real travel alternatives. 
 
The LTP objectives build on the vision 
and are long-term (20+ years) objectives 
for transport in the SE Wales Valleys 
area. The objectives detailed in the 
document set the direction of the LTP 
and form the basis for activity in 
addressing the area’s transport issues. 

The local transport plan 
makes no reference to 
children’s play or the play 
sufficiency duty. This is a 
concern given that the 
amount and speed of traffic 
has a major affect on 
children’s opportunities for 
play and that children 
identify residential streets as 
places that they regularly use 
for playing. 
 

 

P
age 138



 Assessment Toolkit 

  95 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support strengths Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 
The LTP objectives refer to ‘all’ users 
of the transport system, including 
vulnerable road users e.g. those with 
disabilities, young people, older people, 
cyclists, the equestrian community etc. 
 

I10 The local Transport 
Plan identifies ways 
of assessing and 
addressing the 
needs of all groups 
including those 
which are often 
marginalised.  

  As above, see Local Transport Plan 
documents for full details. 
 

The Local Transport Plan 
does not include any specific 
information about how the 
play needs of children should 
be taken into account. 

 

Early Years Plans 
 
 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support strengths Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

I11 Early Years and 
Flying Start plans 
and services 
recognise the 
importance of play 
and contribute to the 
provision of rich play 
opportunities for 
younger children  

  The principle statement in Merthyr 
Tydfil’s 2017 Childcare Sufficiency 
Assessment recognises that 
“Childcare that provides a safe, 
enriching and nurturing environment 
allows children the opportunity to 
flourish through play”. The CSA goes 
on to recognise that “recruiting and 
retaining a highly skilled and 
qualified workforce is vital to 

As previously identified there 
is currently no system in 
place for assessing the 
quality of childcare provision 
in respect of children’s 
opportunities for play. 
Furthermore the focus of the 
Local Authority’s Early Years, 
Childcare and Play 
Workforce Development 

 

P
age 139



 Assessment Toolkit 

  96 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support strengths Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

ensuring that children receive the 
best experiences and that parents/ 
carers are reassured that their 
children are being well cared for”. 
 

Plan appears to be on 
“practitioners supporting 
children’s learning and 
development and the 
provision of structured 
activities” rather than the 
provision of rich play 
environments.   

 

Family policy and initiatives 
 
 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support strengths Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

I12 Family support 
initiatives provide up 
to date information 
and support for 
parents to enable 
them to support 
their children to play 

  Family Information Service website 
provides online information 
regarding (staffed) play 
opportunities in Merthyr Tydfil. A 
conference for professionals 
involved with families has been held 
to promote and support parents to 
recognise and encourage play in the 
home, this has  been supported by a 
play marketing campaign targeting 
parents 30 days of play  

  

I13 The local 
implementation of 
the Families First 
programme 

NEW  Currently the Families First 
Programme funds Early Language 
Development and Play Therapy 
Projects. These both use structured 

 

P
age 140



 Assessment Toolkit 

  97 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support strengths Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

recognises the 
importance of play 
and contributes to 
the provision of rich 
play opportunities  

play opportunities for families to 
develop key emotional, literacy and 
relationship skills 
 
The main key working service uses 
simple play techniques to engage 
families which is featured in their 
specification. 
 
The programme supports varies ad 
hoc play activities throughout the 
year through additional funding. 
 
Further opportunities could exist to 
build positive play experiences in the 
home through the programme 

I14 Plans to reduce the 
impact of Adverse 
Childhood 
Experiences 
recognises the 
importance of play 
and contributes to 
the provision of rich 
play opportunities 

NEW  Whilst no formal ‘written’ plan is in 
place to connect play with the ACE 
agenda specifically, through the 
funding of Play Therapy the 
programme does support families to 
be resilient against ACE’s like the 
impact of domestic violence, 
incarceration and mental health. 
Play has also been embedded into 
the TAF approach as a key message 
and a range of professionals  trained 
to support parents to play with their 
children. The evidence of mitigation 
is being further explored, with a new 

 

P
age 141



 Assessment Toolkit 

  98 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support strengths Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

distance travelled, assessment tool 
and outcomes framework that 
includes ACE’s 

 

 

Inter-generational policy and initiatives 
 
 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support strengths Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

I15 There are a range of 
play based 
approaches to inter-
generational activity 

  Initiatives like the Playfest and 
Playday events engage a wide 
range of ages and encourage 
interaction between community 
stakeholders. 
 

  

I16 There is a creative 
approach to inter-
generational activity 
which encourages 
better interaction 
between children of 
different ages 

  The approach currently being 
taken in the Community Zone is 
likely to engage a wide range of 
ages. Furthermore it was clear 
through the research conducted 
to inform this assessment that the 
older generation have 
perceptions and ideas to share 
about children‟s opportunities for 
play, which suggests that talking 
about play could be used as a 
way of engaging a wide range of 
community stakeholders. 

 

 

P
age 142



 Assessment Toolkit 

  99 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

Health and Safety 
 
 

LA 
Ref 
No 

Criteria RAG 
Status 
2016 

RAG 
Status 
2019 

Evidence to support strengths Shortfalls Identified actions 
for Action Plan 

 

I17 The Health and 
Safety policies 
explicitly recognise 
the value of children 
being able to 
experience risk and 
challenge 

  Policies are in place across the 
authority including those which will 
enable children to experience 
outdoor and hazardous activities 
which enables children and young 
people to experience risk and 
challenge. 

  

I18 The Health and 
Safety policies and 
procedures 
incorporate the risk-
benefit approach to 
health and safety 
assessments as 
recommended by 
the Health and 
Safety Executive 
(HSE)   

  Risk assessments are completed for 
activities throughout the council and 
for organised activities.  

It is unclear from the 
evidence obtained how this 
is implemented against a 
risk- benefit approach.  

I19 The Local Authority 
offers the provision 
of insurance through 
the Local Authority 
scheme to all third 
sector play 
providers and 
community councils  

  Like many local authorities across 
Wales, the Council may need to 
explore and develop a Community 
Asset Transfer process to retain 
certain amenities in some 
communities.  There is an 
opportunity to consider a badged 
insurance scheme to support local 
communities to have more 
confidence to become involved. 
 

 

 

P
age 143



 Assessment Toolkit 

  100 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

 
Play within relevant policy and implementation agendas 
 
Please use this section to highlight successes of collaboration across policy areas to improve play opportunities. 
 

Largely as a consequence of their ongoing involvement in the play steering group and associated initiatives like the play sufficiency assessment and 
the professional development workshops facilitated by the University of Gloucestershire, there is evidence of a developing alignment and a shared 
understanding between policy leads responsible for a range of agendas including play development, community well-being, public open space 
provision, early years and childcare, family information, sports and leisure, education support and work with minority groups (in particular the Gypsy 
Traveller community). There are also some good examples of policy documents aimed at improving children’s opportunities for play for example the 
Wellbeing Toolkit for schools and the Open Space Strategy. 
 
Have there been challenges?        
 

In general there is a lack of specific references to the Play Sufficiency Duty itself and work associated with the duty within the Local Authority’s high-
level strategic documents. As a consequence these strategic and influential documents do little to safeguard or improve children’s time and space for 
play. This is a concern given that there are a wide range of decisions made by adults that directly and indirectly impact on children’s opportunities for 
play. Greater attention needs to be paid to the consequences of adult assumptions and decisions on children’s ability to access time and space for 
play and the Local Authority’s play sufficiency assessments should have a much greater influence on the development of other council strategies than 
is currently the case. This should include considering children’s time and space for play when carrying out impact assessment processes and 
facilitating further research to establish the effect of existing practices.  
 

How can these be overcome? 

Recommendation 25: Ensure consideration of the Play Sufficiency Duty and children’s right to play is incorporated into LA impact assessment 
processes, with specific attention being paid to General Comment 17 from the United Nations Committee on the Rights of the Child. 

Recommendation 26: Invite the (yet to be identified) Public Service Board play champion and the LA’s Children’s Champion to sit on the play 
steering group. 

 
 

P
age 144



 Assessment Toolkit 

  101 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

 

Conclusion  
 
This section should identify the key priorities for the Local Authorities in accordance with the regulations and described in the Statutory 
Guidance. 

 

A strategic approach to the play sufficiency duty 

In Merthyr Tydfil, the assessing and securing elements of the Play sufficiency Duty appear to have been treated in isolation of one another, with the 
play sufficiency assessment seen as a stand-alone piece of work, completed once every three years. The effect is that evidence of play sufficiency is 
generated only over a short period of time, resulting in high and low points of engagement and interest. The involvement of research participants is also 
dependant on their availability during this relatively short period or, in the case of children, the willingness and capacity of schools to support their 
participation. 

A more strategic approach to the implementation of the play sufficiency legislation is required that considers the assessment aspect of the duty as an 
ongoing process, where the Local Authority seeks to continuously improve it’s understanding of children’s play experiences across the county borough. 
This could include carrying out localised research projects each year to both inform evidence based, targeted interventions and generate the data 
necessary for completion of the triennial assessment required by Welsh Government. This would also increase engagement opportunities, enabling the 
involvement of a more representative research population. These types of research projects have previously been accepted as a legitimate use of the All 
Wales Play Opportunity Grant often provided by Welsh Government at the end of the financial year. 

In general, and as described by the principle statement at the start of this assessment, a more holistic understanding of the Play Sufficiency Duty needs 
to be promoted across the Local Authority, which focuses on developing and safeguarding the conditions that make playing possible and recognises the 
scope of the work involved in assessing and securing play sufficiency.  

The value of research with children 
 

Based on the research carried out to inform this assessment, there appears to still be a culture of “playing out” in Merthyr Tydfil, which may help to 
explain the high percentage of children rating their satisfaction with their opportunities for play as good or great. Children are finding time and space 
for play which adults may not have been aware of or may have overlooked. This may also help to explain why children tend to be more positive about 
their opportunities for play than adults might expect. Children being able to play out is a positive aspect of life in Merthyr Tydfil that the Local Authority 
should aim to maintain and further develop. Further enhancing children’s opportunities for play would help to address many other agendas the Local 

P
age 145



 Assessment Toolkit 

  102 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

Authority and its partners are concerned with, for example, perceptions of community safety, intergenerational interactions, physical activity levels and 
people’s mental health.  
 
This assessment highlights the importance of doing research with children to establish the realities of their everyday lives and that where given the 
opportunity children can provide unique insights into how their local communities work. In general much greater attention needs to be paid to the 
views of children and evidence generated from research with children will improve the Local Authority’s understanding of play sufficiency, increase 
confidence in any interventions made and help justify the Local Authority’s position and approach. 
 

Factors affecting the sufficiency of children’s opportunities for play 
 

Factors influencing the sufficiency of children’s opportunities for play include but are not limited to: the ease by which children can meet up with 
friends and move around their local neighbourhoods, the confidence of parents and carers in allowing them to do so, people’s sense of community and 
perceptions of safety, the proximity and range of places where children can play, the quality and appearance of the environments children play in, the 
availability of play provision, the time children have for playing both in and out of school, the amount and speed of traffic on residential roads and the 
attitudes of adults children come into contact with.  
 
Part of the reason Merthyr Tydfil may have maintained a culture of playing out could be due to the close knit nature of local communities. This 
emphasises the importance of maintaining and further developing social networks and people’s sense of community attachment, thus helping to 
increase people’s sense of security when out and about in their local neighbourhoods and parent’s willingness to grant their children permission to play 
out. 
 
Evidence generated through this assessment also suggests that the range of places where children can meet up and play in close proximity to their 
homes will have a significant influence on their reported levels of satisfaction. It may be better to have a number of simply designed and maintained 
spaces for play close to where children live than an impressive destination space for play so far away that they can only access it with their parents. 
More attention should also be paid to the function of residential streets as places for play, which would in turn help to secure more places for play in 
close proximity to homes. 
 

Developments and difficulties 
 

Austerity remains a major challenge with regards to the Local Authority’s ability to respond to the findings of this assessment with budget cuts directly 
and indirectly impacting on the sufficiency of children’s opportunities for play. Despite this there is evidence of Local Authority budgets being used to 
support play where possible and some positive initiatives have been possible using the additional funding made available by Welsh Government at the 

P
age 146



 Assessment Toolkit 

  103 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

end of the financial year. However there is insufficient funding to appropriately maintain and re-develop designated play areas in local communities or 
fund the longer-term community development work that may be necessary to improve perceptions of play within local communities.  
 
The development of the play steering group and the recruitment of a dedicated lead officer for the Play Sufficiency Duty are both very positive. 
Representation on the play steering group is good but could be further developed to include strategic decision makers and influential individuals from 
other sectors. As a consequence of people’s involvement in the play steering group, there is evidence of innovation in partnership working which is 
helping to make good use of scarce resources. Data from research associated with the Play Sufficiency Duty could be added to other existing data sets 
to create increasingly detailed community profiles that could then help to identify and prioritise these interventions. There is also a need for more 
research with children who have protected characteristics to better understand their play experiences and support requirements.  
 

There is a range of recreational provision available some of which supports the play sufficiency duty, however there is a distinct lack of playwork with a 
broader understanding of this profession needed which recognises the community development role of playworkers in cultivating and maintaining 
more favourable conditions for children’s play. If funding were available then playwork services should be prioritised in the more densely populated and 
economically deprived areas of the county borough.  
 

Priority areas for further development 
 
The previous play sufficiency assessment in 2016 identified the following three areas for development, which should continue to be a priority going 
forward: 
 

 Policy for Play – there have been improvements in the recognition of the value of play and the Play 
Sufficiency Duty within a range of Local Authority plans. However play, and in particular the Play Sufficiency Duty, continues to receive little 
attention in the Local Authority’s high level strategic documents. As a consequence a more rigorous approach is required to ensure impacts on 
play are considered in the planning of Local Authority services. The forthcoming Local Development Plan presents a rare opportunity to influence 
planning policy and, like other relevant strategies, should be informed by the Welsh Government’s statutory guidance for the Play Sufficiency 
Duty, General Comment 17 from the United Nations Committee on the Rights of the Child and the findings from the Local Authority’s own play 
sufficiency assessments.  

 

 Play Development – having a dedicated play sufficiency lead ensures a focus remains on the Play Sufficiency 
Duty amongst all the other priorities the Local Authority has to contend with. This post has also been essential to maintaining the momentum of 
the play steering group and facilitating partnership working at a strategic and operational level. However this post is currently only part time, 
which does not provide sufficient capacity to respond to all the recommendations of this assessment. 

 

P
age 147



 Assessment Toolkit 

  104 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

 Professional Development – there have been improvements in the provision of play and playwork training, 
which have been made available to a wider range of practitioners. However a more strategic approach is also required to ensure that a range of 
play based training opportunities are embedded into the Local Authority’s workforce development plans. When addressing workforce 
development issues, the Local Authority should also adopt the definitions of the playwork workforce and wider play workforce included in the 
Welsh Government’s statutory guidance for the Play Sufficiency Duty. 

 
In addition, two further areas for development have been identified through this latest assessment: 
 

 Research Development – the Local Authority should facilitate a rolling program of small-scale research projects, targeting particular groups of 
children and specific geographic areas to ensure that resources contribute to securing and improving children’s experiences of play sufficiency, as 
well as adding to the Local Authority’s broader understanding of the Play Sufficiency Duty.  

 

 Partnership Development – the Local Authority should expand the membership of the play steering group to include representation from 
strategic bodies such as Public Health Wales, as well as third sector organisations that work in local communities and have an interest in the 
strategic support of children’s play.  

P
age 148



 Assessment Toolkit 

  105 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

 

Way forward 
 
This section should briefly introduce the Action Plan which sets out what steps need to be taken to improve the opportunities  
for children to play within the Local Authority area, including what mechanism and criteria were used to agree and prioritise actions. It 
should also describe the actions the Local Authority will take with regards to change in infrastructure, partnership working or mechanisms 
to ensure that it is well placed to deliver on the duty to secure sufficient play opportunities 

 

Throughout the assessment process the intention has been to contextualise any recommendations made so that they are both relevant and realistic to 
Merthyr Tydfil given the current and projected financial climate. The recommendations made within the assessment have then been re-organised under 
the priority areas for development identified and described in the conclusion above. These recommendations have then also been priorised in order of 
urgency and when they can realistically be addressed given the current capacity of staff and resources available. Those actions that are realistically 
achievable in the next 12 months have been included in the 2019/2020 action plan. The other recommendations could then be address in future action 
plans. However, some recommendations may be able to be addressed sooner if further financial resources become available or through use of the All 
Wales Play Opportunity Grant (depending on whether this funding is made available again by Welsh Government). 

Merthyr Tydfil’s play steering group will oversee the implementation of the play sufficiency action plan, monitor the progress of associated actions and 
re-develop the action plan on a 12 monthly basis. 

Prioritised Recommendations: 

Research Development 

Year 1: Pilot a localised play sufficiency assessment on the Glyn Mill Gypsy Traveller site, to establish children’s current experiences of playing on the 
site, existing assets that support play and ways in which children’s opportunities for play could be improved. Discuss findings from this research with the 
play steering group prior to making any investments. 

Year 2: Facilitate further research to explore the impact of homework at secondary school on children’s time and space for play outside of school. 

Year 2: Facilitate further research to establish whether children going to a school outside of their local community has a detrimental impact on their 
ability to meet up with friends and play outside of school. 

Year 3: Revisit the satisfaction survey every three years to establish any change in reported levels of sufficiency and to identify areas for further 
research. To ensure high response rates, schools should be incentivised to participate. 

P
age 149



 Assessment Toolkit 

  106 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

Year 3: Active Travel maps should be combined with other existing datasets and evidence from play sufficiency research to create increasingly detailed 
community profiles on which to base decisions about resource allocation and interventions to support children’s play. 
 
Partnership Development 
 
Year 1: Identify a play champion within the Public Service Board and ensure this person has a comprehensive understanding of the Play Sufficiency Duty 
and findings from the LA’s play sufficiency assessments.  

Year 1: Invite the (yet to be identified) Public Service Board play champion and the LA’s Children’s Champion to sit on the play steering group. 

Year 1: Identify a representative involved in the Local Authority’s corporate communications and marketing activities to be part of the play steering 
group. 
 
Year 2: In addition to reviewing progress against the LA’s action plan, play steering group meetings should be used as an opportunity to discuss and plan 
partnership responses to the findings from localised play sufficiency assessments, other relevant research projects and instances where local areas for 
play are due to be decommissioned.  
 
Policy Development 
 
Year 1: Ensure the forthcoming LDP makes reference to the Play Sufficiency Duty and is informed by the findings from the LA’s play sufficiency 
assessments and General Comment 17 by the UNCRC, with the aim of developing policies that help to protect and improve assets that support play 
beyond designated play areas.  

Year 1: Ensure consideration of the Play Sufficiency Duty and children’s right to play is incorporated into LA impact assessment processes, with specific 
attention being paid to General Comment 17 from the United Nations Committee on the Rights of the Child. 

Year 1: Continue to promote Unicef’s Rights Respecting School Award, with a particular emphasis on children’s right to play and General Comment 17 
from the UNCRC. 

Play Development 
 
Year 1: Continue to promote the Playful Childhoods website to parents and carers and provide Playfest and Playday type events in local community 
spaces. 

P
age 150



 Assessment Toolkit 

  107 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

Year 1: Increase the capacity of the play sufficiency lead and/or community based organisations to facilitate the involvement of children and other 
community stakeholders in exploring alternative uses for space when local areas for play are due to be decommissioned.  

Year 1: Carry out a fact-finding exercise to identify example case studies of low cost and low maintenance spaces for play, more of which could be 
developed in close proximity to homes. Present findings from this work to members of the play steering group  

Year 2: Involve children and other residents in a pilot project to improve the appearance and affordances for play within a local residential street where 
they currently play.  
 
Year 2: Carry out a mapping exercise to establish organisations and individuals working in local communities who may be able to influence community 
perceptions around play and act as play champions and/or facilitators of play opportunities.  
 
Year 2: Develop an ‘advocating for play’ training resource that can support community champions / development workers in promoting consistent 
messages regarding children’s right to play, increasing parental confidence in allowing children out to play and engaging community stakeholders in the 
development and delivery of play provision. 
 
Year 3: Review existing funding streams to identify opportunities for funding the ongoing delivery of playwork provision in communities where children 
and parents report lower levels of satisfaction with opportunities for play. 
 
Year 3: Carry out a workforce evaluation to identifying all those already operating in a playwork role and people who could provide playwork as part of 
their existing roles. Then consider an augmentation of roles to create discreet responsibilities for playwork within existing contracted staff / partner 
organisations. 
 
Professional Development 
 
Year 1: Develop and deliver a workshop for strategic decision makers aimed at improving their awareness and understanding of the Play Sufficiency 
Duty based on the findings from this assessment.  
 
Year 2: Adopt a strategic approach to the provision of play and playwork based training, ensuring it is embedded into the annual training directory, and 
promote the availability of this training to a wide range of practitioners who work with children and therefore impact on their opportunities for play. 
 
Year 3: Develop a model that allows staffed provision to be considered along a continuum in terms of the degree to which it supports children’s access 
to free time and space for play. 

P
age 151



 Assessment Toolkit 

  108 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

 
Year 3: Develop or adopt a quality assessment tool enabling those working in staffed provision to evaluate and illustrate the extent to which they 
support children’s right to play. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Signed: ……………………………………………………………. 
 
Date: ………………………………………………………………. 
 

 

P
age 152



 Assessment Toolkit 

  109 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

 

Actions to be taken to address the issues / shortcomings recorded in the Play Sufficiency Assessment  

 
Proposed actions for the period of 1st April 2019 – 31st March 2020 
(Funding source: funding from Local Authority own budgets and to be included in the Single Integrated Plan). 
 

Matter Priorities Targets Links to other 
Matters 

Resources, 
including costs 

Funding source 
(new or existing 
funding streams) 

Statutory Guidance-
policy framework 

Partnership 
development 

Identify a play champion within 
the Public Service Board and 
ensure this person has a 
comprehensive understanding 
of the Play Sufficiency Duty and 
findings from the LA’s play 
sufficiency assessments.  

Invite the (yet to be identified) 
Public Service Board play 
champion and the Local 
Authority’s Children’s 
Champion to sit on the play 
steering group. 

All Matters Officer / elected 
member time 

Existing LA budgets 

Professional 
development 

Develop and deliver a 
workshop for strategic decision 
makers aimed at improving 
their awareness and 
understanding of the Play 
Sufficiency Duty based on the 
findings from this assessment. 
  

All Matters Officer / elected 
member time 

The Childcare and Play 
Grant funds the LA’s 
Play Officer 

P
age 153



 Assessment Toolkit 

  110 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

Matter A: Population  No further actions in 19/20.    

Matter B: Providing 
for diverse needs 

Research 
development 

Pilot a localised play sufficiency 
assessment on the Glyn Mill 
Gypsy Traveller site, to 
establish children’s current 
experiences of playing on the 
site, existing assets that 
support play and ways in which 
children’s opportunities for 
play could be improved. 
Discuss findings from this 
research with the play steering 
group prior to making any 
investments. 
 

C, D and H LA officer time or 
commissioned project 
costing approximately 
£5000. 

Existing LA budgets or 
funding from the All 
Wales Play Opportunity 
Grant if it is made 
available again. 

Matter C:  Space 
available for 
children to play 

 Carry out a fact-finding exercise 
to identify example case 
studies of low cost and low 
maintenance spaces for play, 
more of which could be 
developed in close proximity to 
homes. Present findings from 
this work to members of the 
play steering group.  
 

H and F LA officer time The Childcare and Play 
Grant funds the LA’s 
Play Officer 

Matter D: 
Supervised 
Provision 

 No further actions in 19/20     

Matter E: Charges 
for Play Provision  

 No further actions in 19/20    

P
age 154



 Assessment Toolkit 

  111 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

Matter F:  Access to 
space/provision 

Partnership 
development 

Identify a representative 
involved in the Local 
Authority’s corporate 
communications and marketing 
activities to be part of the play 
steering group. 

 LA officer time. Existing LA budgets 

Matter G:  Securing 
and developing the 
workforce 

 Increase the capacity of the 
play sufficiency lead and/or 
community based organisations 
to facilitate the involvement of 
children and other community 
stakeholders in exploring 
alternative uses for space when 
local areas for play are due to 
be decommissioned. 
 

C, E, F and H Funding to be secured 
to cover Associated 
costs 

To be identified 

Matter H:  
Community 
engagement and 
participation 

 

Play development Continue to promote the 
Playful Childhoods website to 
parents and carers and provide 
Playfest and Playday type 
events in local community 
spaces. 
 

E and F LA officer time and 
the time of partner 
organisations to be 
involved in events. 

The Childcare and Play 
Grant funds the LA’s 
Play Officer 

Matter I:  Play within 
all relevant policy 
and implementation 
agendas 

Policy 
development 

Ensure the forthcoming LDP 
makes reference to the Play 
Sufficiency Duty and is 
informed by the findings from 
the LA’s play sufficiency 
assessments and General 
Comment 17 by the UNCRC 
 

C, F and H LA officer time. Existing LA budgets 

P
age 155



 Assessment Toolkit 

  112 

Play Sufficiency Assessment Toolkit – Part 2 

Policy 
development 

Ensure consideration of the 
Play Sufficiency Duty and 
children’s right to play is 
incorporated into LA impact 
assessment processes 

All Matters LA officer time. Existing LA budgets 

Policy 
development 

Continue to promote Unicef’s 
Rights Respecting School Award 

 LA officer time. Existing LA education 
budget 

 

P
age 156



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

21
st

 Century Schools – Community Learning 
Centres 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 

 
1.1 The report briefly outlines the two capital development applications to the 21st 

Century Community Learning Centres Grant.  Both applications further develop our 
multi-agency community zone approach and have recently been approved by Welsh 
Government (WG) for funding.  Issues raised by WG have been considered and 
proposals put forward as to how to overcome these concerns which WG have 
accepted as both proportionate and appropriate.   

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
2.1 Acceptance of the grant award for the investment of £399, 937 for the extension on 

the Community Hub allowing estates to progress the project be approved. 
 
2.2 Acceptance of the grant award of £239,880 for the development of the Media centre 

on behalf of 3G’s development Trust be approved. 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 In late 2018  WG informed local authorities of the opportunity to apply for capital 

resources for Community Learning Centres, as follows:  
 

Date Written 9th May 2019 

Report Author Chris Hole  

Service Area Learning 

Committee Division Portfolio 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 22nd May 2019 

Page 157

Agenda Item 8



“I am pleased to inform you that, in support of the Welsh Government’s commitment 
to community use of learning facilities in Prosperity for All, the Cabinet Secretary for 
Education has made a further £15 million available to fast-track priority projects in 
2019-20.   
 
We therefore welcome your bids for capital funding to support set-up or 
enhancement costs for Community Learning Centre/Hub projects, which should be 
made by 4 January 2019.  I apologise for the tight deadline but we propose to keep 
the process as streamlined as possible”. 

 
3.2 Through the Community Zone pilot two expressions of interest were completed and 

agreed by the Board to go forward for submission.  These proposals  were: 
 

 Create a community run coffee shop through building an extension to the rear of 
the Community Hub facility, which is owned by Merthyr Valleys Homes.  This 
facility will support a range of engagement, training and learning opportunities to 
the community as well as provide an opportunity to develop a community space 
to increase social cohesion across generations and combat social isolation in the 
community.  This social reason for individuals to access the facility will combat 
the stigma being attached to walking through the front door, which can often be 
the reason why vulnerable or at risk community members do not engage when 
they need support services. 

 

 The media centre aims to provide access to arts, culture and media facilities and 
services which promote and support personal and community learning and 
development. Services will include training programmes – informal, non-
accredited and accredited and which are focused on enabling participants to gain 
the skills and qualifications necessary to be economically active, principally in the 
Creative Industries, and/or alternative employment via gaining transferable skills. 

 
3.3 These submissions were subsequently approved by WG on the 28th January 2019 

and progressed to a Full Business Case which was required to be submitted by the 
8th March 2019.    

 

4.0 Community Learning Centre Applications  
 
4.1 When assessing the Merthyr Tydfil applications WG contacted the authority mainly 

about the Media Centre application.  WG required some assurances regarding the 
management and future security of the investment because 21st Century funding has 
only ever been awarded to local authorities.  
 

4.2 In order to secure the investment the below proposals were shared with WG in 
response to their concerns.  These proposals require the support of the local 
authority without which it is doubtful that the funding would have been awarded. 
Should members choose not to support the proposals then the authority should 
consider not accepting the full Grant Award of £639,817 (£239,880 Media Centre  
and £399,937 Community Hub Extension).   
 
 
 

Page 158



Media Centre Community Hub extension 
The local authority would be required to 
receive the grant and disperse it to 3G’s 
Development Trust periodically during the 
refurbishment.  

LA  to establish with Merthyr Valley Homes 
(MVH) a contract ensuring the use of the 
facility for a minimum period of five years to 
protect the investment made – as per Flying 
Start practices 

As with Communities First, we would 
propose to assess the viability and stability of 
the organisation through scrutinising their 
last audited accounts before entering into 
any contractual arrangements. 

The actual development will be conducted by 
MTCBC with the full support and agreement 
of MVH. 

In resurrecting this approach the LA will 
undertake to ensure the resources are 
utilised for the purpose awarded and meet 
audit requirements 

 

The organisation to furnish the LA with a 
business plan of how it will deliver the facility 
over the next five years 

 

LA to establish with 3G’s Development Trust 
a contract (minimum five years) covering the 
development and delivery of the facility  

 

The Council would require a position on the 
Management Board  of the organisation ‘to 
maintain clear oversight as to the stability of 
the organisation 

 

The actual development of the facility will be 
managed and coordinated by 3G’s 
Development Trust 

 

 
4.3 In addition to the above it is proposed that a legal charge be placed against the 

facility and registered with the Land Registry Office.  This charge would be equal to 
the amount of investment made and assist in mitigating the risk of clawback in the 
future should the organisation sell the facility or close.  It is important to note that the 
building already has a legal charge through previous investment by the Council for 
approximately £50,000.  
 

4.4 To avoid establishing another group to oversee this development it is proposed that 
the Community Zone Implementation Group be utilised to maintain clear oversight of 
the development and delivery through regular written update reports from the 
organisation and financial reports from the LA.   

 

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
5.1 There are no direct financial implications associated with this report.  However in 

order to avoid any potential for clawback from WG contracts for the use of the 
facilities will be required for a minimum period of five years prior to any investment. 
 

5.2 The grant for the Community Hub extension includes management fees as required 
by the Estates Department in developing the costings for the project and to deliver 
the project.   
 

Page 159



5.3 The Media Centre development will require the LA to commit staff time mainly in 
order to manage the financial processes of reimbursing grant resources to the 3G’s 
periodically based upon actual expenditure evidenced.   

 

6.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
 Positive 

Impacts 
Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
4 of 4 0 of 4 0 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
0 of 10 0 of 10 10 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

0 of 1 0 of 1  1 of 1 

Summary: 
 
The main positive impacts are providing a space within the community that can be 
utilized to challenge isolation across age groups and enables people to access services 
without feeling a sense of stigma.  The developments will also the enable the community 
to access a range of skills development, volunteering and life skills development 
increasing their resilience and improving employability.  
 

 

 
 
 
 
SUE WALKER 
CHIEF OFFICER LEARNING 

LISA MYTTON 
CABINET MEMBER FOR LEARNING 

 
 
 

Page 160



 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Extension to Community 
Hub Facility  

 
Media centre - 3G’s 
Development Trust  

 
Welsh Government 

Approval  
 

 Learning Department 
 
 

Learning Department  
 
 

Learning Department 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

 

 
Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 

of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

Page 161



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 163

Agenda Item 9
By virtue of paragraph(s) 14, 16 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 167

By virtue of paragraph(s) 14, 16 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 169

By virtue of paragraph(s) 14, 16 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Draft Scrutiny Report – Pitch Fees And the Decreasing Rates Of Participation In Team Sports In Merthyr Tydfil
	4 Award of funding in relation to Targeted Regeneration Investment Programme for South East Wales (Cardiff City Region) Urban Centre Property Enhancement Fund and Urban Centre Living Grant
	5 Formal Approval Of A New Atlantic Area Transnational Project Entitled Trail Gazers
	6 Payment of Care Home Fees 2019-2020
	7 Play Sufficiency Assessment 2019
	Appendix C

	8 21st Century Schools - Community Learning Centres
	9 Proposed Sale of Land at Goatmill Road
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2


